
Balance Sheet Figures

and Corporate Data 

Figures in accordance with IFRSs

DEVELOPMENT OF EUROKAI CONTAINER HANDLING

TEUs

2023 2022

EUR thousand EUR thousand

REVENUE 219,089 247,605

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 52,170 113,537

TOTAL ASSETS 909,248 911,438

EQUITY AND RESERVES 595,477 579,621

EQUITY RATIO 65 % 64 %

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE ON INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PPE  
(EXCLUDING EFFECTS OF APPLYING IFRS 16) 10,467 19,204 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE 22,166 19,411

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 38,576 74,315

PERSONNEL EXPENSES 64,087 64,398

EMPLOYEES 848 821

EARNINGS PER SHARE IN EUR (UNDER IAS 33) 2.33 6.49

2,000,000

0

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

12,000,000

14,000,000

SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT EUROKAI   
PREFERENCE SHARE ISIN DE0005706535

EUREUROKAI
ANNUAL REPORT  

2023

Short Version 20
14

14
,8

39
,3

44

20
15

14
,5

49
,6

44

20
16

14
,6

10
,6

09

20
17

14
,4

13
,1

82

20
18

14
,0

92
,7

70

20
19

11
,6

51
,9

81

20
20

10
,8

72
,7

34

20
21

12
,2

96
,2

08

30

29

28

27

26

25

1.5.2023 1.7.2023 1.9.2023 1.11.2023 1.1.2024 1.3.2024

11
,8

44
,3

84
20

22

11
,2

37
,7

50
20

23



CCoonntteennttss  

Balance Sheet Figures and Corporate Data 
 
 

Extract from the Organisational Chart  
 

Foreword by the Management Board  4 

Combined Management Report  10 

Report of the Supervisory Board  41 

Corporate Governance Statement  51 

Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with IFRSs  63 

Consolidated Income Statement  64 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  65 

Consolidated Balance Sheet  68 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement  70 

Segment Reporting  70 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  75 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Non-current Assets  81 

Other Disclosures  83 

Responsibility Statement (Group)  87 

Contact   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

4 ANNUAL REPORT 2023   

Dear shareholders, 
 
 

My beloved wife Cecilia passed away on March 6 of this year at the age 

of 73. I am deeply saddened by this loss. In the more than 27 years of 

our marriage, we jointly went through many developments and made 

countless decisions together that have led to what EUROKAI is and 

represents today. Her tireless commitment and assertiveness were al-

ways an important factor in the success of our joint efforts. Cecilia was 

a strong personality. She stood her ground in an industry dominated 

by men. She was the first woman to head a container shipping com-

pany, CONTSHIP Containerlines in England, and later used her experi-

ence and exceptional commitment to expand the CONTSHIP Italia 

Group and lead it successfully to the end. I miss her very much and am 

very grateful for the many years we spent together. 

Thomas H. Eckelmann 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello (1950-2024)
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CONTSHIP GERMANY at EUROKAI Container Terminal in Hamburg in 1992
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Dear shareholders, 

 

 

The EUROKAI Group closed the 2023 financial year in a very dynamic 

market environment with results that demonstrate our resilience and 

adaptability to complex market developments. Although we faced an 

economically induced decline in container handling, we focused on 

our strategic strengths and made important decisions for the future.

The net profit for the year in EUROKAI's individual financial statements 

is EUR 54.1 million (previous year: EUR 20.5 million), while the net profit 

for the EUROKAI Group is EUR 52.2 million (previous year: EUR 113.5 

million). The consolidated net profit for the year is therefore signifi-

cantly below the previous year, but overall, in line with the original 

forecast for 2023. Accordingly, earnings per share in accordance with 

IAS 33 fell significantly to EUR 2.33 (previous year EUR 6.49) also fell 

significantly.

The market price of the EUROKAI preference share fell slightly over the 

course of the 2023 calendar year. While the share price was still at EUR 

29.00 at the end of 2022, it stood at EUR 25.20 at the end of 2023. The 

preference share is currently trading at EUR 28.00 (as at March 6, 2024) 

due to an interim increase in the share price. 

On the basis of the significant improvement in earnings in the individ-

ual financial statements and the continued solid liquidity situation at 

EUROKAI, we are proposing an increased dividend compared to the 

previous year of EUR 1.30 plus a bonus of EUR 0.50 - a total of EUR 1.80 

- per ordinary and preference share (previous year: EUR 1.30). 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MULTI-CRISIS SITUATION SLOWS DOWN THE GLOBAL ECON-

OMY 

 

The entire 2023 financial year was once again characterised by a chal-

lenging global political and economic situation. New conflicts such as 

the Hamas attack on Israel, the subsequent Israeli military operation 

in the Gaza Strip and the threat to containerships in the Red Sea posed 

by attacks by the Houthi militia impacted container shipping in addi-

tion to Russia's ongoing war of aggression against Ukraine and China's 

weakening economy because of a property crisis. For Europe, which is 

already struggling with the consequences of the global crises, such as 

increased energy prices, a significant slump in export orders in sectors 

such as mechanical engineering and the automotive industry, or a no-

ticeable slowdown in the domestic economy due to inflation, the latest 

geopolitical developments have been and continue to be a further 

damper on the economic recovery process. As a result, the major ter-

minal locations in the North Range of Europe are experiencing signifi-

cant declines in throughput. Antwerp-Bruges reported a 7.5 % drop in 

throughput of standard containers (TEU) for 2023, Rotterdam handled 

7.0 % fewer TEU, Hamburg as a whole recorded a 6.9 % decline in 

throughput and Bremerhaven lost 8.6 % in throughput compared to the 

previous year. 

The container terminals in the EUROKAI Group were also unable to es-

cape these developments, with a few pleasing exceptions. At the ter-

minals of our CONTSHIP Italia Group in Italy, the number of containers 

handled fell by a total of 6.9% compared with the previous year to 1.55 

million TEUs (previous year: 1.66 million TEUs). The EUROGATE termi-

nals in Germany handled a total of 6.53 million TEUs, 10.5% fewer 

standard containers than in the previous year (7.29 million TEUs). With 
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a handling volume of 1.22 million TEU, EUROGATE Tangier in Morocco 

also lost 10.5% of its handling volume compared to 2022 (previous year: 

1.36 million TEU). 

Contrary to this downward trend, handling volumes at three of our con-

tainer terminals developed positively in the past financial year. The 

frontrunner with a new handling record is the Tangier Alliance Termi-

nal in Morocco, which handled 1.55 million TEU, 34.3% more than in 

the previous year (previous year: 1.16 million TEU). This fantastic de-

velopment was driven by the increased importance of the location for 

the network of our terminal partner Hapag-Lloyd. The Salerno Con-

tainer Terminal in Italy is another winner in terms of throughput, han-

dling a total of 0.35 million TEU in 2023, 10.1% more than in 2022 (pre-

vious year: 0.31 million TEU). Our EUROGATE Container Terminal in Li-

massol, Cyprus, also closed the year with a pleasing increase in han-

dling of 4.9%, from 0.37 million TEUs to 0.39 million TEUs.  

The EUROKAI Group terminals thus handled a total of 11.24 million 

TEUs, a fall of 5.1% compared with the previous year (11.84 million 

TEUs). 

MOVEMENT IN OUR INDUSTRY 

 

The dynamic nature of our business environment is demonstrated by 

a number of key decisions made by important stakeholders in our in-

dustry in both the past financial year 2023 and the current year 2024. 

In October 2023, the EU Commission announced that it would not ex-

tend the Block Exemption Regulation for shipping consortia beyond 24 

April 2024. This will end the exemption from certain EU competition 

rules for our shipping customers. 

Well before this decision - in January 2023 - Maersk and MSC an-

nounced their intention to end the '2M Alliance' with effect from the 

end of January 2025 and to go their separate ways thereafter. It was 

therefore clear to market participants and observers that a reorganisa-

tion of the alliance structures or strategic realignment of individual 

shipping companies would have to follow. 

However, the announcement by the Hamburg Senate on 13 September 

2023 that it intended to give MSC a stake of up to 49.9% in Hamburger 

Hafen und Logistik AG (HHLA) came as a surprise to many. Although 

terminal investments by shipping companies are now common prac-

tice, such an investment by a shipping company in a terminal operating 

company that was previously independent of shipping companies, in-

cluding its terminals and intermodal activities, is rare throughout Eu-

rope. The process is still the subject of controversial public debate. 

Nevertheless, this deal is about to be finalised. This gives rise to vari-

ous scenarios for our terminals in Germany, for which we have been 

preparing intensively since the announcement last autumn. 

 

Another development whose potential impact on the EUROKAI Group 

we are also currently examining very closely is the cooperation be-

tween Maersk and Hapag-Lloyd announced on 17 January 2024 under 

the name 'Gemini Cooperation' from February 2025. This new constel-

lation offers us good opportunities for positive development overall, as 

we have a long-standing and good partnership with both shipping 

companies in Germany and at our international locations. 

It should also be mentioned that the members of the Ocean Alliance 

(CMA, Evergreen, COSCO and OOCL) extended their partnership agree-

ment in February 2024 beyond the regular term by a further five years 

until 2032. It is currently still unclear how the remaining members of 

'The Alliance', namely ONE, HMM and Yang Ming, will reorganise 

themselves in the future following Hapag-Lloyd's withdrawal from 

February 2025. 

DECISIONS FOR THE FUTURE 

 

All of these developments in our business environment have a direct 

influence on the further course of our business development in the 

short to medium term and it is and remains one of our top priority tasks 

to closely monitor and evaluate these developments and make the 

right decisions for us. Every change harbours opportunities for our fu-

ture, which we want to identify, seize and exploit. 

At the same time, it was and remains right to initiate and actively im-

plement necessary changes and further developments in those areas 

that we determine ourselves and that are relatively independent of ex-

ternal influences. The transformation programme that has been run-

ning in the German EUROGATE companies since 2020 has already 

been reflected in significant cost savings and structural improvements 

in this respect and is largely on track, even with an interim adjustment 

of the overall savings target from EUR 84 million to EUR 100 million by 

2025. In 2022, the EUROGATE Group also launched an overarching 

strategy process called "LIFT", which already led to the first significant 

results and decisions last year. Examples include the development of 

an automation roadmap for the German terminal locations, the estab-

lishment of a cross-terminal committee to standardise the procure-

ment of large-scale equipment, the introduction of uniform software 

solutions, the harmonisation of processes and the development of an 

employer brand for modern personnel recruitment and retention 

geared towards the labour market. 

A key decision in the context of the strategic annual objectives that we 

would like to highlight here is the resolution passed by the EUROGATE 

Group Management Board in December 2023 to achieve CO2 neutrality 

for the EUROGATE Group by 2040. The resolution, which is based on a 

decarbonisation strategy, initially envisages halving CO2 emissions 

per container by 2030 through various measures, such as the complete 

conversion of our diesel-powered straddle carrier fleet to hybrid drives 

or the construction and use of additional wind power plants to gener-

ate electricity. The major goal of completely avoiding CO2 emissions 
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is then to be achieved by 2040 through the complete electrification of 

our handling facilities as part of automation. The reduction of green-

house gases plays an overriding role for us at all locations and, using 

EUROGATE as an example, we now have a concrete roadmap that we 

will not only fulfil on the basis of legal requirements, but also consist-

ently pursue in awareness of our social responsibility. 

The automation mentioned above has also undergone a number of de-

velopments in 2023 and is currently facing a landmark decision with a 

fundamental agreement on a system and operating concept. After nu-

merous systemic reviews, the partners of EUROGATE Container Termi-

nal Wilhelmshaven, EUROGATE and Hapag-Lloyd, will decide in the 

near future whether the system should be introduced at the Wilhelms-

haven site on the basis of joint business planning. Technically and op-

erationally, however, the findings of the past financial year also lay the 

foundation for further automation decisions at the other German loca-

tions. 

GENERATIONAL CHANGE AT EUROGATE

 

The most personal decision for us in the past financial year was the 

handover of the role of Co-Chairman of the EUROGATE Group Manage-

ment Board from father to son on 1 July 2023. Last spring, we jointly 

decided that it was time to complete the generational change. In the 

course of this, we also decided that we wanted to manage the busi-

ness of EUROKAI jointly in order to continue to reflect the interests of 

the Eckelmann family at both shareholder and operational manage-

ment level at EUROGATE. 

OUTLOOK AND FORECAST FOR 2024

 

The current financial year is initially still characterised by the economic 

developments of the past year. A rapid economic upturn or the timely 

resolution of the international conflicts are currently not foreseeable. 

Despite existing capacity reserves, our container terminals must there-

fore continue to realise sustainable cost reductions and productivity 

increases in order to counter the pressure on revenue and competi-

tion. 

In Germany, we will see in 2024 what specific impact the MSC stake in 

HHLA will have on the throughput development of our German termi-

nals. The announced 'Gemini Cooperation' between Maersk and 

Hapag-Lloyd will also become more concrete this year and provide 

more information about the potential effects for us. For Wilhelmsha-

ven and Bremerhaven, for example, we see a good chance that the 

new constellation will enable a significant increase in handling vol-

umes from 2025 at the latest through the direct call of large container 

ships and other liner services. 

Internationally, we will continue to expand the La Spezia Container 

Terminal by building the new Angelo Ravano terminal. On the other 

hand, a major focus of our work is the construction of and preparations 

for the commissioning of the Damietta Alliance Container Terminal in 

Egypt. Now that the financing for the new terminal has been secured 

with the help of an international banking consortium on 21 December 

2023, the construction of the infrastructure and superstructure is in full 

swing. The terminal, including the delivery and commissioning of the 

large-scale equipment, will be completed by the end of the year and is 

scheduled to start operations at the beginning of 2025. With a capacity 

of 3.3 million TEU, the terminal will then serve our partner Hapag-Lloyd 

and its future co-operation partner Maersk as a strategic hub in the 

Eastern Mediterranean. 

In conclusion, we can only say that we feel the loss of Cecilia, also in 

the management of EUROKAI, and will never be able to replace her in 

the same way. Nevertheless, we must and will carry on and continue 

the fortunes of the Group in her spirit. We would like to thank all the 

employees of the EUROKAI Group companies for their support and tire-

less efforts. We would also like to thank you, our shareholders, for the 

trust you have placed in us. 

Hamburg, April 2024 

 

 

 

Thomas H. Eckelmann    

Chairman of the Management Board  

 

 

 

Tom H. Eckelmann 

Member of the Management Board 
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EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg
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Breakbulk loading at EUROGATE Container Terminal Bremerhaven
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1. BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND                                                

MACROECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

 

The focus of the business activities of the companies consolidated in 

the EUROKAI Group is on container handling in continental Europe as 

well as North Africa. These companies operate container terminals, in 

some cases with partners, in La Spezia, Salerno and Ravenna (Italy), in 

Hamburg, Bremerhaven and Wilhelmshaven (Germany), as well as in 

Tangier (Morocco) and in Limassol (Cyprus). The EUROKAI Group also 

has shareholdings in a number of inland terminals and railway operat-

ing companies. 

Complementary services are also provided in the form of intermodal 

services (carriage of sea containers to and from terminals), repairs, de-

pot storage and trading of containers as well as cargomodal services 

and technical services. 

EUROKAI GmbH & Co. KGaA (in the following EUROKAI) directly holds 

66.6% of the shares in the CONTSHIP Italia Group via the holding com-

pany Contship Italia S.p.A. and has an additional indirect 16.7% share-

holding via EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen. Calculated pro-

portionally, EUROKAI thus holds a stake of 83.3% in the CONTSHIP Ita-

lia Group. 

EUROKAI has a 50% shareholding in the EUROGATE Group via EURO-

GATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen. It also has a 50% shareholding 

in the Personally Liable General Partner of EUROGATE GmbH & Co. 

KGaA, KG, EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, 

as well as its Personally Liable General Partner, EUROGATE Be-

teiligungs-GmbH, Bremen. 

Control of the EUROKAI Group is vested in three business segments, 

“CONTSHIP Italia” “EUROGATE” and “EUROKAI”, with the EUROGATE 

joint venture being included in the consolidated EUROKAI financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting in line with the pro-

visions of IFRS 11. 

The hoped-for recovery of the global economy failed to materialise in 

2023. The macroeconomic environment was again characterised by 

numerous uncertainties, in part due to the ongoing Russian war of ag-

gression against Ukraine and the knock-on effects for the economy. 

The important Chinese market also offered no new economic impetus. 

While the lifting of the very rigorous zero-Covid measures across the 

country initially led to a very positive development, China is still suffer-

ing from the aftereffects of the real estate crisis. Overall, as a result of 

the weakening domestic and foreign demand, China is currently see-

ing a deflationary trend. Against this background, and coupled with the 

continuing high inflation levels in Germany, the outlook has not bright-

 
1 https://www.destatis.de/DE/Presse/Pressemitteilungen/2024/01/PD24_019_811.html 
2 World Economic Outlook Update, January 2024: Moderating Inflation and Steady Growth 

Open Path to Soft Landing (imf.org) 

ened. The associated high interest rates additionally led to a reluc-

tance to invest in both the private and industrial sectors. Accordingly, 

initial calculations of the Federal Statistical Office (Destatis) estimate 

that Germany’s price-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) will de-

cline by –0.3% in 2023 despite a continued robust labour market and a 

strengthened service sector, partly due to weak domestic and foreign 

demand. Adjusted for prices, Germany’s exports fell year on year by –

1.8% and imports by –3.0% in 2023.1 

In its most recent World Economic Outlook Update, the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF) expects the global economy to grow by just 3.1% 

in 2023 (previous year: 3.5%). For 2024, the IMF is projecting weaker 

growth momentum and an increase in the level of global economic 

output of 3.1%. This forecast confirms the historically very weak sce-

nario from the previous year, which in the last two decades was 

weaker only during the global financial crisis and the coronavirus pan-

demic in 2020. In the USA, growth is still projected at 2.5% in 2023, 

whereas in the euro zone a low rate of an estimated 0.5% and in Ger-

many even a decline of –0.3% are expected. China, on the other hand, 

is expected to just reach its political growth target of a comparatively 

weak 5.2%.2 

In this economic environment, revenue within the EUROKAI Group de-

clined in the reporting period to EUR 219.1 million (previous year: 

EUR 247.6 million). At EUR 52.2 million, consolidated net profit for the 

year was down significantly compared to the previous year’s result of 

EUR 113.5 million. In addition to a lower operating profit (EBIT) of EUR 

37.9 million, (previous year: EUR 61.5 million), this development was 

attributable in particular to decreased net investment income of EUR 

22.4 million (previous year: EUR 80.3 million). The decline in operating 

profit is mainly due to a downturn in handling volumes coupled with a 

significant reduction in income from storage fees as a result of the re-

turn to normal container dwell times at the terminals in the CONTSHIP 

Italia Segment. The drop in net investment income was attributable in 

particular to the significantly lower proportionate net profit of the EU-

ROGATE Segment. 

At 11.238 million TEUs3, handling volumes at the container terminals of 

the EUROKAI Group – i.e. the terminals in Germany, Italy, Morocco and 

Cyprus – were 5.1% lower overall than in the previous year (11.844 mil-

lion TEUs). 

3 TEU = twenty foot equivalent unit/measurement unit in container shipping for a 20-foot 

standard container 
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EUROKAI container terminal sites 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site 2023 2022 Change 

TEUs TEUs % 

Germany 

1 Hamburg 1,814,477 2,033,644 -10.8 

2 Bremerhaven 4,182,610 4,576,758 -8.6 

3 Wilhelmshaven 531,637 683,403 -22.2 

Total Germany 6,528,724 7,293,805 -10.5 

Italy 

4 La Spezia 1,012,103 1,147,682 -11.8 

5 Salerno 345,545 313,864 10.1 

6 Ravenna 190,342 200,334 -5.0 

Total Italy 1,547,990 1,661,880 -6.9 

Other 

7 Tangier (Morocco) 2,771,174 2,516,959 10.1 

8 Limassol (Cyprus) 389,862 371,740 4.9 

Total Other 3,161,036 2,888,699 9.4 

Total 11,237,750 11,844,384 -5.1 

 

Figures show total handling volumes at the respective sites.4 

Only the handling volumes of the fully consolidated container terminal in La Spezia contribute to Group revenue.  

 
4 The prior-period figures included the handling volumes of the equity interest in the JSC Ust-Luga Container Terminal, Russia, of 18,096 TEUs. 
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CONTSHIP ITALIA SEGMENT 

Contship Italia S.p.A. of Melzo/Milan is the holding company of the 

CONTSHIP Italia Group, which sets corporate strategy and coordinates 

operating activities. Its main investees are La Spezia Container Termi-

nal S.p.A. as well as Sogemar S.p.A., Melzo/Milan and Hannibal S.r.l., 

Melzo/Milan – both engaged in intermodal business – as well as 

OCEANOGATE Italia S.r.l., La Spezia, and Rail Hub Milano S.r.l., Milan 

(all in Italy). 

The container terminals in the Italian group saw an overall drop in han-

dling volumes of 6.9% in the 2023 financial year to 1.548 million TEUs 

(previous year: 1.662 million TEUs), primarily due to the 11.8% reduc-

tion in container throughput in La Spezia. In contrast, handling vol-

umes in Salerno developed positively (10.1%), while volumes in Ra-

venna were 5.0% below the previous year’s level. 

Against the background of declining handling volumes and decreased 

income from storage fees at the fully consolidated La Spezia Container 

Terminal S.p.A, the CONTSHIP Italia Segment generated revenue of 

EUR 219.1 million in the 2023 financial year (previous year: EUR 247.6 

million). At EUR 44.0 million, segment earnings (EBT) were correspond-

ingly lower than the previous year’s level (previous year: EUR 66.5 mil-

lion). 

The trend in throughput and earnings under IFRSs for the Italian com-

panies over the period under review was as follows: 

La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A. is a 60% shareholding of Contship 

Italia S.p.A. At 1.012 million TEUs, (previous year: 1.148 million TEUs), 

the company recorded an 11.8% drop in handling volumes. The decline 

in throughput coupled with a significant reduction in income from stor-

age fees and extraordinary expenses for provisions in connection with 

the insolvency of a service provider led to a halving of the net profit 

compared to the previous year. 

The fully-owned CONTSHIP Italia subsidiary Sogemar S.p.A. continues 

to hold 100% of the shares in Hannibal S.r.l. and OCEANOGATE Italia 

S.r.l., 90% in Rail Hub Milano S.r.l. as well as 80% of the shares in drive-

Mybox S.r.l., all of Milan, Italy, for which it provides leasing, administra-

tion and IT services. The company again reported a positive result for 

the reporting period, albeit slightly below the previous year’s level.  

In addition to handling international container transports, Hannibal 

S.r.l. manages the national truck and rail activities of the CONTSHIP 

Italia Group. With a handling figure of 0.248 million TEUs (previous 

year: 0.228 million TEUs), the intermodal transport volume was 9.0% 

higher than in the previous year. Despite this increase in volumes, how-

ever, the company’s year-end result was both lower than in the previ-

ous year and negative, mainly due to overcapacity and operational dis-

ruptions caused by a derailment in the Gotthard tunnel and poor infra-

structure quality in Northern Europe (primarily in Germany). 

The number of trains operated by OCEANOGATE Italia S.r.l. increased 

by 12.4% in 2023 compared to the previous year, mainly due to the 

newly available equipment and improved capacity utilisation thanks to 

technical training for operating personnel. This is reflected in an im-

proved and positive year-end result compared to the previous year. 

Rail Hub Milano S.r.l. operates the inland terminals of the CONTSHIP 

Italia Group in Melzo, Marzaglia and Padova. Despite a 4.3% decline in 

throughput volumes to 0.204 million TEUs (previous year: 0.213 million 

TEUs), the company’s annual earnings were nevertheless up in relation 

to the previous year and in positive territory due to an improved reve-

nue structure. 

The shareholders of driveMybox Italia S.r.l are Sogemar S.p.A. (80%), 

and Go.Trans s.r.l., Milan, Italy, with a 20% stake. The company suc-

cessfully began operations in the 2022 financial year and as a result of 

the acquisition of the truck business of Go.Trans was able to expand 

and achieve a steady increase in volume. By optimising staff deploy-

ment and acquiring new equipment, the company was again able to 

close the 2023 financial year with a positive year-end result. 

EUROGATE SEGMENT 

EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen, in which EUROKAI 

GmbH & Co. KGaA and BLG LOGISTICS GROUP AG & Co. KG of Bremen 

each have a 50% shareholding, is the EUROGATE Group’s holding com-

pany (EUROGATE holding company). The EUROGATE holding company 

supplies central services for its subsidiaries and affiliated companies. 

Its principal investees are EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg 

GmbH, Hamburg, EUROGATE Container Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH, 

North Sea Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH & Co., MSC Gate Bremerha-

ven GmbH & Co. KG – all of Bremerhaven – and EUROGATE Container 

Terminal Wilhelmshaven GmbH & Co. KG, Wilhelmshaven. The EURO-

GATE Group also has a 33.4% stake in Contship Italia S.p.A., Italy. 

The EUROGATE holding company has a 100% shareholding in both EU-

ROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg GmbH and EUROGATE Con-

tainer Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH. These companies are fully con-

solidated in the EUROGATE Segment. The joint ventures North Sea Ter-

minal Bremerhaven GmbH & Co. (EUROGATE share: 50%), MSC Gate 

Bremerhaven GmbH & Co. KG (EUROGATE share: 50%), and EURO-

GATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven GmbH & Co. KG (EUROGATE 

share: 70%), have been incorporated in the EUROGATE Segment using 

the equity method. 

EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg GmbH saw a 10.8% decline 

in handling volumes from 2.034 million TEUs in 2022 to 1.814 million 

TEUs in 2023. With a handling figure totalling 4.183 million TEUs (previ-

ous year: 4.577 million TEUs), the container terminals in Bremerhaven, 

and thus including the terminals of the joint ventures, recorded a drop 

in handling volumes of 8.6%. 
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Handling volumes at EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven 

decreased to 0.532 million TEUs, which was 22.2% below the previous 

year’s level (previous year: 0.683 million TEUs). Thus, taken together, 

the handling volume of the German terminals was 6.529 million TEUs, 

which was 10.5% below the previous year’s level of 7.294 million TEUs 

handled. 

Due to the decrease in handling volumes at the fully consolidated 

companies in Germany, the EUROGATE Segment reported a significant 

drop in group revenue of 12.5% to EUR 603.8 million (previous year: 

EUR 690.2 million). Apart from the decline in handling volumes, the de-

crease in revenue was mainly attributable to significantly lower in-

come from storage fees. 

As was to be expected, in addition to the decline in throughput, the 

lower storage fee and reefer revenues also negatively impacted the 

earnings development. Against this background, the segment’s oper-

ating profit (EBIT) decreased substantially year on year to EUR 55.4 mil-

lion (previous year: EUR 75.8 million). Overall, with considerably lower 

and negative net income from associates and joint ventures of EUR –

0.6 million (previous year: EUR 50.7 million) and slightly improved other 

net finance costs of EUR –0.1 million (previous year: EUR –0.8 million), 

the EUROGATE Group recorded consolidated net profit for the report-

ing period of EUR 36.6 million (previous year: EUR 153.7 million). While 

the previous year’s net profit was positively influenced by the reversal 

of write-downs of long-term financial assets in the amount of EUR 70.7 

million, positive one-off effects in the reporting period came from in-

come from the reversal of provisions. 

Of this amount, 50% is recognised as segment net profit for EUROKAI, 

less the interest in net profit attributable to CONTSHIP Italia, which is 

included in the EUROGATE Group. This must be eliminated in order to 

determine the income from associates attributable to EUROKAI, as 

CONTSHIP Italia is fully consolidated within the EUROKAI Group. 

The trend in throughput and earnings under IFRSs for the EUROGATE 

companies operating container terminals in financial year 2023 was as 

follows: 

EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg GmbH saw a 10.8% decline 

in handling volumes from 2.034 million TEUs in 2022 to 1.814 million 

TEUs in 2023. Thus, the company recognised a significantly lower end 

result year on year before profit transfer to the EUROGATE holding 

company. 

EUROGATE Container Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH saw a slight vol-

ume decrease of 4.3% in the 2023 reporting period, with a handling 

figure of 0.734 million TEUs (previous year: 0.766 million TEUs). Thus, 

the company reported significantly lower positive operating profit year 

on year before profit transfer to EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA KG (EU-

ROGATE holding company), bearing in mind that this result was influ-

enced by a substantial reduction in storage fee revenues compared to 

the previous year. 

As a dedicated terminal for Maersk Line shipping company, North Sea 

Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH & Co., a joint venture with APM Termi-

nals, a group entity of A.P. Møller–Mærsk A/S, recorded handling figu-

res of 2.417 million TEUs in financial year 2023, a decrease in volume 

of 6.1% year on year (previous year: 2.573 million TEUs). The company’s 

positive net earnings were therefore significantly below the previous 

year’s level. 

With a throughput figure of 1.032 million TEUs (previous year: 1.237 mil-

lion TEUs), MSC Gate Bremerhaven GmbH & Co. KG, a joint venture be-

tween the EUROGATE holding company and Terminal Investment Lim-

ited Sàrl., Geneva (Switzerland), a related company of Mediterranean 

Shipping Company S.A. (MSC), Geneva, Switzerland, recorded a drop 

in handling volumes in 2023 of 16.6% compared with the previous year. 

Against this background, the company’s net profit was also corre-

spondingly down on the previous year. 

HL Terminals Wilhelmshaven GmbH, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Hapag-Lloyd Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg KG, has a 30% shareholding 

in EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven GmbH & Co. KG. In 

the 2023 financial year, handling volumes stood at 0.532 million TEUs, 

a decline of 22.2% compared to the previous year (previous year: 0.683 

million TEUs). Reflecting this negative volume trend in conjunction 

with a sharp year-on-year drop in storage fee revenues and a dispro-

portionately high increase in personnel costs and other operating ex-

penses, the company’s net profit declined substantially and remained 

in negative territory. The disproportionate increase in personnel costs 

was attributable to the expansion of the workforce to meet the ex-

pected volume development demands, which failed to materialise. 

The transhipment volume of the two terminals in Tangier 
(North Africa) discussed below totalled 2,771 million 
TEUs, which was 10.1% higher than the comparable figure 
for the previous year (2.517 million TEUs handled). 

On the one hand, handling volumes at EUROGATE Tanger S.A. Tanger, 

Morocco, in which EUROGATE International GmbH and Contship Italia 

S.p.A. each indirectly hold a 20% interest, and Terminal Link – a joint 

venture between CMA CGM S.A. and China Merchants Port Holding 

Company Limited – indirectly and directly holds 40% and finally Termi-

nal Investment Limited Sàrl indirectly holds 20%, fell in the reporting 

period by 10.5% to 1.218 million TEUs (previous year: 1.360 million 

TEUs). Based on this volume development, the company’s year-end re-

sult also fell sharply compared with the previous year. 

On the other hand, Tanger Alliance S.A., Tangier, Morocco, in which 

EUROGATE International GmbH and Contship Italia S.p.A. each have a 

20% interest, and Société d’Exploitation des Ports S.A. (Marsa Maroc) 

holds 50% and Hapag-Lloyd Aktiengesellschaft 10%, again recorded an 

encouraging 34.3% increase in handling volumes year on year to 1.553 

million TEUs (previous year: 1.157 million TEUs). Correspondingly, the 

company’s annual results also improved significantly compared with 

the previous year. 
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The EUROGATE Group holds a 60% interest in EUROGATE Container 

Terminal Limassol Limited, (Cyprus). The other consortium partners 

are Interorient Navigation Company Ltd. (20%), Limassol Cyprus, and 

East Med Holdings S. A. (20%), Luxembourg. In the 2023 financial year, 

the company handled 0.390 million TEUs (previous year: 0.372 million 

TEUs). Based on this 4.9% volume increase, the company’s net profit in 

conjunction with higher average revenues again improved considera-

bly. 
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Intermodal services e.g. 
EGIM Regular Service, boxXpress.de,
boxXpress.hu
EUROGATE Rail Hungary
CONTSHIP Italia Intermodal
Futher connections abroad
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AUGSBURGULM

FRANKFURT A. M. NUREMBERG
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BREMERHAVEN
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KEY EVENTS IN THE COURSE OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  

CONTSHIP Italia Segment 
At the end of April 2023, the management of CONTSHIP Italia was re-

structured. Matthieu Gasselin was appointed CEO, while Tommaso 

Ferrario took over responsibility as CFO. 

On 21 December 2023, Damietta Alliance Container Terminal S.A.E. 

(DACT), Damietta, Egypt, the joint venture of Contship Damietta S.r.l. 

(29.5%), Melzo/Milan, Italy, EUROGATE Damietta GmbH (29.5%), Ham-

burg, and Hapag-Lloyd Damietta GmbH (39.0%), Hamburg, with the 

two further partners Middle East Logistics & Consultants Group (1.0%) 

and Ship & C.R.E.W. Egypt S.A.E. (1.0%), both of Cairo, Egypt, signed the 

final financing agreement for the container terminal under construc-

tion in Damietta, Egypt. The financing consortium is made up of inter-

national development banks. 

The signing of the contract at the Ministry of Transport in Cairo in the 

presence of the Egyptian Minister of Transport, the Egyptian Minister 

for International Cooperation and the German Ambassador by repre-

sentatives of all lending institutions, as well as the DACT management 

team and the consortium partners, marked an important milestone in 

the development of the project. 

The new Terminal 2 at the Port of Damietta, with a total capacity of 3.3 

million TEUs, is expected to commence operation in early 2025 and will 

serve as Hapag-Lloyd’s strategic transhipment hub in the eastern Med-

iterranean. The term of the concession is 30 years. 

In December 2023, Tanger Alliance S.A., Morocco, recorded its highest 

handling volume to date since the start of operations with more than 

158,000 TEUs. 

The liquidation of CICT Porto Industriale Cagliari S.p.A. i.L., which 

ceased operating in mid-2019, is not yet wound up due to the pending 

formal court order. However, this is again not expected to lead to any 

further negative impact on earnings. 

In the course of the 2023 financial year, La Spezia Container Terminal 

S.p.A. made significant progress in a number of areas with its Angelo 

Ravano Terminal project, including the dismantling of obsolete infra-

structure, the completion of the necessary regulatory authorisations 

by the supervisory authorities and the appointment of the project man-

ager for legal matters. The bomb disposal work carried out by the port 

authority, which is running four to six months behind the original 

schedule, as well as the sudden death of the responsible project man-

ager in January 2024, are currently leading to slight delays in the pro-

ject implementation. Operation of the Angelo Ravano Terminal is cur-

rently expected to begin in the second half of 2026. 

 

EUROGATE Segment 
General 
On 25 January 2023, A.P. Møller–Mærsk A/S (Maersk) and MSC Medi-

terranean Shipping Company S.A. (MSC) announced their intention to 

terminate their present cooperation via the 2M Alliance at the end of 

January 2025. The two shipping companies will then once again oper-

ate their liner services in the Far East-Europe, Transatlantic and Trans-

pacific trades independently of each other. 

As part of the FE2 service, EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmsha-

ven has been incorporated into the regular rotation in the schedule of 

THE Alliance partners (Hapag-Lloyd, Ocean Network Express, Yang 

Ming and Hyundai Merchant Marine) since April 2023. On 13 June 2023, 

Hapag-Lloyd’s own container ship “Al Zubara”, with a capacity of al-

most 20,000 TEUs, called at Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven for the 

first time on the FE2 service. 

By agreement dated 11 September 2023, EUROGATE GmbH & Co. 

KGaA, KG and Terminal Investment Limited Sàrl, Geneva, which be-

longs to MSC, extended the partnership relating to the MSC Gate 

Bremerhaven GmbH & Co. KG joint venture founded in 2004 until 2048. 

The conversion work at EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmsha-

ven GmbH & Co. KG to raise all eight container gantry cranes by 11 me-

tres was successfully completed in December 2023. Two further super 

post-Panamax container gantries are currently under construction at 

the Wilhelmshaven site and will go into operation in spring 2024. 

In December 2023, the EUROGATE Group’s new decarbonisation tar-

gets were adopted, namely 

• to halve the current CO2 emissions per container by 2030 and 

• to achieve CO2 neutrality by 2040. 

 

It is aimed to achieve these targets primarily through technological 

measures such as automation and the use of transitional technologies, 

the construction and operation of the company’s own wind turbines, 

the use of green electricity and other measures to increase energy ef-

ficiency and the proportion of renewable energies. 

Standardization and automation 
Following conclusion of the publicly funded STRADegy research pro-

ject in December 2020, the Auto SC system was identified as one po-

tential automation solution to result from the project. However, the 

higher capacity requirements indicated for the Wilhelmshaven site 

made it necessary to reassess the automation solutions, which led to 

a re-examination of the potential systems for automating operations, 

including the Auto SC system. In the course of this review it was found 

that, under the currently foreseeable general conditions, an auto-

mated stacker-crane system would for various reasons be preferable 

to the initially favoured Auto SC system. 
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The EUROGATE Automation division developed two alternative operat-

ing concepts based on stacker-crane systems up to the end of 2023, 

taking into account the requirements of the German EUROGATE loca-

tions. The operating concepts for Wilhelmshaven were drawn up in de-

tail with the corresponding business cases. With respect to water-

borne horizontal transport, the operating concepts under considera-

tion differ mainly in terms of the implications of coupled operation us-

ing AGVs (Automated Guided Vehicles) as opposed to decoupled op-

eration using AShCs (Automated Shuttle Carriers). 

The results of the analyses with the specific business cases serve as 

the basis for further automation decisions in the 2024 financial year. 

Infrastructure aspects 
Progress on the westward expansion project of EUROGATE Container 

Terminal Hamburg continues to play an important role for the EURO-

GATE Group to enable it to build geographically and nautically conven-

ient berths for ultra-large container vessels. The project foresees the 

complete filling of the Petroleumhafen and the direct extension of the 

Predöhlkai by some 600 m, as well as the creation of an additional 400 

m of quay wall at the Bubendey-Ufer. Another major goal of the 

measures to improve the nautical conditions at the Port of Hamburg 

being pursued with the planning approval procedure is the enlarge-

ment of the turning basin at the Waltershof Harbour to provide a turn-

ing radius of 600 m for large container ships. Now that a Federal Ad-

ministrative Court ruling has dismissed the last lawsuits filed by plain-

tiffs against the non-admission of the appeal, there is legal certainty 

with regard to the implementation of this project. 

According to the current schedule, possible construction measures by 

the Hamburg Port Authority (HPA) will probably take five years before 

it is possible to hand over the land to the terminal operator, so that 

from today’s perspective – even with financing still to be secured – con-

struction of the superstructure for the terminal can begin at the earliest 

from 2032. As a result, commissioning of the entire site is likely to be 

delayed until 2033 at the earliest. By then, more than 30 years will have 

passed since the project was initiated. The number of large container 

vessels in service has continued to increase. Parallel to this, the con-

tainer shipping lines have already commissioned ultra-large container 

ships with a capacity in excess of 24,000 TEUs. The shipping lines have 

additional ultra-large container vessels with similar capacities on their 

order books. These figures underscore the present trend towards a 

highly disproportionate rise in the number of ultra-large container ves-

sels in service on the main world trades. 

We are currently in intensive talks and negotiations with the HPA with 

the aim of concluding a rental agreement for the site of the western 

expansion and the adjoining quay walls on economically acceptable 

terms. 

The navigational difficulties in the approach and departure of these ul-

tra-large container ships (ULCSs) to and from Hamburg had seen a 

temporary improvement. In the first expansion phase, the Wasser- und 

Schifffahrtsverwaltung des Bundes (WSV – Federal Waterways and 

Shipping Administration) ultimately completed the measures outside 

the Hamburg area in connection with the fairway adjustment of the 

Lower and Outer Elbe within the original schedule, as did the HPA for 

the section of the Elbe shipping channel that lies within its territory. In 

this respect, the nautical conditions for ULCSs in and out of the Port of 

Hamburg improved temporarily to some extent. In the course of 2023, 

however, the second expansion phase of the deepening of the Elbe 

was cancelled due to the discovery of extensive munitions. As things 

currently stand, it is not possible to foresee when the most recently 

imposed draught restrictions on the Elbe are likely to be lifted. 

There is still no reliable timetable for the approval and implementation 

of the fairway adjustment of the Outer Weser. However, the project 

was included in the Measures Act Preparation Act (MgvG) at the begin-

ning of 2021, granting it the status of a particularly important infrastruc-

ture measure. The MgvG provided for a procedure that allows new 

construction or expansion as well as modification of transport infra-

structure to be authorised by law instead of an administrative act. With 

the so-called scoping meeting at the beginning of 2022, the prepara-

tory procedure began to determine the scope of the environmental im-

pact assessment. In the course of 2023, the parties involved in the plan-

ning process decided to go ahead with the implementation in line with 

the planning approval. In the next step, the prepared planning docu-

ments will be incorporated into the planning approval procedure ac-

cordingly. We therefore assume that significantly progress will be 

made in 2024 towards creating the prerequisites for implementation 

from 2026/2027. 

Measures to upgrade or rebuild the quay wall at the Bremerhaven site 

are also required. As the size of ships and consequently the need for 

larger container gantries continue to grow, the quay wall must be able 

to absorb and withstand increasing crane loads in the future. For pre-

liminary planning and preparation of the quay wall upgrade, the re-

sponsible port authority bremenports GmbH & Co. KG pressed ahead 

with preliminary planning measures in 2023. Securing the necessary 

public funding poses a challenge. In coordination with the other north-

ern German federal states, the state of Bremen is endeavouring to sig-

nificantly increase the federal government’s share of general port fi-

nancing. The necessity of the quay wall upgrade is recognised and 

supported by all stakeholders from politics and industry. A joint plan-

ning dialogue was initiated with bremenports in 2023. We therefore ex-

pect the project to be finally secured in the course of 2024 and the con-

crete schedule for implementing the corresponding measures to be 

defined, probably starting from 2025/2026. 
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crete schedule for implementing the corresponding measures to be 
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2. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF THE EUROKAI GROUP 

 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

The individual revenues and expenditures of the EUROGATE Segment, 

which is consolidated using the equity method, are not recognised in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the EUROKAI Group. 

Instead, the contribution to earnings of the EUROGATE Group is shown 

under net investment income/expense. Consequently, the notes to the 

individual items of the consolidated statement of profit or loss relate 

only to the CONTSHIP Italia and EUROKAI Segments. To show the re-

sults of operations, the following table uses an earnings statement 

based on operational management: 

 

 

 

 

 

2023 2022 Change 

EUR m % EUR m % EUR m % 

Revenue 219.1 89 247.6 95 -28.5 -12 

Other operating income 26.3 11 12.6 5 13.7 109 

Gross operating revenue 245.4 100 260.2 100 -14.8 -6 

Cost of materials -87.0 -35 -88.2 -34 1.2 -1 

Personnel expenses -64.1 -26 -64.4 -25 0.3 0 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -22.2 -9 -19.4 -7 -2.8 14 

Other operating expenses -34.2 -14 -26.7 -10 -7.5 28 

Operating expenses -207.5 -84 -198.7 -76 -8.8 4 

Net operating profig 37.9 16 61.5 24 -23.6 -38 

Interest and similar income 12.2 5.9 6.3 

Finance costs -14.0 -9.9 -4.1 

Net investment income 22.4 80.3 -57.9 

Other finance costs (income) 0.3 0.2 0.1 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 58.8 138.0 -79.2 

Current tax expense -13.4 -22.2 8.8 

Deferred taxes 6.8 -2.3 9.1 

Consolidated profit für the year 52.2 113.5 -61.3 

Attributable to:   

Equity holders of the parent 39.6 90.4 

Non-controlling interests 12.6 23.1 

52.2 113.5 

 

 

The influences on changes in the individual line items of the statement 

of profit or loss are explained below. 

External revenue of the EUROKAI Group stood at EUR 219.1 million 

(previous year: EUR 247.8 million) and resulted exclusively from the 

CONTSHIP Italia Segment. Despite an increase in revenue in the inter-

modal segment due to increased rail transport volumes at Hannibal 

S.r.l., the decrease in Group revenue was for the most part determined 

by the downward trend in handling volumes as well as average reve-

nues at La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A. as a result of significantly 

lower storage fee revenues. 
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Other operating income increased in particular due to income relating 

to other periods for compensation payments relating to operational in-

terruptions in connection with the rail accident in the Milan suburb of 

Pioltello in 2018. Other operating income also included income from 

the subsequent measurement of the option to acquire further shares 

in driveMybox S.r.l. totalling EUR 4.3 million. 

The slight decrease in the cost of materials was attributable mainly to 

a reduction in external services and to lower volume- and price-related 

energy costs (electricity and diesel), which was offset by an increase 

in external services due to higher volumes in the intermodal segment. 

Despite the decline in handling volumes, personnel expenses matched 

the previous year’s level. The EUR 1.6 million decrease in personnel 

expenses at La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A. was offset by higher 

personnel expenses at Hannibal S.r.l. (EUR 0.9 million) and at Contship 

Italia S.p.A. (EUR 0.5 million). 

The notable increase in depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

losses was due to the acquisition of additional locomotives in the in-

termodal segment. 

The increase in other operating expenses mainly related to a transfer 

to a provision for potential payment obligations for social security con-

tributions arising from the insolvency of a former service provider, as 

well as to higher repair and damage expenses. This contrasted with 

expenses for provisions for property taxes included in the previous 

year. 

Net operating profit (EBIT) for the 2023 financial year amounted to EUR 

37.9 million, which was considerably lower than the previous year’s to-

tal (previous year: EUR 61.5 million). 

The increase in interest and similar income was due to higher interest 

income from fixed-term deposits and higher interest income from the 

compounding of interest on lease receivables. 

Net investment income decreased substantially by EUR 57.9 million to 

EUR 22.4 million (previous year: EUR 80.3 million. The main change 

here related to the proportionate deterioration in earnings of the EU-

ROGATE Group to EUR 13.8 million (previous year: EUR 71.0 million). 

The increase in finance costs resulted in particular from the interest 

cost of lease liabilities. 

Correspondingly, earnings before taxes (EBT) fell substantially by 

EUR 79.2 million to EUR 58.8 million (previous year: EUR 138.0 million) 

year on year. 

For the EUROKAI Group, a substantial decline in group earnings was 

expected for the 2023 financial year, in particular on the basis of the 

(positive) one-off and exceptional factors recognised in the 2022 an-

nual result for the EUROGATE Segment. 

Overall, against the background of marked declines in both net oper-

ating profit and net investment income, the EUROKAI Group reported 

significantly lower consolidated net profit for the financial year 2023 of 

EUR 52.2 million (previous year: 113.5 million). 

Overall, group earnings for 2023 were thus in line with the original fore-

cast. 

CASH FLOWS 

The following cash flows were posted in 2023 and 2022: 

2023 2022 

EUR m EUR m 

Net cash inflows from operating activities 38.6 74.3 

Cash inflows/outflows from investing activities 4.2 -25.3 

Net cash used in financing activities -51.7 -42.8 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -8.9 6.2 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 189.8 183.6 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 180.9 189.8 

Composition of cash and cash equivalents 

Cash 180.9 189.8 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 180.9 189.8 

 

Based on the pre-tax earnings for the 2023 financial year of 

EUR 58.8 million (previous year: EUR 138.0 million) cash flows from or-

dinary operating activities of EUR 38.6 million (previous year: 

EUR 74.3 million) were generated. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 

Capital expenditure by the Group on property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets amounted to EUR 10.5 million in the 2023 finan-

cial year (previous year: EUR 19.2 million). Capital expenditure related 

primarily to investments in large-scale equipment. 

The Group did not take up any bank loans during the 2023 financial 

year. Scheduled bank loan repayments of EUR 5.2 million were made. 
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Based on the pre-tax earnings for the 2023 financial year of 

EUR 58.8 million (previous year: EUR 138.0 million) cash flows from or-

dinary operating activities of EUR 38.6 million (previous year: 

EUR 74.3 million) were generated. 
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Capital expenditure by the Group on property, plant and equipment 
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cial year (previous year: EUR 19.2 million). Capital expenditure related 

primarily to investments in large-scale equipment. 

The Group did not take up any bank loans during the 2023 financial 

year. Scheduled bank loan repayments of EUR 5.2 million were made. 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 

The structure of assets and equity and liabilities in 2023 was as follows: 

 

Assets 2023 2022 Change 

EUR m % EUR m % EUR m 

Intangible assets 71.4 8 73.1 8 -1.7 

Property, plant and equipment 122.1 13 126.0 14 -3.9 

Financial assets 228.6 25 245.5 26 -16.9 

Deferred tax assets 17.4 2 14.0 2 3.4 

Other non-current assets 134.1 15 138.8 15 -4.7 

Non-current assets 573.6 63 597.4 65 -23.8 

Inventories 6.4 1 5.8 1 0.6 

Trade receivables 48.8 5 47.4 5 1.4 

Other current assets and current tax receivables 99.5 11 71.0 8 28.5 

Cash and cash equivalents 180.9 20 189.8 21 -8.9 

Current assets 335.6 37 314.0 35 21.6 

Total assets 909.2 100 911.4 100 -2.2 

    

Equity and liabilities 

Issued capital 13.5 1 13.5 1 0.0 

Equity attributable to Personally Liable General Partner and Reserves 145.0 16 142.3 16 2.7 

Net retained profit 331.3 36 319.8 36 11.5 

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 105.7 12 104.0 11 1.7 

Equity and reserves 595.5 65 579.6 64 15.9 

Non-current financial liabilities, net of current portion 8.9 1 13.1 1 -4.2 

Non-current portion of Government grants 4.5 0 4.1 0 0.4 

Other non-current liabilities 191.2 22 204.7 23 -13.5 

Deferred tax liabilities 7.9 1 13.0 1 -5.1 

Provisions 27.2 3 20.6 2 6.6 

Non-current liabilities 239.7 27 255.5 27 -15.8 

Current portion of non-current financial liabilities 3.7 0 4.7 1 -1.0 

Trade payables 34.5 4 36.5 4 -2.0 

Current portion of Government grants 1.1 0 0.9 0 0.2 

Other current liabilities and current tax payables 33.9 4 33.0 4 0.9 

Provisions 0.8 0 1.2 0 -0.4 

Current liabilities 74.0 8 76.3 9 -2.3 

Total equity and liabilities 909.2 100 911.4 100 -2.2 

 

Total assets of the EUROKAI Group declined in the 2023 reporting pe-

riod by EUR 2.2 million to EUR 909.2 million. With increased cash and 

cash equivalents, other current assets and current tax assets, together 

with deferred tax assets, this was primarily accounted for by the sim-

ultaneous decrease in financial assets, other non-current assets and 

property, plant and equipment. 

The EUR 16.9 million decrease in financial assets related primarily to 

the EUR 26.7 million deterioration recognised by the equity-accounted 

investment in the EUROGATE Group, which was offset with EUR 8.5 

million by the equity investment in Damietta Alliance Container Termi-

nal S.A.E. 



 

22 ANNUAL REPORT 2023   

The decrease in other non-current assets related in particular to the 

unwinding of the discount on non-current lease receivables totalling 

EUR 8.0 million. This was offset by the payments made by lessees for 

the current year in the amount of EUR 11.7 million, as well as by adjust-

ments made to existing leases in the reporting year amounting to 

EUR –0.9 million. 

At the balance sheet date, non-current assets were covered in full by 

equity. 

The increase in other current assets and current tax assets of EUR 28.5 

million to EUR 99.5 million resulted principally from the profit transfer 

entitlement against EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG in the amount 

of EUR 39.7 million (previous year: EUR 27.3 million), from higher tax 

assets totalling EUR 3.9 million as well as from higher fixed-term de-

posits of EUR 25.0 million (previous year: EUR 10.0 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents of EUR 180.9 million (previous year: 

EUR 189.8 million) reflected the sustained positive liquidity situation of 

the Group at the reporting date. 

The change in net retained profit was accounted for principally by the 

appropriation in accordance with a resolution of the General Meeting 

of EUR 7.5 million to retained earnings and the dividend distribution of 

EUR 20.6 million to the shareholders, as well as by the consolidated 

net profit for the period of EUR 39.6 million attributable to the equity 

holders of the parent for the 2023 financial year. 

Accordingly, equity increased in the 2023 financial year by EUR 15.9 

million (+2.7%) to EUR 595.5 million (previous year: EUR 579.6 million). 

Thus, the EUROKAI Group again reported a very robust equity ratio of 

65% (previous year: 64%). 

The decrease in non-current financial liabilities, including the current 

portion, resulted from repayments totalling EUR 5.2 million made in 

the reporting year. 

Other non-current liabilities decreased, mainly due to the scheduled 

repayment of lease liabilities, adjustments made to existing lease 

agreements in the reporting year and the subsequent measurement of 

the option to acquire further shares in driveMybox S.r.l. The corre-

sponding interest cost of lease liabilities had the opposite effect.  

The increase in non-current provisions is related to potential payment 

obligations for social security contributions arising from the insolvency 

of a former service provider. 

3. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF THE EUROKAI GROUP 

 
 

The single-entity annual financial statements of EUROKAI are prepared 

according to the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

and submitted to the Company Register. The management report of 

EUROKAI and the Group management commentary are combined in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 315 (5) HGB in conjunc-

tion with Section 298 (2) HGB. The development of EUROKAI described 

below is based on the company’s single-entity annual financial state-

ments. 

BUSINESS MODEL OF EUROKAI GMBH & CO.KGaA AND ECO-

NOMIC ENVIRONMENT 

Since the strategic realignment of EUROKAI in the 1999 financial year, 

the company’s business activities have mainly comprised the func-

tions of a pure financial holding company. 

EUROKAI’s largest equity investments are, calculated proportionally, 

its 83.3% stake in Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, the holding 

company of the CONTSHIP Italia Group, as well as 50% of the limited 

partner capital of EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen, jointly 

operated with BLG LOGISTICS GROUP AG & Co. KG, Bremen. It also has 

a 50% shareholding in the Personally Liable General Partner of EURO-

GATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, namely EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-

GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, and, in turn, in its Personally Liable Gen-

eral Partner, EUROGATE Beteiligungs-GmbH, Bremen. The respective 

remaining 50% of the shares are held by BLG LOGISTICS GROUP AG & 

Co. KG, Bremen, which, like EUROKAI, has contributed its container-

related subsidiaries to EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen. 

The company is a financial holding company and, as such, does not 

carry out any operating activities. Its business operations are restricted 

to the administration of its financial investments and to the subletting 

of quay walls and properties leased from the Free and Hanseatic City 

of Hamburg/Hamburg Port Authority to the companies of the EURO-

GATE Group. The economic conditions of EUROKAI essentially corre-

spond to those of the EUROKAI Group. Management of the individual 

entity is based on the KPIs sales revenues and net income.  
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equity. 

The increase in other current assets and current tax assets of EUR 28.5 

million to EUR 99.5 million resulted principally from the profit transfer 

entitlement against EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG in the amount 

of EUR 39.7 million (previous year: EUR 27.3 million), from higher tax 

assets totalling EUR 3.9 million as well as from higher fixed-term de-

posits of EUR 25.0 million (previous year: EUR 10.0 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents of EUR 180.9 million (previous year: 

EUR 189.8 million) reflected the sustained positive liquidity situation of 

the Group at the reporting date. 

The change in net retained profit was accounted for principally by the 

appropriation in accordance with a resolution of the General Meeting 

of EUR 7.5 million to retained earnings and the dividend distribution of 

EUR 20.6 million to the shareholders, as well as by the consolidated 

net profit for the period of EUR 39.6 million attributable to the equity 

holders of the parent for the 2023 financial year. 

Accordingly, equity increased in the 2023 financial year by EUR 15.9 

million (+2.7%) to EUR 595.5 million (previous year: EUR 579.6 million). 

Thus, the EUROKAI Group again reported a very robust equity ratio of 

65% (previous year: 64%). 

The decrease in non-current financial liabilities, including the current 

portion, resulted from repayments totalling EUR 5.2 million made in 

the reporting year. 

Other non-current liabilities decreased, mainly due to the scheduled 

repayment of lease liabilities, adjustments made to existing lease 

agreements in the reporting year and the subsequent measurement of 

the option to acquire further shares in driveMybox S.r.l. The corre-

sponding interest cost of lease liabilities had the opposite effect.  

The increase in non-current provisions is related to potential payment 

obligations for social security contributions arising from the insolvency 

of a former service provider. 

3. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF THE EUROKAI GROUP 

 
 

The single-entity annual financial statements of EUROKAI are prepared 

according to the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

and submitted to the Company Register. The management report of 

EUROKAI and the Group management commentary are combined in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 315 (5) HGB in conjunc-

tion with Section 298 (2) HGB. The development of EUROKAI described 

below is based on the company’s single-entity annual financial state-

ments. 

BUSINESS MODEL OF EUROKAI GMBH & CO.KGaA AND ECO-

NOMIC ENVIRONMENT 

Since the strategic realignment of EUROKAI in the 1999 financial year, 

the company’s business activities have mainly comprised the func-

tions of a pure financial holding company. 

EUROKAI’s largest equity investments are, calculated proportionally, 

its 83.3% stake in Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, the holding 

company of the CONTSHIP Italia Group, as well as 50% of the limited 

partner capital of EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen, jointly 

operated with BLG LOGISTICS GROUP AG & Co. KG, Bremen. It also has 

a 50% shareholding in the Personally Liable General Partner of EURO-

GATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, namely EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-

GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, and, in turn, in its Personally Liable Gen-

eral Partner, EUROGATE Beteiligungs-GmbH, Bremen. The respective 

remaining 50% of the shares are held by BLG LOGISTICS GROUP AG & 

Co. KG, Bremen, which, like EUROKAI, has contributed its container-

related subsidiaries to EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen. 

The company is a financial holding company and, as such, does not 

carry out any operating activities. Its business operations are restricted 

to the administration of its financial investments and to the subletting 

of quay walls and properties leased from the Free and Hanseatic City 

of Hamburg/Hamburg Port Authority to the companies of the EURO-

GATE Group. The economic conditions of EUROKAI essentially corre-

spond to those of the EUROKAI Group. Management of the individual 

entity is based on the KPIs sales revenues and net income.  
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

To show the results of operations, the following table uses an earnings 

statement based on operational management: 

 

 

2023 2022 Change 

EUR '000 % EUR '000 % EUR '000 % 

Revenue 11,866 93 11,170 87 696 6 

Other operating income 933 7 1,608 13 -675 -42 

Gross operating revenue 12,799 100 12,778 100 21 0 

Cost of materials -11,640 -91 -11,170 -87 -470 4 

Personnel expenses -172 -1 -108 -1 -64 59 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -21 0 -16 0 -5 31 

Other operating expenses -3,324 -26 -2,955 -23 -369 12 

Other taxes -129 -1 -101 -1 -28 28 

Operating expenses -15,286 -119 -14,350 -112 -936 7 

Net operating profit -2,487 -19 -1,572 -12 -915 58 

Net Financial result 2,643 217 2,426 

Net investment income 55,761 28,120 27,641 

Income tax -1,781 -6,242 4,461 

Net profit 54,136 20,523 33,613 

 

The subletting resulted in sales revenues from the letting of operating 

areas and quay walls as well as from other inter-company charges of 

EUR 11.9 million (previous year: EUR 11.2 million). Sales for 2023 were 

matched by leasing expenses in a comparable amount. 

The decrease in other operating income resulted from lower re-

charged costs for flood protection measures as well as income from 

the reversal of a provision included in the previous year. 

The increase in other operating expenses was principally attributable 

to the higher earnings-related profit share of the Personally Liable Gen-

eral Partner combined with lower storage fee revenues. Other operat-

ing expenses additionally cover administrative costs, legal and con-

sulting fees, as well as remuneration of the Supervisory Board and Ad-

ministrative Board. 

For the 2023 financial year, net investment income of EUR 55.8 million 

(previous year: EUR 28.1 million) was recognised. Net investment in-

come of EUR 39.7 million (previous year: EUR 27.3 million) was allo-

cated from EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG. Dividends totalling 

EUR 15.6 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million) were received from 

Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, and from J.F. Müller & Sohn 

AG, Hamburg, dividend income in the amount of EUR 0.4 million (pre-

vious year: EUR 0.8 million) was recognised. 

Tax expenses decreased by EUR 4.5 million to EUR 1.8 million due to 

the lower taxable profit attributable to EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, 

KG. 

For the 2023 financial year, net income of EUR 54.1 million (previous 

year: EUR 20.5 million) was recognised. Net income for the financial 

year thus improved significantly, in particular on the back of improved 

net investment income. A slight year-on-year decline in earnings was 

forecast for the 2023 financial year. 
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CASH FLOWS 

Based on the year-end result achieved in the 2023 financial year of 

EUR 54.1 million (previous year: EUR 20.5 million), cash flows from op-

erating activities of EUR –6.8 million (previous year: EUR 1.7 million) 

were generated, which were determined as follows: 

2023 2022 

EUR '000 EUR '000 

Net profit 54,125 20,524 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-
current assets 21 16 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) of provisions 
excluding accrued interest -333 100 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) of trade re-
ceivables including other current assets 
not related to the investing or financing 
activities 2,256 5,305 

Decrease (-) of trade payables including 
other liabilities not related to the invest-
ing or financing activities -2,294 -584 

Investment income (-) -55,761 -28,120 

Interest paid (+) 17 18 

Interest received (-) -2,660 -235 

Income tax expenses (+) 1,781 6,242 

Taxes on income and earnings paid (-) -3,946 -1,598 

Net cashflow from operating activities -6,794 1,668 

Net cashflow from investing activities 30,535 -8,980 

Net cashflow from financing activities -20,587 -15,302 

Net change in cash and cash equiva-
lents 3,154 -22,614 

Cash flows from investing activities mainly comprised payments to ac-

quire a fixed-term deposit in the amount of EUR 15,000 thousand (pre-

vious year: EUR 10,000 thousand), proceeds from dividends received of 

EUR 43,061 thousand (previous year: EUR 800 thousand), as well as 

proceeds from interest income of EUR 2,492 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 235 thousand). 

Cash flows from financing activities resulted from the dividend pay-

ment to the shareholders of the company in accordance with the res-

olution of the General Meeting of 7 June 2023. 

Cash and cash equivalents stood at EUR 64.6 million as at 31 Decem-

ber 2023 (previous year: EUR 61.5 million). 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 

The financial position of the company compared with the prior period 

was as follows: 

 

 

 

Assets 2023 2022 Change 

EUR '000 % EUR '000 % EUR '000 

Non-current assets 241,515 64 241,518 70 -3 

Receivables from participations 37,612 10 30,297 9 7,315 

Other current assets, cash and cash equivalents and prepaid expenses 97,018 26 71,486 21 25,532 

Total assets 376,145 100 343,301 100 32,844 

    

Equity and liabilities 

Equity reserves 369,480 98 335,929 98 33,551 

Provisions 1,903 1 6,564 2 -4,661 

Other liabilities 4,774 1 808 0 3,966 

Total equity and liabilities 376,157 100 343,301 100 32,856 

 

Receivables from long-term investees and investors were almost ex-

clusively accounted for by the profit share attributable to EUROGATE 

GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG. 

Other assets, cash funds and prepaid expenses primarily included cur-

rent income tax receivables of EUR 7.2 million (previous year: 

EUR 3.3 million) as well as call accounts and fixed-term deposits with 

credit institutions and bank balances amounting to EUR 64.6 million 

(previous year: EUR 61.5 million). 

The company’s equity ratio at the end of the 2023 financial year stood 

at 98% (previous year: 98%). 

The decrease in provisions was mainly accounted for by lower provi-

sions for income taxes of EUR 0.6 million (previous year: EUR 5.0 mil-

lion). 

The rise in other liabilities resulted principally from tax prepayments 

still to be made. 

PERSONNEL AND WELFARE 

As part of the merger of the container activities of EUROKAI and BLG 

LOGISTICS GROUP AG & Co. KG, Bremen, in 1999, all active employees 

of the company were transferred to EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG 

in accordance with the provisions of Section 613a of the German Civil 

Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch – BGB). Hence, the company has no 

employees of its own. 

EUROKAI remains responsible solely for the post-employment benefit 

obligations towards employees who left the company prior to 1 Janu-

ary 1999. 

OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS 

As a financial holding company, EUROKAI is dependent in particular on 

the economic development of the CONTSHIP Italia Group and the EU-

ROGATE Group and is therefore essentially exposed to the same op-

portunities and risks as the EUROKAI Group. Should expectations re-

garding economic or industry-specific developments prove to be incor-

rect, the earnings target may not be met. The Management Board of 

the Personally Liable General Partner currently considers this risk to 

be low. The opportunities and risks of the Group are presented in this 

combined management report (in the section: Report on expected de-

velopments, opportunities and risks as well as risk management sys-

tem). 

OUTLOOK 

The further expansion of La Spezia Container Terminal is of particular 

importance for the CONTSHIP Italia Group. In addition to this, attention 

will focus on winding up the liquidation procedure of CICT Porto In-

dustriale Cagliari S.p.A. i. L. In the CONTSHIP Italia Segment, earnings 

for financial year 2024 are expected to be at the previous year’s level. 

As a consequence of the expansion there and the further strengthen-

ing of the company’s equity base, La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A. 

is also expected to make a lower dividend payout in 2024 and subse-

quent years. For this reason, Contship Italia S.p.A. is expected to report 

a slight decline in net profit for 2024. Whether and in what amount 

Contship Italia S.p.A. will make a dividend distribution in the 2024 fi-

nancial year is currently uncertain. 

For 2024, the EUROGATE Group is expected to report considerably 

lower consolidated net profit, albeit still in positive territory, mainly 
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due to the one-off factors from the reversal of provisions included in 

the previous year’s result. 

From today’s perspective, EUROKAI’s overall result for the 2024 finan-

cial year is therefore expected to be significantly lower than in 2023. 

4. PERSONNEL AND WELFARE 

 

The following shows average employee numbers in the fully consoli-

dated Group companies (excluding Management Board, temporary 

staff and trainees): 

2023 2022 

Industrial workers 470 436 

Office staff 378 385 

848 821 

 

  



 

26 ANNUAL REPORT 2023   

due to the one-off factors from the reversal of provisions included in 

the previous year’s result. 

From today’s perspective, EUROKAI’s overall result for the 2024 finan-

cial year is therefore expected to be significantly lower than in 2023. 

4. PERSONNEL AND WELFARE 

 

The following shows average employee numbers in the fully consoli-

dated Group companies (excluding Management Board, temporary 

staff and trainees): 

2023 2022 

Industrial workers 470 436 

Office staff 378 385 

848 821 

 

  

 

COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT 2023  27 

5. EXCERPT FROM THE SEPARATE NON-FINANCIAL GROUP RE-

PORT PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 315B AND 315C IN CON-

JUNCTION WITH SECTIONS 289C TO 289E OF THE GERMAN 

COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB) 

 

The activities of the EUROKAI Group are characterised by profit-driven 

business practices and responsibility towards staff, society and the en-

vironment. Due to the high capacity intensity and long useful lives in-

volved, anyone building up and operating transhipment facilities and 

hinterland networks needs to think in large dimensions and focus their 

business on long-term success extending beyond individual economic 

cycles. 

The material non-financial key performance indicators for us affect en-

vironmental matters (energy consumption and CO2 emissions), the 

employee dimension (occupational health and safety), anti-corruption 

and anti-bribery and IT security. 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS – ENERGY CONSUMPTION AND 

CO₂₂ EMISSIONS 

The Group’s business activities consume large amounts of energy. En-

ergy consumption is a key performance indicator for the management 

of resources and has a direct impact on incurred costs, and hence on 

financial performance. Most of this energy consumption is due to the 

use of diesel fuel, mainly for the operation of straddle carriers and trac-

tor units used for container transport at the terminals. Other energy 

consumers are container gantries, buildings and area lighting. Electric-

ity and gas are used as energy sources in these areas. 

At the same time, energy consumption substantially impacts on the 

environment, because it uses natural resources and produces green-

house gas emissions. Together with the cost aspect associated with 

energy consumption, efforts to limit climate change and minimise the 

Group’s own carbon footprint are a socially significant issue that also 

drives EUROKAI’s energy management activities. 

The strategic orientation of the two segments that characterise the EU-

ROKAI Group, CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE, differs as regards en-

ergy consumption and CO2 emissions both from a conceptual perspec-

tive and in terms of progress. 

CONTSHIP Italia: Apart from the purchase of energy, CONTSHIP Italia 

manages its concept for energy reduction decentrally. Only energy 

procurement is managed centrally. All companies in the CONTSHIP 

Italia Group have a code of conduct which defines Group values and 

policies. This also covers the reduction of energy consumption. Each 

employee is required to declare their adherence to this principle. 

A quality policy (with ref. to ISO 9001) governs compliance with statu-

tory regulations and helps to raise awareness of the importance of a 

sustainable business development across the CONTSHIP Italia Group. 

The policy further comprises principles governing the avoidance of ac-

cidents and contamination, the monitoring and control of environmen-

tal impacts and an efficient use of resources, with the aim of continu-

ally improving processes and performance. Furthermore, the maritime 

terminal in La Spezia is also certified in accordance with the ISO 14001 

environmental management system standard and ISO 45001 health 

and safety management system. 

Line managers and management bodies are expected to encourage 

and promote a resource-saving attitude. The Group intends to steadily 

reduce the CO2 footprint resulting from the consumption of energy by 

investing in high-quality transport equipment and technologies. Local 

management is involved in this process and within the context of the 

management system. At the level of the individual companies, energy 

consumption and the financial impact of achieved savings are ana-

lysed. No formal, quantitative reduction targets are set; however, the 

Group pursues the qualitative goal to reduce energy and CO2 emis-

sions in absolute terms compared with the previous year. 

Energy audits pursuant to EU Resolution 2012/27 are performed every 

four years; the first audit took place in 2015. In December 2023 a new 

energy audit was carried out and the related report was produced with 

reference to the year 2022. These audits deliver proposals on further 

possible measures to reduce energy consumption. 

EUROGATE: In 2022, a central energy management system was estab-

lished on the basis of DIN EN 50001 aimed at achieving a structured 

improvement in energy efficiency. Responsibility for the central energy 

management system lies with the Managing Director of EUROGATE 

Technical Services GmbH. In parallel, an energy audit pursuant to DIN 

EN 16247 is carried out on a rotating basis across the various sites, 

which identifies efficiency potential. This flows into the central energy 

management. The energy audit is conducted every four years, and in 

addition the individual energy management system comprising key 

performance indicators, targets, regular energy efficiency assess-

ments, a list of technical measures, technical inspections, process au-

dits and management reviews is further enhanced. In this context, EU-

ROGATE is investing in renewable energy sources to enable it to meet 

its own energy needs. Energy efficiency is a decision criterion when 

making capital expenditure and purchasing decisions. 

Various large and smaller measures aim to achieve improvements by 

tackling the energy efficiency of the major energy consumers. 

Measures and projects are regularly implemented that focus on utilis-

ing savings potential, for example with in-depth capture and analysis 

of straddle carrier consumption data. The goal is to achieve a continu-

ous reduction in the consumption of fossil fuels. Energy efficiency 

measures have both a technical and an operational focus. EUROGATE 

remains committed to appealing to its employees’ sense of responsi-

bility with regard to saving resources and involves them in drives to cut 

energy consumption. EUROGATE regularly examines options for using 

more energy-efficient technologies. Thus the 2023 financial year saw 
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renewed investments made in additional more energy-efficient equip-

ment (hybrid straddle carriers). The Group-wide transformation pro-

cess launched in the 2020 financial year continued in 2023 with the 

goal to improve operational workflows and potentially have a positive 

impact on energy efficiency in subsequent years. 

Moreover, EUROGATE generates its own renewable energy from two 

wind turbines, three photovoltaic plants, and one wood-chip power 

station. It also runs three combined heat and power plants for energy 

generation. 

The most important key performance indicator at CONTSHIP Italia and 

EUROGATE in the area of energy consumption is consumption in total 

megawatt hours. 

Energy consumption is regularly monitored. The following table shows 

the current status of target attainment: 

 

CONTSHIP Italia* EUROGATE** 

Target Lower energy consumption Lower energy consumption 

Status 
2022 

62,363 MWh 
(of which 12,867 MWh renew-
ables - due to energy mix by 
the supplier)**** 

407,075 MWh (of which 13.358 
MWh renewables)*** 

Status 
2023 

54,396 MWh 
(of which 11,865 MWh re-
newables - due to energy 
mix by the supplier) 

333,760 MWh (of which 
11,780 MWh renewables) 

Com-
ment 

The increase in the share of 
renewables is attributable to 
the change of supplier and 
the resulting change in the 
energy mix. There was a 
slight decrease in energy con-
sumption as a result of the 
development in handling vol-
umes. 

In view of the increasing im-
portance of the carbon foot-
print, the goal is to further ex-
pand renewables and further 
reduce energy consumption. 
Energy consumption was 
down in the 2023 financial 
year. The decline in container 
handling is the main reason 
for this. Some energy-reduc-
ing measures, such as the in-
vestment in hybrid straddle 
carriers, are already having an 
effect. 

 

* Excluding fuel volumes from purchased intermodal services and ex-

cluding heating energy consumption in office buildings in La Spezia. 

 ** When calculating the key performance indicator MWh, the con-

sumption figures for the principal companies (the German EUROGATE 

terminal operations in Hamburg, Bremerhaven and Wilhelmshaven 

and the respective service companies at each location, as well as the 

EUROGATE holding company) were taken into consideration. 

*** The data published in the non-financial Group report for the 2022 

financial year has since been revised and adjusted, resulting in lower 

energy consumption. 

**** The data published in the non-financial Group report for the 2022 

financial year has since been recalculated to include the energy con-

sumption of OCEANOGATE (operation of locomotives), resulting in 

higher energy consumption. 

The most important key performance indicator at CONTSHIP Italia and 

EUROGATE in the area of emissions is total CO2 emissions in tonnes (t 

CO2). 

CO2 emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) are regularly reviewed. The fol-

lowing table shows the current status of target attainment: 

CONTSHIP Italia* EUROGATE** 

Target Lower CO2 emissions 1. CO2 neutrality by 2040 (re-
lating to Scope 1 and Scope 2 
emissions) 
2. 50% reduction of CO2 emis-
sions by 2030 compared to 
the 2022 base year (relating to 
Scope 1 and Scope 2 emis-
sions). 

Status 
2022 

15,896*** t CO2 130,832**** t CO2 

Status 
2023 

14,131 t CO2 106,111 t CO2 

Com-
ment 

The emission factor was ap-
plied to the full electrical en-
ergy consumption, as it al-
ready takes into consideration 
the energy mix supplied by 
the energy provider (Enel 
Green Power). 
The calculation also includes 
the CO2 reduction due to solar 
energy autoproduction at 
Sogemar.  
 

EUROGATE has set the target 
to be CO2 neutral by 2040 (re-
lating to Scope 1 and Scope 2 
emissions). CO2 emissions 
(Scope 1 and Scope 2) were 
lower in 2023 than in the pre-
vious year. The decline in con-
tainer handling is the main 
reason for this. Some emis-
sion-reducing measures, such 
as the investment in hybrid 
straddle carriers, are already 
having an effect. 

 

* When calculating total CO2 emissions, direct emissions (Scope 1) 

from diesel combustion as fuel for the vehicles of the various compa-

nies were taken into account, as well as indirect emissions (Scope 2) 

that result from electricity consumption. The CO2 emissions resulting 

from the consumption of natural gas are not included in the calcula-

tion due to its limited use (exclusively in the canteens of the intermodal 

terminals).  

** When calculating the key performance indicator t CO2, the con-

sumption figures for the principal companies (the German EUROGATE 

terminal operations in Hamburg, Bremerhaven and Wilhelmshaven 

and the respective service companies at each location, as well as the 

EUROGATE holding company) were taken into consideration. 

*** In the non-financial Group report for the 2022 financial year, CO2 

emissions for CONTSHIP Italia were recognised with 12,910 t CO2. By 
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ready takes into consideration 
the energy mix supplied by 
the energy provider (Enel 
Green Power). 
The calculation also includes 
the CO2 reduction due to solar 
energy autoproduction at 
Sogemar.  
 

EUROGATE has set the target 
to be CO2 neutral by 2040 (re-
lating to Scope 1 and Scope 2 
emissions). CO2 emissions 
(Scope 1 and Scope 2) were 
lower in 2023 than in the pre-
vious year. The decline in con-
tainer handling is the main 
reason for this. Some emis-
sion-reducing measures, such 
as the investment in hybrid 
straddle carriers, are already 
having an effect. 

 

* When calculating total CO2 emissions, direct emissions (Scope 1) 

from diesel combustion as fuel for the vehicles of the various compa-

nies were taken into account, as well as indirect emissions (Scope 2) 

that result from electricity consumption. The CO2 emissions resulting 

from the consumption of natural gas are not included in the calcula-

tion due to its limited use (exclusively in the canteens of the intermodal 

terminals).  

** When calculating the key performance indicator t CO2, the con-

sumption figures for the principal companies (the German EUROGATE 

terminal operations in Hamburg, Bremerhaven and Wilhelmshaven 

and the respective service companies at each location, as well as the 

EUROGATE holding company) were taken into consideration. 

*** In the non-financial Group report for the 2022 financial year, CO2 

emissions for CONTSHIP Italia were recognised with 12,910 t CO2. By 
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contrast, in the present version the previous year’s figure has been ad-

justed to 15,896 t CO2 to include the business activities of OCEANO-

GATE. 

**** The data published in the non-financial Group report for the 2022 

financial year was revised in 2023 and the calculation is now based on 

CO2 emission factors including upstream chain emissions. As a result, 

the CO2 emissions for 2022 are higher year on year. 

EMPLOYEE DIMENSION – OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND 

SAFETY 

Protecting the Group’s own employees and employees of external 

companies against work-related injuries or sickness and safeguarding 

their health and well-being has long been a top priority. Most work is 

performed using heavy equipment at the terminals (mainly straddle 

carriers and container gantries), and is susceptible to prevailing 

weather conditions. Considering the manual nature of this work and 

the deployment of much of the workforce in a three-shift system, pro-

moting and protecting their health is especially important. 

Occupational health and safety concerns not just the health and well-

being of our employees, but also has a vital impact on their perfor-

mance. Especially goods handling operations at our seaports require 

a high level of safety awareness. 

Management of occupational health and safety is the responsibility at 

both CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE of the individual companies and 

their respective managing directors, since it is influenced particularly 

by local factors. This is implemented through the EUROKAI Group’s 

overarching goal to reduce the number of industrial accidents to a min-

imum and to eliminate accidental deaths altogether. 

CONTSHIP Italia: In Italy, strict statutory requirements are in force 

aimed at protecting workers’ health. For example, in the event of 

proven malpractice, the management personally, as well as compa-

nies, may face prosecution. On the back of these requirements, various 

structural and organisational measures have been established. Each 

individual company analyses, documents and reports accidents to the 

respective occupational safety officer and the competent government 

departments pursuant to the statutory requirements in Italy. Accidents 

and near-misses are monitored and evaluated. These evaluations 

serve as vital information input for health-and-safety risk assessments. 

Regular training courses address the areas of risk identified and a 

health programme launched in 2019 addresses how to cope with 

stress and mental strain in the workplace and is designed to provide 

information about a healthy diet and a healthy lifestyle. The La Spezia 

container terminal of the CONTSHIP Italia Group is certified in accord-

ance with DIN EN ISO 45001. The certification audits deliver proposals 

for potential measures to prevent industrial accidents and improve oc-

cupational health and safety. 

 

EUROGATE: The management boards of the individual EUROGATE 

companies draw up and regularly update guidelines and operating in-

structions for occupational health and safety based on their specific 

workflows. As part of their duty of care, managers are tasked with as-

sessing hazards and monitoring compliance with the guidelines and 

operating instructions in their area of responsibility. Each location has 

an occupational health physician, an occupational safety expert and a 

safety officer. 

At EUROGATE, various technical and organisational measures have 

been put in place to lower risk exposure and reduce accidents. Ongo-

ing measures include regular training and instruction courses on 

safety standards and accident prevention guidelines, as well  as moni-

toring whether these regulations are observed. Standards are in force 

governing compliance with occupational safety rules, for example 

mandatory wearing of personal protective clothing and equipment at 

the terminal site. Workplaces are regularly inspected to assess haz-

ards at the workplace and to advise on measures to minimise risk. Any 

injuries and accidents that occur are categorised and evaluated. 

At the German terminals, along with regular training and briefings, a 

number of events with a focus on occupational health and safety are 

also organised. These are also attended by executive managers, since 

they bear particular responsibility to lead by example. These activities 

are regularly organised in cooperation with external partners. For ex-

ample, at the Hamburg and Bremerhaven sites, rescue exercises at 

heights were carried out with the local fire brigades. Building evacua-

tion drills were also conducted on the basis of practice runs of a fire 

alarm being activated. Regular health and safety briefings, site inspec-

tions and systematic accident evaluations are carried out at all sites as 

the basis for developing preventive measures and adapting risk as-

sessments. 

The key ratios for CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE in the area of occu-

pational health and safety are the number of reportable work-related 

accidents (accidents at the workplace and on the way to/from work) 

and the number of accidental deaths (as a result of accidents at work 

and on the way to and from work). 

The number of work-related accidents is regularly monitored as an in-

dicator of occupational safety. The following table shows the current 

status of target attainment:  
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CONTSHIP Italia* EUROGATE** 

Target Minimise the number of work-related accidents and prevent 
accident-related fatalities. 

Status 
2022 

Work-related accidents: 23 Work-related accidents: 268 

 Accidental deaths: 1 Accidental deaths: none 

Status 
2023 

Work-related accidents: 18 Work-related accidents: 250 

 Accidental deaths: none Accidental deaths: 1 

Com-
ment 

The decreased number of ac-
cidents reflects the improved 
safety awareness of employ-
ees as a result of the training 
and measures implemented 
to handle near misses. 

 The target to lower the num-
ber of work-related accidents 
was met; however, in January 
2023 there was one acci-
dental death. The drop in the 
number of work-related acci-
dents is attributable on the 
one hand to the lower num-
ber of containers handled. On 
the other hand, the lower 
number of work-related acci-
dents for this financial year is 
within the range of natural 
statistical fluctuations. 

 

* In Italy, accidents must be reported if a person is killed as a result of 

an accident or injured to a degree that renders them unable to work 

for more than one day. Some processes at the operating facilities are 

carried out by external contractors. Their employees account for 

around 40% of the total workforce on site. The CONTSHIP Italia figure 

does not include accidents involving temporary contract workers and 

external contractors. 

** In Germany all accidents must be reported that result in death or 

injury that prevents a person from working for more than three days. 

The EUROGATE figure includes accidents involving not only the com-

pany’s own employees, but also temporary contract workers. It does  

not record accidents involving employees of external contractors 

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND ANTI-BRIBERY 

To achieve long-term success, a company must conduct its activities 

in a compliant, fair and reliable way. Within the EUROKAI Group, the 

umbrella term “compliance” relates to the adherence to statutory 

standards as well as internal corporate guidelines and policies and 

working to ensure their observance in the EUROKAI Group companies. 

These include the relevant policies and principles for preventing brib-

ery and corruption. 

CONTSHIP Italia: CONTSHIP Italia has a code of conduct in place 

which defines the Group’s core values. Corresponding guidelines for 

conduct which reflect these values supplement this code. The code 

states that all activities of the CONTSHIP Italia Group shall comply with 

the legislative framework, the principles of fair competition, honesty, 

integrity, fairness, good faith, and respect the legitimate interests of 

customers, employees, shareholders, business and financial partners.  

In 2018, CONTSHIP Italia voluntarily implemented a surveillance and 

monitoring system to prevent crimes identified by Legislative Decree 

231/2001 (“Discipline of the administrative liability of legal persons, 

companies and associations, including those without legal personal-

ity”) for La Spezia Container Terminal and OCEANOGATE. In accord-

ance with this Legislative Decree, the required organisational, man-

agement and control model as well as bodies for monitoring compli-

ance with the guidelines were established. CONTSHIP Italia and Rail 

Hub Milano have established a surveillance and monitoring system, 

together with corresponding processes and control bodies. In 2019, a 

Group-wide whistleblowing system was rolled out. All internal stake-

holder groups were informed of this procedure as part of a compre-

hensive communication process. An external ombudsperson was ap-

pointed to manage the procedure. In November 2023, a new whistle-

blowing procedure was approved for all Group companies as a re-

quirement of the new Italian Legislative Decree no. 24/2023 (transpo-

sition of the EU Directive 2019/1937 on the protection of persons who 

report breaches of Union law). The amendment has also been in-

cluded in the Organisational, Management and Control Model of those 

companies that have already adopted it. 

Responsibility for adherence to compliance-related issues lies with 

the Management Board of Contship Italia S.p.A., the holding company 

of the CONTSHIP Italia Group, and the management boards of the re-

spective companies in the CONTSHIP Italia Group. Internal audits sup-

port the identification of improvement potential with regard to compli-

ance with the Group’s guidelines. On the basis of the audit results, 

each company develops an action plan to close identified gaps. 

EUROGATE: EUROGATE has established a compliance management 

system, which comprises a compliance policy with several sections, a 

code of conduct, a self-declaration of compliance with sanctions and 

an anti-corruption policy. The compliance policy, code of conduct and 

the anti-corruption policy came into force on 1 January 2017 and apply 

to all EUROGATE Group entities in which EUROGATE directly or indi-

rectly holds more than 50% of the shares or exercises entrepreneurial 

control, as well as to the MSC Gate Bremerhaven GmbH & Co. KG joint 

venture operated by EUROGATE and Terminal Investment Limited 

S.à.r.l. (“TiL”). The self-declaration of compliance with sanctions was 

adopted in 2022. The code of conduct and the anti-corruption policy 

are currently being revised. Cementing the Group’s commitment to fair 

and free competition, the guidelines and the code of conduct summa-

rise the Group’s values and provide the basis for our understanding of 

entrepreneurial compliance. These documents state that EUROGATE 

neither tolerates corruption nor permits discrimination. All commer-

cial decisions must comply with the law and meet EUROGATE’s stand-

ards of ethics and integrity as described in the policies and guidelines. 

Technical competence for the compliance management system lies 

with the legal department of the EUROGATE holding company and the 

compliance officer. Responsibility for compliance with the anti-corrup-

tion policy lies with the Group Management Board and the manage-
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CONTSHIP Italia* EUROGATE** 
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to handle near misses. 
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was met; however, in January 
2023 there was one acci-
dental death. The drop in the 
number of work-related acci-
dents is attributable on the 
one hand to the lower num-
ber of containers handled. On 
the other hand, the lower 
number of work-related acci-
dents for this financial year is 
within the range of natural 
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monitoring system to prevent crimes identified by Legislative Decree 
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companies and associations, including those without legal personal-

ity”) for La Spezia Container Terminal and OCEANOGATE. In accord-

ance with this Legislative Decree, the required organisational, man-

agement and control model as well as bodies for monitoring compli-

ance with the guidelines were established. CONTSHIP Italia and Rail 

Hub Milano have established a surveillance and monitoring system, 

together with corresponding processes and control bodies. In 2019, a 

Group-wide whistleblowing system was rolled out. All internal stake-

holder groups were informed of this procedure as part of a compre-

hensive communication process. An external ombudsperson was ap-

pointed to manage the procedure. In November 2023, a new whistle-

blowing procedure was approved for all Group companies as a re-

quirement of the new Italian Legislative Decree no. 24/2023 (transpo-

sition of the EU Directive 2019/1937 on the protection of persons who 

report breaches of Union law). The amendment has also been in-

cluded in the Organisational, Management and Control Model of those 

companies that have already adopted it. 

Responsibility for adherence to compliance-related issues lies with 

the Management Board of Contship Italia S.p.A., the holding company 

of the CONTSHIP Italia Group, and the management boards of the re-

spective companies in the CONTSHIP Italia Group. Internal audits sup-

port the identification of improvement potential with regard to compli-

ance with the Group’s guidelines. On the basis of the audit results, 

each company develops an action plan to close identified gaps. 

EUROGATE: EUROGATE has established a compliance management 

system, which comprises a compliance policy with several sections, a 

code of conduct, a self-declaration of compliance with sanctions and 

an anti-corruption policy. The compliance policy, code of conduct and 

the anti-corruption policy came into force on 1 January 2017 and apply 

to all EUROGATE Group entities in which EUROGATE directly or indi-

rectly holds more than 50% of the shares or exercises entrepreneurial 

control, as well as to the MSC Gate Bremerhaven GmbH & Co. KG joint 

venture operated by EUROGATE and Terminal Investment Limited 

S.à.r.l. (“TiL”). The self-declaration of compliance with sanctions was 

adopted in 2022. The code of conduct and the anti-corruption policy 

are currently being revised. Cementing the Group’s commitment to fair 

and free competition, the guidelines and the code of conduct summa-

rise the Group’s values and provide the basis for our understanding of 

entrepreneurial compliance. These documents state that EUROGATE 

neither tolerates corruption nor permits discrimination. All commer-

cial decisions must comply with the law and meet EUROGATE’s stand-

ards of ethics and integrity as described in the policies and guidelines. 

Technical competence for the compliance management system lies 

with the legal department of the EUROGATE holding company and the 

compliance officer. Responsibility for compliance with the anti-corrup-

tion policy lies with the Group Management Board and the manage-
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ment board of the respective EUROGATE Group company. On introduc-

tion of the compliance management system, EUROGATE also ap-

pointed a compliance officer. Furthermore, an external ombudsperson 

was appointed to receive anonymous information. If necessary, inde-

pendent external consultants are called in for advice, audits and as-

sessments. Once a year, the compliance officer presents an internal 

report to the Group Management Board and the supervisory bodies. 

Among other points, this contains the current status of the main com-

pliance risks as well as proposals for new measures or changes. 

When the compliance regulations came into force, all employees re-

ceived a copy of the anti-corruption policy and the code of conduct. In 

2019, following on from the in-person training courses conducted in 

2017 when the compliance management system was introduced, 

workshops were held for employees in particularly sensitive areas of 

the company. Group-wide compliance training sessions in the white-

collar area is planned for the 2024 financial year. 

Compliance management at North Sea Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH 

& Co. (NTB), which is operated as a joint venture between EUROGATE 

and APM, is conducted separately. The shareholders’ guidelines and 

policies are discussed with the relevant employee groups within the 

scope of regular compliance training courses. This means that the 

compliance regulations of both partners are also observed at NTB. Re-

sponsibility for this lies with the NTB Management Board. There is an 

internal control manual that defines the company’s main principles for 

combating corruption and bribery. NTB also holds regular compliance 

training courses. An annual risk inventory, an annual fraud risk assess-

ment and the monthly evaluations of the internal control system iden-

tify any impacts associated with this issue. 

The central key performance indicator at CONTSHIP Italia and EURO-

GATE is the number of confirmed cases of corruption. This serves as a 

key anti-corruption and anti-bribery metric and is reviewed regularly. 

The following table shows the current status of target attainment: 

CONTSHIP Italia EUROGATE 

Target No cases of corruption No cases of corruption 

Status 
2020 

none none 

Status 
2021 

none none 

Com-
ment 

The target was met. There were no confirmed cases of corrup-
tion in the reporting year. 

 

IT SECURITY 

 

Secure and reliable IT-assisted processes are the prerequisite to ena-

ble a container terminal to operate efficiently. This applies not only 

from an entrepreneurial point of view, but is also important economi-

cally. As hubs where national and international supply chains con-

verge, container ports help to ensure the smooth functioning of the 

economy and trade. Efficient IT security protects the processes at the 

container terminal and consequently the entire port system. Those re-

sponsible for management at CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE regu-

larly exchange information on IT security issues. 

CONTSHIP Italia: Work continues on establishing the IT security man-

agement system. Responsibility for IT security lies with the Group Man-

agement Board or the management boards of the respective compa-

nies of the CONTSHIP Italia Group. 

The main focus of the IT security concept will be on the availability and 

integrity of IT systems and data, with the aim of minimising potential 

damage and downtimes. The management concept includes infor-

mation technology and operating technology as well as the cloud ser-

vices and platforms used. In 2022, the focus was on improving the IT 

infrastructure. Further steps include continuing the infrastructure im-

provement process and defining the necessary organisational struc-

tures, procedures, roles and accountabilities. In addition, it is intended 

to terminate the outsourcing of the IT security officer and appoint an 

internal IT security officer. 

In 2023, a set of cyber security improvements was finalised, such as 

implementing the Sophos MDR, adopting the office 365 E5 security ser-

vice and activating the conditional MFA. The BitSight cyber security 

posture indicator increased from 530 points (March 2022) to 710 points 

(December 2023). Further actions will be put in place in 2024. 

EUROGATE: The ever-growing number of IT-based business processes 

that have emerged in recent years, as well as the dovetailing of EURO-

GATE’s systems with those of other providers along the logistics chain, 

demand a secure IT infrastructure. Cyber threats are on the increase 

all the time and are constantly changing. At the same time, the EURO-

GATE Group’s reliance on IT systems is growing, especially in light of 

the planned automation projects. IT security is therefore crucial to en-

abling and ensuring efficient business processes across the compa-

nies in the EUROGATE Group. Furthermore, as an operator of critical 

infrastructure, EURGATE is obliged by law to implement a state-of-the-

art information security management system. 

Technical competence for the EUROGATE information security man-

agement system (ISMS) lies with the IT department of the EUROGATE 

holding company (EGH IT). Overall responsibility lies with the Group 

Management Board and the management boards of the respective 

companies in the EUROGATE Group. An IT security officer (responsible 

for defining the ISMS and reporting to the Group Management Board) 

and an operational technology (OT) security architect have been ap-

pointed. An IT and an OT security board have also been set up and 

equipped with resources from the EGH IT department and EUROGATE 

Technical Services. A dedicated unit responsible for implementing the 

ISMS has also been set up within EGH IT. Measures and budgets are 

identified and decided as part of the annual IT planning process. The 

ISMS covers all German EUROGATE terminals with the exception of 

NTB, operated as a joint venture between EUROGATE and APM Termi-
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nals, which is managed separately. An ISMS guideline and policy reg-

ulate the organisational and technical requirements of the EUROGATE 

ISMS. The ISMS is reviewed and approved annually by the Group Man-

agement Board. 

The main focus of the existing concept is on the availability and integ-

rity of the IT systems and data, with the aim of creating a resilient in-

frastructure based on risk assessment and of minimising potential 

damage and recovery times. A key element of the ISMS is a risk man-

agement system geared towards minimising risk or creating an ac-

ceptable level of residual risk for EUROGATE. The ISMS is imple-

mented on the basis of the PDCA (Plan – Do – Check – Act) cycle. The 

ISMS approach follows ISO 27001 and in the area of plant and machin-

ery is additionally based on the IEC 62443 standard. 

In addition, the Group coordinates and exchanges information with lo-

cal and European logistics partners (for example via EU-ISAC), as well 

as with relevant authorities and EUROGATE service providers. These 

help to ensure that new risks can be promptly identified and ad-

dressed. The EUROGATE ISMS includes information technology and 

operating technology as well as the cloud services and platforms used. 

The EUROGATE ISMS defines and regulates the necessary organisa-

tional structures, procedures, roles and accountabilities. It encom-

passes organisational, technical, regulatory and staff training 

measures. All measures are conceived and approved by the Group 

Management Board as part of an annual planning process. They are 

generally structured systemically and include the development of 

rules and guidelines, measures to implement the requirements and in-

ternal audits to check their effectiveness. Ad-hoc measures may be in-

troduced during the year based on weak point analyses and alerts. The 

results are reported to EUROGATE’s risk management and to the Group 

Management Board in the IT security officer’s annual review. This re-

port contains the current implementation status, a review of the past 

year and recommendations for the coming year. The EUROGATE Su-

pervisory Board discusses the current security status in detail annually 

on the basis of this report. The current OT security status and the 

measures derived from it are reported every six months. Manual and 

automated compliance checks are performed as internal audits and 

extended where necessary. The results of these checks are included 

in the above reports. 

The goals and targets are set on the basis of a general risk assessment 

for EUROGATE and concrete risk analyses for the respective projects. 

The EUROGATE ISMS was audited in the 2022 financial year in accord-

ance with the guidelines of the Federal Office for Information Security 

(BSI), since EUROGATE is classified as an operator of critical infrastruc-

ture (KRITIS) pursuant to the IT Security Act (ITSG). The focus of the 

audit was to assess the status quo with respect to implementing the 

remedies identified in the 2020 audit as well as the current level of ma-

turity of the ISMS. The deviations and recommendations resulting from 

the audit were dealt with in 2023 within the scope of targeted 

measures. Implementation will be reviewed in the 2024 financial year 

within the scope of the next KRITIS audit. A malware protection solu-

tion supports the continuous weak point monitoring of IT systems and 

their patch status in the site networks and the company’s own cloud 

environments. A penetration testing tool is used for internal penetra-

tion tests. The allocation, setup and documentation as well as the 

number of active user accounts are monitored automatically. In addi-

tion, in various areas of the IT landscape internal audits to check com-

pliance with the guidelines are carried out and recorded in an annual 

audit plan. A tool-supported assessment of the achieved ISMS maturity 

level has been in use since 2023. 

The key performance indicators at CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE 

are system failures due to security incidents and cases of data loss 

and/or manipulation. These KPIs serve as central IT security metrics 

and are regularly reviewed. 

The following table shows the current status of target attainment: 

CONTSHIP Italia EUROGATE 

Target No system failures due to security incidents and no cases of 
data loss and/or manipulation 

Status 
2022 

System failures due to se-
curity incidents: 0 
Cases of data loss and/or 
manipulation: 0 

System failures due to se-
curity incidents: 0 
Cases of data loss and/or 
manipulation: 0 

Com-
ment 

The target was met.  The target was met. 

 

The separate non-financial Group report pursuant to Sections 315b and 

315c in conjunction with Sections 289c to 289e of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB) is published on the corporate website at 

https://www.eurokai.de/eurokai_en/Investor-Relations/Corporate-

Governance.  
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The following table shows the current status of target attainment: 

CONTSHIP Italia EUROGATE 

Target No system failures due to security incidents and no cases of 
data loss and/or manipulation 

Status 
2022 

System failures due to se-
curity incidents: 0 
Cases of data loss and/or 
manipulation: 0 

System failures due to se-
curity incidents: 0 
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manipulation: 0 

Com-
ment 

The target was met.  The target was met. 
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6. REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS, OPPORTUNITIES 

AND RISKS AS WELL AS RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Risk management is regarded within the EUROKAI Group as a perma-

nent task of management and is practised as a system that is actively 
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refer to the Report on post-balance sheet date events.  
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what changes the “Gemini Cooperation” may mean in the future for 

liner services in the various trade lanes, and what impact this will have 

on the handling volumes at the respective container terminals. How-

ever, the EUROKAI Group is well positioned with regard to the joint 
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Hapag-Lloyd, at the Bremerhaven, Wilhelmshaven, Tangier and, in fu-

ture, Damietta locations. 

The future shipping schedules published by Maersk and Hapag-Lloyd 

for the Gemini Cooperation to date indicate that Bremerhaven and Wil-

helmshaven, alongside Rotterdam, will play a significant role as hub 

ports for this alliance. 

The Hamburg location is likely to be impacted by the major investment 

project announced by Mediterranean Shipping Company S.A. (MSC), 

Geneva, to acquire 49.9% of the shares in Hamburger Hafen und Logis-

tik AG (HHLA). MSC is a long-standing major customer of EUROGATE 

Container Terminal Hamburg. After closing the transaction, which is 

subject to antitrust and other legal approvals, MSC is expected to 

transfer its existing services from EUROGATE to HHLA’s Hamburg ter-

minals, which entails a substantial risk in relation to these handling 

volumes. While this relocation is not expected to take effect much be-

fore the end of 2024, we are currently in intensive talks with existing 

customers with the aim of increasing their throughput volumes, allow-

ing us to at least compensate for the anticipated loss of the customer 

MSC through new services or additional volumes. For the EUROKAI 

Group, the completed adjustment of the Elbe fairway and the still out-

standing deepening of the Outer Weser was and continues to be of 

great importance to secure and position the German seaports in the 

North Range so that ever larger container vessels can operate into and 

out of Bremerhaven and Hamburg with fewer restrictions. Following 

the implementation of the fairway adjustment measures in the Elbe, 

the nautical problems encountered by the growing number of ever-

larger mega carriers had lessened somewhat, especially at the Ham-

burg location. In the course of 2023, however, the second expansion 

phase of the deepening of the Elbe was cancelled due to the discovery 

of extensive munitions. As things currently stand, it is not possible to 

foresee when the draught restrictions on the Elbe are likely to be lifted. 

Should the still outstanding measure to deepen the Outer Weser fail 

to materialise or be seriously delayed, this could have a highly adverse 

effect on the future development of transhipment at the Bremerhaven 

location. 

With the facilities of EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven, 

the EUROKAI Group is, however, fortunate in being able to offer its cus-

tomers an excellent alternative for the handling of mega carriers with 

corresponding draughts at Germany’s only deep-water port. The re-

cent investment and equity interest acquired by Hapag Lloyd Aktieng-

esellschaft as a customer at this terminal marks another important 

step in a positive development of this location. 

In addition to general economic trends, the Group is exposed to other 

factors and risks associated with future transhipment and transport 

demand and corresponding handling volumes at our container termi-

nals. These principally include the following aspects: 
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• commissioning and the increasing degree of automation of ex-

isting and new terminal handling capacities in the North Rage, 

the Baltic region and the Mediterranean, 

• commissioning additional large container vessels and the re-

lated operational challenges for transhipment handling (peak 

situations), 

• changes in the market, network and processes resulting from 

changes in the structure of the shipping consortia (mergers or 

consortium changes), 

• mergers and the establishment of joint ventures, as well as 

• price structures in the market. 

 

Added to this is the increasing shift to vertical integration among ship-

ping lines along the entire logistics chain. 

On the customer side, three major consortia continue – currently un-

changed – to dominate the market: 

• 2M with the individual shipping companies Maersk and MSC 

• Ocean Alliance, with the individual shipping companies CMA 

CGM, COSCO, Evergreen and OOCL 

• THE Alliance, with the individual shipping companies Hapag-

Lloyd, HMM, ONE and Yang Ming. 

 

Regarding the changes to the shipping consortia announced for Feb-

ruary 2025, please refer to our previous comments and the Report on 

post-balance sheet date events. Further changes in the interim are not 

currently anticipated, but cannot be ruled out. 

The trend on the part of the shipping lines to commission the building 

of additional ultra-large container vessels – in the meantime with ca-

pacities in excess of 24,000 TEUs – continues unabated. Given this 

trend, the EUROKAI Group will also see an increase in the number of 

ultra-large container ships calling at its terminals.  

Because the container terminals, at least in the medium term, still have 

capacity reserves, the trend towards consolidation is strengthening 

the market power of the remaining consortia/shipping lines and at the 

same time increasing the pressure on earnings. This intensifies the 

need to not only identify and implement further cost reductions and 

efficiency improvements at the container terminals, but also standard-

isation and automation measures. 

Under the working title Future EUROGATE, the transformation process 

and the accompanying implementation of a wide range of cost-saving 

measures and negotiation of organisational measures designed to in-

crease efficiency and productivity has taken centre stage at the core 

companies of the EUROGATE Group since the start of the 2020 financial 

year. Concluding these negotiations has required the full participation 

of the management and all employee representatives and demanded 

a strong sense of responsibility on the part of all those involved in or-

der to achieve the savings target of EUR 100 million per year with full 

recognition through profit or loss as early as possible, and like this to 

secure a viable and sustainable basis for the future of the EUROGATE 

Group. 

Further progress was also made with the implementation of the 

planned package of measures at EUROGATE Container Hamburg 

GmbH in 2023, in particular as regards the successful restructuring and 

reduction of white collar functions. In addition, a new company collec-

tive agreement was concluded in 2023, which from an operational per-

spective will make it possible to implement improved working time 

models from 2024. Accompanied by the ATOSS HR software that will 

also be used at the Hamburg site from 2024, this is expected to have 

significant effects. 

Failure to implement the planned cost savings as well as productivity 

and efficiency improvements in the course of the transformation, or to 

do so only to a lesser extent, would seriously jeopardise the competi-

tiveness and future viability of the EUROGATE Group. 

Against the background of increasing cyberattacks, the company has 

for some time now significantly stepped up IT security measures. In 

addition to the general basic protection of systems, software tools are 

used to monitor and identify anomalies in system and network behav-

iour. 

2023 was again characterised by a high degree of uncertainty, particu-

larly due to the ongoing war in Ukraine. The geopolitical risks have 

been further exacerbated by the Middle East conflict between Israel 

and Hamas and stand to intensify significantly if the centre of conflict 

spreads to other parts of the Middle East. In addition, further develop-

ments between China and Taiwan harbour latent risks. The outcome 

of the US election in the autumn of 2024 will also play a key role in 

geopolitical developments. 

Besides the general economic downturn, the current situation in the 

Red Sea is having direct repercussions on global container shipping. 

In response to attacks by Houthi rebels on commercial ships, shipping 

lines on the main Asia – Europe trade lane are being rerouted to Europe 

around Africa (Cape of Good Hope). The decision to avoid the much 

shorter route through the Suez Canal is causing considerable delays 

and general uncertainty. That being said, shipping companies have ac-

tually benefited from this situation recently thanks to higher freight 

rates. 

In connection with the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, state-

backed criminal groups have made clear threats to launch cyberat-

tacks on critical infrastructure in countries supporting Ukraine. Against 

this background, we have already identified and implemented exten-

sive additional measures to protect our systems. 

Legal risks 

Legal risks continue to exist in connection with disputed property taxes 

relating to La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A. for the financial years 

2013 until 2018. Provisions have been recognised for claims arising in 
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connection with this matter, which from today’s perspective are con-

sidered probable. 

Financial risks 

Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, 

comprise loans, finance leases and hire purchase contracts, as well as 

cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of these financial in-

struments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has access 

to various other financial instruments, such as trade receivables and 

payables, that arise directly as part of its operations. 

Derivatives for hedging interest rates are only used for the purposes of 

hedging open risks. Interest derivatives are used exclusively to opti-

mise loan terms and minimise interest rate risks as part of matching-

maturity financing strategies. Derivatives are not used for trading or 

speculation. 

The material risks for the Group resulting from financial instruments 

are interest rate risks, liquidity risks, foreign currency risks and credit 

risks. In our opinion, the aforementioned interest rate risk, foreign cur-

rency risk and liquidity risk are also to be viewed as opportunities. The 

Management Board creates and reviews policies for managing each of 

these risks, which are summarised below. At the CONTSHIP Italia and 

EUROGATE levels, the existing market price risk, as well as the oppor-

tunity it represents for all financial instruments, is also monitored. The 

Group’s accounting and measurement policies in relation to financial 

instruments, as well as quantitative details relating to the financial in-

struments used within the Group, are set out in Sections 2 and 29 of 

the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risks relates primarily to the 

Group’s non-current financial liabilities. 

The Group’s liabilities to banks are covered by short-dated interest rate 

agreements on the basis of the 3- or 6-month EURIBOR, plus the agreed 

credit margin. 

Giving loans a short-term wrapper on the one hand gives rise to an in-

terest rate risk if interest rates increase. On the other hand, if interest 

rates drop, this presents the opportunity of lower interest charges. 

Nevertheless, on expiry of each interest rate period, it is in principle 

possible to give loans a long-term wrapper and to hedge a certain in-

terest rate level; in this respect, movements in interest rates are con-

tinuously monitored. 

The stated values of financial instruments are presented in Section 29 

of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Foreign currency risk 

All fully consolidated entities denominate their invoices exclusively in 

euros. In this respect, currency risks can only arise in isolated cases, 

such as from foreign dividend income or the purchase of goods and 

services from abroad or the granting of foreign currency loans. Cur-

rently there are no noteworthy currency risks in the Group arising from 

such specific cases. 

Credit risk 

The Group’s credit risk principally results from trade receivables in par-

ticular from shipping companies. Significant trade receivables pertain 

to just a few internationally operating container shipping lines. The 

amounts disclosed in the balance sheet do not include allowance ac-

counts for expected irrecoverable receivables estimated on the basis 

of historical credit loss ratios and the current economic environment. 

In this respect, certain risks continue to exist due to an unclear me-

dium-term market and competitive situation. Against this background, 

the Group will therefore continue to closely and regularly monitor re-

ceivables at the CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE levels. However, de-

spite appropriate monitoring and warnings, in the current environment 

the risk of future credit losses cannot be eliminated entirely. 

Furthermore, EUROGATE has ongoing insurance coverage in order to 

minimise the risk of loss or default on receivables from key account 

customers. A significant change in the financial situation of individual 

debtors, the sector as a whole or the market may lead insurers to limit 

the amount of coverage for new receivables from these debtors or to 

no longer guarantee coverage. The same applies in the event of non-

compliance with contractual obligations to cooperate in accordance 

with the insurance policy. 

The Group’s credit risk principally results from trade receivables in par-

ticular from shipping companies. Significant trade receivables pertain 

to just a few internationally operating container shipping lines. The 

amounts disclosed in the balance sheet do not include allowance ac-

counts for expected irrecoverable receivables estimated on the basis 

of historical credit loss ratios and the current economic environment. 

In this respect, certain risks continue to exist due to an unclear me-

dium-term market and competitive situation. Against this background, 

the Group will therefore continue to closely and regularly monitor re-

ceivables at the CONTSHIP Italia and EUROGATE levels. However, de-

spite appropriate monitoring and warnings, in the current environment 

the risk of future credit losses cannot be eliminated entirely. 

Furthermore, EUROGATE has ongoing insurance coverage in order to 

minimise the risk of loss or default on receivables from key account 

customers. A significant change in the financial situation of individual 

debtors, the sector as a whole or the market may lead insurers to limit 

the amount of coverage for new receivables from these debtors or to 
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no longer guarantee coverage. The same applies in the event of non-

compliance with contractual obligations to cooperate in accordance 

with the insurance policy. 

In the CONTSHIP Italia Segment, there were no particular anomalies 

regarding the payment performance of the key account customer, so 

that it was again deemed unnecessary to take out insurance against 

losses from outstanding receivables. Nevertheless, CONTSHIP Italia 

also places strong emphasis on monitoring outstanding and past-due 

trade receivables. 

The credit risk in respect of cash funds and derivative financial instru-

ments is limited, as these are held at banks or transacted with banks 

which are awarded a high credit rating by international rating agen-

cies. 

The Group’s maximum credit risk is equivalent to the amount of total 

financial assets recognised on the balance sheet. 

Liquidity risk 

The EUROKAI Group’s liquidity is ensured by autonomous and inde-

pendent cash pooling of the subsidiaries with the respective holding 

companies of the sub-groups, both within the CONTSHIP Italia Group 

and the EUROGATE Group, as well as by centralised cash management 

functions within the respective corporate groups. 

Due to the control of capital expenditure and credit management, 

which is also performed centrally in the segments at holding company 

level, financial resources (loans/leases/rent) can be provided in good 

time to meet all payment obligations. 

On the basis of the present estimates, the EUROKAI Group has suffi-

cient liquidity to be able to satisfy all due payment obligations for the 

whole of 2024. 

There are currently no significant concentrations of financing risk 

within the Group. No potential risks to the company’s continued exist-

ence as a going concern, such as excessive indebtedness or insol-

vency, are currently evident or identifiable. 

Accounting-related internal control system 

The objective of the internal control system (ICS) with regard to the 

accounting process is to ensure with reasonable certainty that the 

financial statements are prepared in compliance with the applicable 

regulations. 

With respect to the financial reporting process, the following struc-

tures and processes are implemented within the EUROKAI Group, 

which also apply to the Group financial reporting process: 

 

• The principles, operational and organisational structure as well 

as processes underlying the accounting-related internal control 

and risk management system are laid down in guidelines and 

operating procedures that are adapted to reflect ongoing inter-

nal and external developments. 

• Within the EUROKAI Group, as well as within the CONTSHIP Ita-

lia and EUROGATE segments, there is a clear management and 

corporate structure. 

• The functions of the main divisions involved in the reporting pro-

cess – finances, accounting and management accounting – are 

clearly separated. Responsibilities and accountabilities are 

clearly assigned. The separation of functions and the dual con-

trol principle are key principles of control in the accounting pro-

cess. 

• The IT systems used for financial reporting are protected against 

unauthorised access by means of corresponding security sys-

tems. 

• Uniform reporting practice is guaranteed in particular through 

Group-wide terms of reference (e.g. investment guideline, pur-

chasing guideline, travel expenses guideline). These are regu-

larly updated. 

• Reporting-relevant processes are regularly reviewed through an 

external audit. Furthermore the respective IT processes are sub-

ject to external reviews. 

 

The Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner bears 

overall responsibility for the internal control and risk management sys-

tem with respect to the reporting process within the company. This in-

tegrates all divisions via a predetermined management and reporting 

organisation. 

To enable a rapid response to unexpectedly arising negative develop-

ments, regular – at least once monthly – reports to the Management 

Board form part of the control and risk management system. 

The expectations and goals form the basis of annual medium-term 

planning, which is presented to the Supervisory Board. For the current 

financial year, deviations from budgeted values are analysed in the 

monthly reporting and forecasts are prepared for the current year tak-

ing actual values into account. Reporting also covers the operating 

profit/loss of the company’s investees and thus reflects all operating 

activities of the EUROKAI Group. 

7. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SEC-

TION 289 A (1) HGB AND SECTION 315 A HGB 

 

ISSUED CAPITAL 

The issued capital of EUR 13,468 thousand has been fully paid up. It is 

divided into 6,759,480 ordinary voting shares with a nominal value of 

EUR 1.00 each, 6,708,494 non-voting preference shares with a nominal 
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value of EUR 1.00 each, and one preference voting share with a nomi-

nal value of EUR 520.00. 

The ordinary voting shares are made out to bearer. 

The preference voting share is registered and pursuant to Section 5 of 

the Articles of Association carries a preference dividend of 15% of the 

residual net profit for the year in accordance with the internal balance 

sheet pursuant to Section 16 of the Articles of Association, which ranks 

above dividends from other share classes. 

A nominal value of EUR 1.00 for each voting share entitles its holder to 

one vote. 

The non-voting preference shares are made out to bearer and are en-

dowed with a preference profit participation within the scope of Sec-

tion 139 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), which comprises 

an advance dividend of 5% (Section 5 (1) of the Articles of Association).  

The following entities directly or indirectly hold more than 10% of the 

voting shares: 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Hamburg 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg 

• Thomas H. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg 

• J.F. Müller & Sohn AG, Hamburg 

• J.F. Müller & Sohn Beteiligungs GmbH, Hamburg 

 

Furthermore, Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann indirectly holds more than 10% 

of the voting shares. 

With regard to disclosures by shareholders of the company pursuant 

to the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) appli-

cable at the time of notification, we refer to the information contained 

in the Notes to the financial statements of EUROKAI. 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO PERSONALLY LIABLE GENERAL 

PARTNER 

As at 31 December 2023, the Personally Liable General Partner F.W.A. 

Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, made a capital contribution of EUR 294 

thousand pursuant to Section 5 of the Articles of Association. The 

share of EUR 282 thousand of the fixed capital contribution carrying 

dividend rights participates in the net profit for the year proportionately 

to the share capital of the company, which is calculated on the basis 

of an internal balance sheet prepared in accordance with Section 16 

of the Articles of Association. In the case of future capital increases, 

under Section 5 of the Articles of Association the Personally Liable 

General Partner is authorised at any time to raise the fixed capital con-

tribution by up to 20% of the respective amount of the capital increase. 

The Personally Liable General Partner may instead of or in addition to 

the fixed capital contribution also acquire preference shares of the 

company or convert the already paid in contribution wholly or in part 

into preference shares of the company. 

APPOINTMENT AND DISMISSAL OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

AND AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

In the case of a Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien (partnership limited 

by shares), the duties of the management board of a stock corporation 

are incumbent upon the Personally Liable General Partner. In accord-

ance with Section 278 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 

in conjunction with Section 164 of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB), and lacking any specific provisions in the Articles of Association 

of the company, management is thus incumbent upon the Personally 

Liable General Partner, Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, represented by 

its management. The appointment and dismissal of members of the 

management is governed by Section 6 of the Articles of Association of 

this company. Under these provisions, the Administrative Board of Kurt 

F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH appoints the management for a maximum 

period of five years. Reappointments or extensions of the term of office 

– in each case for a maximum of five years – are also permitted. 

In the case of exceptional business transactions, the Personally Liable 

General Partner must seek the prior approval of the Supervisory Board 

of EUROKAI. 

Amendments to the Articles of Association are made in accordance 

with Sections 285 and 179 AktG in conjunction with Sections 161 and 

109 HGB. Pursuant to Section 179 AktG in conjunction with Section 19 

of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board has the powers to 

decide on amendments and additions to the Articles of Association 

provided these affect this version only. 

8. EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS 

 

Because the container terminals, at least in the medium term, still have 

capacity reserves, the market power gained by the remaining consor-

tia/shipping lines through consolidation, coupled with the pressure on 

earnings, is reinforcing the need to identify and further implement sus-

tainable cost reductions and productivity improvements at the con-

tainer terminals. 

CONTSHIP ITALIA SEGMENT 

The further expansion of La Spezia Container Terminal is of particular 

importance for the CONTSHIP Italia Group. 

In the CONTSHIP Italia Segment, earnings for financial year 2024 are 

expected to be at the previous year’s level with a slight increase in han-

dling volumes. 
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EUROGATE SEGMENT 

Based on the planning carried out in autumn 2023, a stable handling 

volume was initially forecast for EUROGATE Container Terminal Ham-

burg for 2024. However, the handling volume already took a downward 

turn in November and December 2023, a trend that continued in the 

early months of 2024. How handling volumes ultimately develop in 

2024 will depend to a large extent on the timing and transfer process 

of Mediterranean Shipping Company S.A. (MSC) services to the Ham-

burg terminals of Hamburger Hafen und Logistik AG (HHLA) once the 

transaction for MSC to acquire an equity interest in HHLA has been 

completed. We are currently assuming that the relocation will take 

place in the fourth quarter of 2024 at the earliest and will not yet have 

a significant impact on the company’s handling volume in 2024. 

For the Bremerhaven site, a rise in handling volumes in 2024 is cur-

rently expected. This outlook is largely based on the assumptions of 

the partners and customers of our local joint ventures. 

Wilhelmshaven continues to have very good chances of acquiring fur-

ther liner services given that most of the leading container shipping 

companies will commission additional ultra-large container vessels 

with a capacity in excess of 24,000 TEUs in the next few years. Achiev-

ing reasonable capacity utilisation of the EUROGATE Container Termi-

nal in Wilhelmshaven continues to have high priority. The acquisition 

of a shareholding by partner and customer Hapag-Lloyd AG has in light 

of the trend towards ever-larger container ships substantially im-

proved the growth prospects for Wilhelmshaven deep-water port in 

the coming years. In January 2024, Wilhelmshaven already acquired a 

new transatlantic service: since mid-month, Hapag-Lloyd has called at 

Germany’s only deep-water port on its “Atlantic Loop 4” service, which 

connects Northern Europe with the American Gulf Coast. 

The prospects of acquiring additional liner services in the next few 

years are also good. Aside from this, there are plans to convert a first 

section of shore-side operations to an automated system in the me-

dium term. 

For the individual companies in EUROGATE Segment, the 2024 finan-

cial year will continue to be dominated by the transformation and the 

further implementation of cost-saving and organisational measures 

designed to increase efficiency and productivity. 

On the basis of the above-described conditions for the subsidiaries and 

investees, together with the exceptional factors from the reversal of 

provisions recognised in the previous year’s result, the EUROGATE 

Segment is expected to report a significant decline in segment earn-

ings for 2024, albeit still in positive territory. 

The Segment’s overall profit situation is strongly influenced by the 

earnings of the container terminals, and here by handling volumes and 

throughput rates, as well as cost structures, as the key influencing pa-

rameters. One important criterion in this context is that the sustainable 

implementation of restructuring measures leads to corresponding fur-

ther earnings improvements in the 2024 financial year. 

EUROKAI GROUP 

Overall, a significant decline in consolidated net profit is expected for 

the EUROKAI Group in 2024, The main reason for this is the substantial 

drop in earnings expectations forecast for the EUROGATE Segment. 

The Group’s overall profit continues to be strongly influenced by the 

earnings of the container terminals, and here by handling volumes and 

throughput rates as the key influencing parameters. 

The EUROKAI Group remains relatively independent thanks to its diver-

sified European positioning and continues to be very well positioned 

in the competitive environment. 

Based on continued sound balance sheet ratios and with an equity ra-

tio of 65%, the EUROKAI Group is well prepared to face the challenges 

still to come. 

Unforeseen developments may cause the actual business perfor-

mance to deviate from expectations, which are based on assumptions 

and estimates made by the Group Management Board. We are not un-

der any obligation to update our forward-looking statements in the 

light of new information. 

9. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO 

SECTIONS 289 F AND 315 D HGB 

 

The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to Section 289f and 

Section 315d of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is published on 

the corporate website at https://www.eurokai.de/eurokai_en/Inves-

tor-Relations/Corporate-Governance.   
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ther earnings improvements in the 2024 financial year. 

EUROKAI GROUP 
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drop in earnings expectations forecast for the EUROGATE Segment. 

The Group’s overall profit continues to be strongly influenced by the 

earnings of the container terminals, and here by handling volumes and 
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Based on continued sound balance sheet ratios and with an equity ra-

tio of 65%, the EUROKAI Group is well prepared to face the challenges 

still to come. 

Unforeseen developments may cause the actual business perfor-

mance to deviate from expectations, which are based on assumptions 

and estimates made by the Group Management Board. We are not un-

der any obligation to update our forward-looking statements in the 
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9. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO 

SECTIONS 289 F AND 315 D HGB 

 

The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to Section 289f and 
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10. CLOSING REMARKS 

 

The Personally Liable General Partner has prepared a dependent com-

pany report on legal and business relations with affiliated companies 

and related parties, containing the following closing remarks: 

“We declare that the company has received appropriate compensation 

for all transactions and activities listed in the report on relations with 

affiliated companies and related parties, according to the circum-

stances which were known to us on the date at which the transactions 

were performed. No other action has been taken or omitted on the in-

itiative or in the interest of the companies to be reported on.” 

Hamburg, 20 March 2024 

Personally Liable General Partner 

Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg 

Thomas H. Eckelmann 

Tom H. Eckelmann  
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The construction of the onshore power plant at EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg is making an important contribution to the decarbonisation of 
shipping. (© Hamburg Port Authority, Andreas Schmidt-Wiethoff)
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DR. WINFRIED STEEGER 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

 

 

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Once again in 2023, the Supervisory Board carried out in full the duties 

incumbent upon it under the law, the provisions of the company’s Ar-

ticles of Association, its own rules of procedure and the German Cor-

porate Governance Code (in the following “Code”) . The Supervisory 

Board regularly advised and continuously monitored all business ac-

tivities of the Management Board of the Personally Liable General Part-

ner. It was guided in this by the principles of responsible and good cor-

porate governance. 

In the course of the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board was 

briefed in a timely and comprehensive manner by the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner, through both written 

and verbal reports, on the current position and all matters relating to 

the parent and the EUROKAI GmbH & Co. KGaA Group (in the following 

“EUROKAI”), as well as to joint ventures included in the Group report-

ing entity. These reports related in particular to  

• significant business transactions and ventures 

• corporate strategy 

• business policy 

• corporate planning (in particular personnel, financial and invest-

ment planning, including liquidity and refinancing planning)  

• the sustainability strategy 

• environmental, social and organisational aspects of corporate 

governance (ESG) in accordance with the requirements of sus-

tainability reporting under the CSRD (Corporate Sustainability 

Reporting Directive) 

• the business development 

 

The Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner also 

reported on 

• the development of container handling volumes, 

• revenue,  

• the current financial position of the parent and of the Group  

• the cash flows and financial performance, as well as profitability 

• deviations in the business development – stating reasons – from 

projections and agreed targets 

 

Further points of discussion included risk exposure and development, 

especially transactions having a possible material impact on the prof-

itability or liquidity of the parent and of the Group, and finally major 

investment projects and the risk management system, the internal 

control system and auditing practices, as well as the compliance man-

agement system. 

The disclosures made by the Management Board always included in-

formation relevant to the consolidated non-financial statement, such 

as environmental, employee and social aspects, IT security and com-

bating corruption and bribery (Section 289c of the German Commercial 

Code – HGB). 

The key focuses of extensive reports and the main issues discussed at 

the ordinary Supervisory Board meetings in 2023 were in particular 

• the current business development of EUROKAI’s Contship Italia 

S.p.A. (in the following “Contship Italia”) and EUROGATE GmbH 

& Co. KGaA, KG (in the following “EUROGATE”) investment hold-

ings, as well as their respective subsidiaries and major investees 
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• the operational performance and the strategic forward planning 

of the EUROKAI Group 

• progress reports relating to various port projects, in particular 

the Damietta Container Terminal, Egypt project 

• compliance and corporate governance-related issues 

• sustainability reporting and EU Taxonomy 

• business development of competitors 

• the status of the Future EUROGATE transformation process initi-

ated at the beginning of 2019 with the aim to ensure the long-

term competitiveness of the EUROGATE Group, including pro-

gress in implementing the accompanying cost-reduction 

measures 

• IT security/cyber risks 

• automation and ongoing digitalisation of the container terminals 

• the announced (indirect) long-term equity investment of Medi-

terranean Shipping Company S.A. (MSC) in Hamburger Hafen 

und Logistik AG (HHLA) and any resulting effects on the handling 

volumes of the EUROKAI locations in Germany 

 

The Supervisory Board also consulted with the Management Board of 

the Personally Liable General Partner on the economic environment 

and the possible ripple effect for the EUROKAI Group. In-depth 

consideration was among other things given to 

• the absence of a global economic recovery 

• an economic environment characterised by geopolitical ten-

sions and many uncertainties – such as the ongoing Russian war 

of aggression against Ukraine and the lack of stimulating im-

pulses from the Chinese market 

• the continuing high inflationary burdens in Germany and the as-

sociated high interest rates, which led to a reluctance to invest 

in both the private and industrial sectors as well as to a change 

in consumer behaviour 

• the decline in gross domestic product due to weak domestic and 

foreign demand (decline: imports –3%, exports –1.8%) 

• the repercussions of the aforementioned points on the business 

performance, which also led to a decline in handling volumes 

• significantly lower storage fee revenues due to shorter ship 

dwell times 

• the increasing concentration on the customer side with a corre-

sponding increase in market power and the commissioning and 

increasing degree of automation of existing or newly created ter-

minal handling capacities in the North Range, in the Baltic region 

and in the Mediterranean. 

 

Within the scope of its oversight and advisory duties, the Supervisory 

Board endorsed and monitored adherence to the Management Board’s 

corporate planning, in particular to the realisation of the actions and 

objectives contained therein. The Supervisory Board also discussed 

the corporate strategy as well as its implementation and its impact on 

the aspects relevant to the consolidated non-financial statement (en-

vironmental, employee and social aspects, IT security as well as com-

bating corruption and bribery) and ensured that the management tools 

are also geared towards environmental and social sustainability. 

Based on written and verbal reports, the Supervisory Board discussed 

deviations of the course of business from the projected targets as well 

as significant business transactions for the parent and the Group with 

the Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner. Reg-

ular consideration was given as to whether business transactions re-

quired the Supervisory Board’s approval in accordance with statutory 

provisions or the company’s Articles of Association. This was the case 

twice in the reporting year. 

The reporting and information requirements of the Personally Liable 

General Partner vis-à-vis the Supervisory Board are accessible on the 

website at www.eurokai.de/eurokai_en/Investor-Relations/Corporate-

Governance. As in previous years, the Management Board of the Per-

sonally Liable General Partner met its obligations to provide infor-

mation in a full and timely manner. 

MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

 

The Supervisory Board convened four ordinary meetings during the re-

porting year, all of which were held in the form of a hybrid in-per-

son/video conference, with the exception of one in-person meeting 

following the General Meeting. The Management Board attended all 

meetings. The Chief Transformation Officer of the EUROGATE Group, 

Mr Thorsten Schütt, attended all meetings of the Supervisory Board as 

a guest, with the exception of the constituent meeting on 7 June 2023, 

and on each occasion reported on the progress of the transformation 

within the Group. 

At its meeting on 4 April 2023, the Supervisory Board, in the presence 

of the auditor, dealt in particular with the single-entity and consoli-

dated financial statements, as well as the combined management re-

port of the parent and the Group, the dependent company report, the 

responsibility statements (“Bilanzeide”) and the report of the auditor 

on their audit of the 2022 single-entity and consolidated financial state-

ments. It was agreed in advance by circular resolution that the Man-

agement Board should also attend this meeting. The Supervisory 

Board approved the financial statements and management reports 

sand agreed to the proposal on the appropriation of net profit based 

on the respective recommendations of the Audit Committee. A further 

key point of discussion at this meeting was the findings of the audit of 

the separate non-financial Group report, which were reported on sep-

arately at the beginning of the meeting by the auditor appointed to per-

form a limited assurance engagement and which the Supervisory 

Board took note of and approved, together with the relevant opinion in 

the auditor’s report. 

Further deliberations and resolutions, based on the respective recom-

mendations of the Audit Committee, included the adoption of the Re-

port of the Supervisory Board and the agenda of the upcoming General 

Meeting with the proposal to appoint FIDES Treuhand GmbH & Co. KG, 

Bremen, (in the following “FIDES”), as auditor. The Supervisory Board 
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further passed resolutions on the revised objectives for its composition 

including the profile of skills and expertise and the diversity concept, 

on the Corporate Governance Statement including the Declaration of 

Compliance, reviewed and approved the Remuneration Report and 

also approved the auditor’s report on the audit of the Remuneration 

Report. The Supervisory Board also discussed increasing its number 

by two additional members and resolved to amend its rules of proce-

dure. 

At its constituent meeting held on 7 June 2023 following the General 

Meeting, the Supervisory Board by rotation elected its Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman as well as the Chair of the Audit Committee. The 

meeting resolved to authorise Dr Steeger to engage the auditor 

elected by the General Meeting for the 2023 single-entity financial 

statements of the parent and the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group and to include the audit of the separate non-financial Group 

report for 2023 to obtain limited assurance and the audit of the 2023 

Remuneration Report. 

At its meeting on 25 September 2023, the Supervisory Board was first 

brought up to date by experts relating to the CSRD materiality analysis 

and discussed the current and future requirements for sustainability 

reporting and its implementation. Furthermore, the Board resolved to 

appoint two additional members, Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kris-

tian Ludwig, to the Audit Committee, whose extensive expertise in the 

areas of ESG sustainability, auditing and financial accounting/report-

ing will support the Audit Committee in managing its ever-expanding 

tasks and responsibilities. 

At the beginning of the meeting on 11 December 2023, Mr Matthieu 

Gasselin (CEO) and Mr Tommaso Ferrario (CFO) from the CONTSHIP 

Italia Group reported on the current business development in Italy. Fol-

lowing the reports, the multi-year projections for 2024–2028 of the 

CONTSHIP Italia Group and of the EURGATE Group, including the ex-

trapolated profit for the 2023 financial year, was routinely presented 

and discussed. The Supervisory Board took note of the projections. It 

also approved EUROKAI’s annual projection for 2024 and took note of 

its 3-year projection from 2024 to 2026 and defined the key areas of the 

audit of the 2023 single-entity and consolidated financial statements. 

In addition, the Management Board was authorised to approve un-

planned investments by EUROGATE in connection with the complete 

refurbishment of the administrative building at the Hamburg location. 

In the 2023 financial year, two resolutions were passed by way of cir-

culation. In advance of its meetings to discuss the financial state-

ments, scheduled for 4 April 2023, which are regularly held in the pres-

ence of the auditor, the Supervisory Board unanimously deemed the 

attendance of the Management Board of the Personally Liable General 

Partner as well as that of the authorised representatives at those meet-

ings to be necessary. The Supervisory Board also passed a resolution 

on the Remuneration Report by way of circulation. 

Within the scope of its duties and based on the comprehensive report-

ing by the Management Board on the internal control system, risk man-

agement, internal auditing practices and the compliance management 

system, the Supervisory Board concluded that the EUROKAI Group has 

reliable and effective systems in place to deal with such issues in an 

appropriately organised manner. The same applies to the reporting of 

aspects relevant to the consolidated non-financial statement (see 

above) and their evaluation. It satisfied itself of the legality, regularity 

and efficiency of the company’s management. 

The members of the Supervisory Board always had adequate oppor-

tunity to discuss the documentation submitted and to contribute their 

own suggestions. 

Under the legal structure of EUROKAI as a KGaA (German partnership 

limited by shares) with a GmbH (German limited liability company) as 

sole general partner, operating business is not conducted by its Man-

agement Board, but by the Managing Directors of the Personally Liable 

General Partner, who are appointed by its Administrative Board, which 

also concludes their senior executive agreements. Consequently, ap-

pointments to the Management Board in accordance with the recom-

mendations of the Code under B Appointments to the Management 

Board are not the responsibility of EUROKAI’s Supervisory Board. It is 

therefore also open to interpretation whether the regulations relating 

to the remuneration system for the management board of an AG pur-

suant to Sections 87a, 120a (1–3) AktG indeed apply to enterprises such 

as EUROKAI with the legal form of a GmbH & Co. KGaA. While the legal 

literature appears to affirm that this is sometimes the case, the prevail-

ing view seems to be that they do not. Further information about the 

specific organisational distinctions of the legal form of a KGaA is pro-

vided in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

As a rule, the Supervisory Board conducts an efficiency audit of its own 

work and that of its Audit Committee every two years. The next review 

is planned for autumn 2024. 

The members of the Supervisory Board independently undertake the 

training and development measures required for their work. They are 

supported in this by the company with regular training measures, with 

the next planned for 2024. 

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

 

Giving consideration to the fact that EUROKAI is a pure financial hold-

ing company whose investment holdings operate nationally and inter-

nationally almost exclusively in the field of port handling, as well as 

indirectly in related upstream and downstream areas of activity in the 

transport sector, the Supervisory Board has specified concrete objec-

tives regarding its composition. These objectives are intended on the 

one hand to ensure that the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI GmbH & 

Co. KGaA in its entirety is familiar with the sector in which the company 

operates within the meaning of Section 100 (5) of the German Stock 
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Corporation Act (AktG), and at the same time they define a profile of 

skills and expertise that its members as a group should possess in ac-

cordance with Recommendation C.1 of the Code and describe the di-

versity concept pursued within the meaning of Section 289f (2) no. 6 of 

the German Commercial Code (HGB). These objectives do not, how-

ever, constitute binding requirements to be heeded by shareholders 

eligible to elect members, who remain completely free in making their 

decisions. Rather, election nominations made by the Supervisory 

Board to the General Meeting should take these objectives into ac-

count as a basis for implementation by corresponding resolution of the 

General Meeting. 

The diversity concept aims to comply with the recommendation of the 

Code under Principle 11, namely that the composition of the Supervi-

sory Board has to ensure “that its members collectively possess the 

knowledge, skills and professional expertise required to properly per-

form their duties; furthermore, the legal gender quota must be consid-

ered”. The individual objectives of the Supervisory Board in connection 

with the defined profile of skills and expertise and the diversity con-

cept pursued are described in the Corporate Governance Statement, 

which also reports on the status of their implementation. The state-

ment is publicly accessible on the EUROKAI website at www.eu-

rokai.de/eurokai_en/Investor-Relations/Corporate-Governance. The 

qualification matrix for the Supervisory Board is also published there.  

Members of the Supervisory Board and members of the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner were not involved in any 

conflicts of interest. 

Until the registration of the amendment to Section 11 of the Articles of 

Association resolved at the General Meeting on 7 June 2023, the Su-

pervisory Board of EUROKAI consisted of six members. To take ac-

count of the significantly increased demands on the members of the 

Supervisory Board in recent years in terms of time, responsibility and 

expertise, the General Meeting on 7 June 2023 resolved to expand the 

Supervisory Board by two new members. It was also agreed to deter-

mine the terms of office of the members to be elected to the Supervi-

sory Board flexibly up to the statutory maximum term of five years in 

practice. 

The periods of office of Dr Winfried Steeger, Mr Christian Kleinfeldt and 

Mr Max M. Warburg terminate with the end of the 2024 General Meet-

ing, that of Ms Katja Both with the end of the 2025 General Meeting. Mr 

Jochen Döhle and Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler were elected until the end of 

the 2027 General Meeting. Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian Lud-

wig were elected to the Supervisory Board for the first time at the 2023 

General Meeting, also until the end of the 2027 General Meeting. At the 

constituent meeting of the Supervisory Board regularly held following 

the General Meeting, Dr Winfried Steeger was re-elected on 7 June 

2023 as Chairman and Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler as Deputy Chairman of 

the Supervisory Board. In Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Christian 

Kleinfeldt, Mr Kristian Ludwig and Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler, the Supervi-

sory Board has four members with proven financial expertise in partic-

ular the fields of financial accounting/reporting and auditing pursuant 

to Section 100 (5) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

The following table shows the length of office of the individual mem-

bers of the Supervisory Board in 2023: 

Supervisory Board Members Member Since 

Dr. Winfried Steeger, Chairman 15 June 2011 

Dr. Klaus-Peter Röhler, Deputy Chairman 27 May 2019 

Katja Both 10 June 2015 

Jochen Döhle 25. August 1999 

Christian Kleinfeldt 11 March 2021 

Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta 23 June 2023 

Kristian Ludwig 1 July 2023 

Max Warburg 30 March 2000 
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further passed resolutions on the revised objectives for its composition 

including the profile of skills and expertise and the diversity concept, 

on the Corporate Governance Statement including the Declaration of 

Compliance, reviewed and approved the Remuneration Report and 

also approved the auditor’s report on the audit of the Remuneration 

Report. The Supervisory Board also discussed increasing its number 

by two additional members and resolved to amend its rules of proce-

dure. 

At its constituent meeting held on 7 June 2023 following the General 

Meeting, the Supervisory Board by rotation elected its Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman as well as the Chair of the Audit Committee. The 

meeting resolved to authorise Dr Steeger to engage the auditor 

elected by the General Meeting for the 2023 single-entity financial 

statements of the parent and the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group and to include the audit of the separate non-financial Group 

report for 2023 to obtain limited assurance and the audit of the 2023 

Remuneration Report. 

At its meeting on 25 September 2023, the Supervisory Board was first 

brought up to date by experts relating to the CSRD materiality analysis 

and discussed the current and future requirements for sustainability 

reporting and its implementation. Furthermore, the Board resolved to 

appoint two additional members, Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kris-

tian Ludwig, to the Audit Committee, whose extensive expertise in the 

areas of ESG sustainability, auditing and financial accounting/report-

ing will support the Audit Committee in managing its ever-expanding 

tasks and responsibilities. 

At the beginning of the meeting on 11 December 2023, Mr Matthieu 

Gasselin (CEO) and Mr Tommaso Ferrario (CFO) from the CONTSHIP 

Italia Group reported on the current business development in Italy. Fol-

lowing the reports, the multi-year projections for 2024–2028 of the 

CONTSHIP Italia Group and of the EURGATE Group, including the ex-

trapolated profit for the 2023 financial year, was routinely presented 

and discussed. The Supervisory Board took note of the projections. It 

also approved EUROKAI’s annual projection for 2024 and took note of 

its 3-year projection from 2024 to 2026 and defined the key areas of the 

audit of the 2023 single-entity and consolidated financial statements. 

In addition, the Management Board was authorised to approve un-

planned investments by EUROGATE in connection with the complete 

refurbishment of the administrative building at the Hamburg location. 

In the 2023 financial year, two resolutions were passed by way of cir-

culation. In advance of its meetings to discuss the financial state-

ments, scheduled for 4 April 2023, which are regularly held in the pres-

ence of the auditor, the Supervisory Board unanimously deemed the 

attendance of the Management Board of the Personally Liable General 

Partner as well as that of the authorised representatives at those meet-

ings to be necessary. The Supervisory Board also passed a resolution 

on the Remuneration Report by way of circulation. 

Within the scope of its duties and based on the comprehensive report-

ing by the Management Board on the internal control system, risk man-

agement, internal auditing practices and the compliance management 

system, the Supervisory Board concluded that the EUROKAI Group has 

reliable and effective systems in place to deal with such issues in an 

appropriately organised manner. The same applies to the reporting of 

aspects relevant to the consolidated non-financial statement (see 

above) and their evaluation. It satisfied itself of the legality, regularity 

and efficiency of the company’s management. 

The members of the Supervisory Board always had adequate oppor-

tunity to discuss the documentation submitted and to contribute their 

own suggestions. 

Under the legal structure of EUROKAI as a KGaA (German partnership 

limited by shares) with a GmbH (German limited liability company) as 

sole general partner, operating business is not conducted by its Man-

agement Board, but by the Managing Directors of the Personally Liable 

General Partner, who are appointed by its Administrative Board, which 

also concludes their senior executive agreements. Consequently, ap-

pointments to the Management Board in accordance with the recom-

mendations of the Code under B Appointments to the Management 

Board are not the responsibility of EUROKAI’s Supervisory Board. It is 

therefore also open to interpretation whether the regulations relating 

to the remuneration system for the management board of an AG pur-

suant to Sections 87a, 120a (1–3) AktG indeed apply to enterprises such 

as EUROKAI with the legal form of a GmbH & Co. KGaA. While the legal 

literature appears to affirm that this is sometimes the case, the prevail-

ing view seems to be that they do not. Further information about the 

specific organisational distinctions of the legal form of a KGaA is pro-

vided in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

As a rule, the Supervisory Board conducts an efficiency audit of its own 

work and that of its Audit Committee every two years. The next review 

is planned for autumn 2024. 

The members of the Supervisory Board independently undertake the 

training and development measures required for their work. They are 

supported in this by the company with regular training measures, with 

the next planned for 2024. 

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

 

Giving consideration to the fact that EUROKAI is a pure financial hold-

ing company whose investment holdings operate nationally and inter-

nationally almost exclusively in the field of port handling, as well as 

indirectly in related upstream and downstream areas of activity in the 

transport sector, the Supervisory Board has specified concrete objec-

tives regarding its composition. These objectives are intended on the 

one hand to ensure that the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI GmbH & 

Co. KGaA in its entirety is familiar with the sector in which the company 

operates within the meaning of Section 100 (5) of the German Stock 
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ATTENDANCE AND REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE SU-

PERVISORY BOARD IN 2023:

 

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is regulated by Section 13 

of the Articles of Association of EUROKAI. Detailed information is pro-

vided in the Corporate Governance Statement. As the remuneration of 

the Supervisory Board was increased at the General Meeting on 7 June 

2023, the calculation of the remuneration for 2023 is based partly on 

the old and partly on the new provisions and the date of joining, which 

is taken into account in the following table. 

 

 

 

 

 

Member 

Atten-
dance Su-
pervisory 

Board In % 
Atten-

dance fee 

Supervisory 
Board com-

pensation 

Attendance 
Audit Com-

mittee In % 

Audit Com-
mittee com-

pensation Total 

EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Dr. Winfried Steeger (Chairman) 4/4 100 2,000 68,500 2/2 100 3,044 73,544 

Dr. Klaus-Peter Röhler (Deputy Chair-
man) 4/4 100 2,000 34,250    36,250 

Katja Both 4/4 100 2,000 22,833 2/2 100 3,044 27,878 

Jochen Döhle 3/4 75 1,500 22,833    24,333 

Christian Kleinfeldt 4/4 100 2,000 22,833 2/2 100 6,089 30,922 

Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta 1/2 50 500 15,667 1/1 100 1,067 17,233 

Kristian Ludwig 2/2 100 1,000 15,000 1/1 100 1,067 17,067 

Max M. Warburg 3/4 75 1,500 22,833    24,333 

Total   12,500 224,750   14,311 251,561 

 

The calculated attendance at the meetings of the Supervisory Board 

was 89%, and at the meetings of the Audit Committee 100%. Prof. Dr 

Lopatta, Mr Döhle and Mr Warburg were each unable to attend one 

Supervisory Board meeting. Of the Managing Directors of the Person-

ally Liable General Partner, Ms Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello attended 

all the Supervisory Board meetings, as did Mr Tom H. Eckelmann fol-

lowing his appointment as a member of the Management Board (he 

attended the other meetings in his function as authorised representa-

tive). Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann was excused from one meeting. In the 

opinion of the Supervisory Board, it was not necessary to convene a 

formal meeting of the Supervisory Board without the members of the 

Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner in 2023, 

as the Chairs of the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee regu-

larly consulted with the auditor, in particular on sustainability issues. 

Regarding the attendance of the members of the Management Board 

at the meeting of the Supervisory Board and at the meeting of the Audit 

Committee on 4 April 2023, at which the auditor is usually present as 

an expert, it was decided in advance by way of circulation that the pres-

ence of the members of the Management Board and the authorised 

representatives was necessary. The Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board remained in regular contact with the Management Board of the 

Personally Liable General Partner and was regularly briefed between 

official meetings on the current business situation and development, 

as well as on significant business transactions and important pending 

decisions and consulted on issues relating to strategy, risk exposure 

and risk management, as well as compliance and sustainability. MSC’s 

acquisition of an equity interest in HHLA was of particular importance 

in this context. A regular exchange of information also took place with 

the Audit Committee outside of meetings, particularly in respect of the 

topics of sustainability reporting and the EU Taxonomy Regulation.  

FORMATION OF COMMITTEES 

 

For years, the Supervisory Board has formed an Audit Committee to 

enable it to perform its duties effectively and prepare topics and reso-

lutions. Up until 25 September 2023, the Audit Committee had three 

members, Ms Katja Both, Dr Winfried Steeger as Chairman of the Su-

pervisory Board and Mr Christian Kleinfeldt. Following the expansion 

of the Supervisory Board by Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian 

Ludwig with resolutions of the General Meeting of 7 June 2023, the Su-

pervisory Board resolved at its meeting of 25 September 2023 to also 

appoint Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian Ludwig as new mem-

bers of the Audit Committee. At the constituent meeting of the Super-

visory Board on 7 June 2023, Mr Christian Kleinfeldt was re-elected as 

Chairman. He meets the prerequisites for the Supervisory Board of an 

expert in the fields of financial accounting/reporting and auditing pur-

suant to Sections 100 (5) and 107 (4) AktG and is also knowledgeable 
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ATTENDANCE AND REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE SU-

PERVISORY BOARD IN 2023:
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Lopatta, Mr Döhle and Mr Warburg were each unable to attend one 
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lowing his appointment as a member of the Management Board (he 
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Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner in 2023, 
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the Audit Committee outside of meetings, particularly in respect of the 
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lutions. Up until 25 September 2023, the Audit Committee had three 

members, Ms Katja Both, Dr Winfried Steeger as Chairman of the Su-

pervisory Board and Mr Christian Kleinfeldt. Following the expansion 

of the Supervisory Board by Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian 

Ludwig with resolutions of the General Meeting of 7 June 2023, the Su-

pervisory Board resolved at its meeting of 25 September 2023 to also 

appoint Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian Ludwig as new mem-

bers of the Audit Committee. At the constituent meeting of the Super-
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suant to Sections 100 (5) and 107 (4) AktG and is also knowledgeable 
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in the areas of sustainability reporting and sustainability auditing. Con-

sistent with the further provisions of the Code, he is independent. With 

Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian Ludwig, two further experts in 

the field of financial accounting/reporting and auditing are members 

of the Audit Committee. Thus the Audit Committee also fulfils the re-

quirements for (at least) two financial experts contained in Section 107 

(4) sentence 3 in conjunction with Section 100 (5) first half-sentence 

AktG, which, pursuant to Section 316a sentence 2 of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB), apply to public interest enterprises and therefore 

also to EUROKAI as a listed company.  

The Audit Committee convened its ordinary meetings during the 2023 

financial year on 4 April 2023 and 11 December 2023, which were at-

tended by all members. The meetings took place as hybrid in-per-

son/video conferences. The Audit Committee dealt in particular with 

the audit of the company’s financial accounting and monitoring of the 

financial reporting process, as well as the review of the documents re-

lating to the 2022 single-entity financial statements and the consoli-

dated financial statements, including Corporate Social Responsibility 

(CSR) reporting. Further, it gave consideration to the management re-

port of the parent and the Group management commentary, the de-

pendent company report as well as the responsibility statements 

(“Bilanzeide”) relating to 2022. In addition, the Audit Committee also 

devoted time to the auditor’s reports and audit findings relating to the 

2022 financial year, the preparation of the decision to be taken by the 

Supervisory Board as a whole on the approval of the 2022 single-entity 

and consolidated financial statements and the proposal of the Person-

ally Liable General Partner on the appropriation of the net retained 

profit. It specifically discussed the selection and independence of the 

auditor to be proposed to the General Meeting for the audit of the 2023 

financial statements, as well as the fee agreement with the auditor. 

The Audit Committee also reviewed the structure and effectiveness of 

the internal control management system, the risk management system 

and the internal audit management system, as well as the compliance 

management system. Furthermore, it gave careful consideration to the 

EUROGATE yearly reports of the data protection officer, the compli-

ance officer and the IT security officer. The Audit Committee discussed 

the 2023 half-yearly financial report with the Management Board of the 

Personally Liable General Partner. Furthermore, the Audit Committee 

gave consideration to the key points of the audit as defined by the 

ESMA (European Securities and Markets Authority) and the German 

Federal Financial Services Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt für Fi-

nanzdienstlaistungsaufsicht), and deliberated on the separate non-fi-

nancial Group report and the related report on limited assurance en-

gagement by FIDES (see below). At its meeting of 4 April 2023, the Audit 

Committee also appraised the quality of the audit performed by the 

auditor FIDES. Finally, the Audit Committee discussed the sustainabil-

ity aspects relating to the company in detail with the Management 

Board. The comprehensive audit plan for the internal audit for 2024 

was not available until early 2024 and was approved subsequently. 

AUDIT OF THE SINGLE-ENTITY AND CONSOLIDATED FINAN-

CIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Following extensive deliberations by the Audit Committee, the Super-

visory Board, in granting the audit mandate, also agreed the audit fees 

with the auditor, obtained the necessary statement of independence 

and defined the key points of the audit of the 2023 consolidated finan-

cial statements and single-entity financial statements. 

The annual financial statements and the combined management re-

port of the parent for the 2023 financial year were drawn up in accord-

ance with the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

and the consolidated financial statements and combined manage-

ment report for the Group were prepared in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the EU, in 

conjunction with the supplementary requirements pursuant to the pro-

visions of Section 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the 

supplementary provisions of the Articles of Association. The auditing 

criteria for the Group management commentary, which was combined 

with the management report of the parent, were Sections 315 and 315a 

of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The single-entity financial 

statements, including the accounting documents for the financial year 

2023 on which they are based, and the consolidated financial state-

ments and combined management report for EUROKAI and for the 

Group, have been audited by the auditor, FIDES, in accordance with 

Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the EU Regu-

lation on specific requirements regarding statutory audits of public-in-

terest entities (APrVO), taking into account German auditing regula-

tions and German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial State-

ment Audits promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Ger-

many (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer IDW) and each been issued an un-

qualified audit opinion. 

In this context, the auditor also determined that the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner has taken the measures 

required pursuant to Section 91 (2) and (3) of the German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG), on the one hand, to establish an appropriate and 

effective internal control system and risk management system com-

mensurate with the scope of EUROKAI’s business activities and risk 

exposure, and, on the other hand, has put in place an appropriate mon-

itoring system which is suitable in its design and handling to identify 

at an early stage developments which could jeopardise the continued 

existence of the EUROKAI Group. Furthermore, in the course of the au-

dit of the financial statements, the auditor did not identify any reason 

to call into question the effectiveness of the accounting-related inter-

nal control system.  

The auditor examined the report on relationships with affiliated com-

panies (dependent company report) and, in accordance with Section 

312 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), issued the following 

opinion: 
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“In our opinion, based on our audit and the conclusions reached 

therein, we confirm that 

1. the factual statements contained in the report are correct, 

2. the company’s consideration with respect to all legal transac-
tions stated in the report was not inappropriately high .“ 

The single-entity financial statements of the parent, the consolidated 

financial statements, the combined management report for the parent 

and for the Group, the proposal on the appropriation of net retained 

profit, the report on relationships with affiliated companies and the au-

ditor’s reports were distributed to all members of the Supervisory 

Board in a timely manner immediately after their preparation. 

Following a detailed preliminary assessment by the Audit Committee, 

which focused in particular on the key audit matters addressed in the 

auditor’s reports on the single-entity financial statements and the con-

solidated financial statements, the Supervisory Board at its meeting of 

4 April 2024 in the presence of the auditor and the Management Board 

of the Personally Liable General Partner reviewed the single-entity fi-

nancial statements of the parent and the consolidated financial state-

ments of the Group as at 31 December 2023, as well as the combined 

management report for the parent and for the Group, the proposal on 

the appropriation of net profit, the report on relationships with affili-

ated companies for the financial year 2023 and the findings of the au-

ditor’s audits of the above-mentioned financial statements as well as 

the combined management report for the parent and for the Group and 

the report on relationships with affiliated companies. At this meeting, 

the above documents were discussed in detail with the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner in the presence of the 

auditor. Prior to the meeting, the Supervisory Board had resolved that 

the Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner 

should attend the meeting in the presence of the auditor, as the Super-

visory Board deemed their attendance necessary for reasons of effi-

ciency and to answer questions. 

FIDES reported to the Supervisory Board on the course of its audits and 

on the main findings, with a particular focus on the key audit matters 

and the performed audit activities. Following this report, all the Super-

visory Board’s questions were answered in  full by the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner and the auditor. 

Based on the final results of the comprehensive reviews by the Audit 

Committee and the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board con-

curred with the single-entity financial statements of the parent, the 

consolidated financial statements, the combined management report 

for the parent and for the Group, the proposal on the appropriation of 

net profit, the report on relationships with affiliated companies, includ-

ing the closing remarks of the Management Board of the Personally 

Liable General Partner contained therein, as well as the auditor’s find-

ings and reports. It approved the financial statements of EUROKAI and 

of the Group drawn up by the Management Board as at 31 December 

2023. The Supervisory Board approved the proposal on the appropria-

tion of net profit.  

In line with the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Supervi-

sory Board resolved to propose to the General Meeting that FIDES 

Treuhand GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen, be granted the audit mandate for 

the 2024 financial year and as a precautionary measure also be ap-

pointed to review the half-yearly financial report for the 2024 financial 

year. For this purpose, a statement of independence was obtained 

from the auditor. 

The Supervisory Board, jointly with the Management Board of the Per-

sonally Liable General Partner, resolved upon the wording and submis-

sion of the Corporate Governance Statement required under Sections 

289f and 315d of the German Commercial Code (HGB), including the 

Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Section 161 of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG), for the 2023 financial year. 

The Remuneration Report in accordance with Section 162 AktG was 

reviewed and approved by the Supervisory Board and no objections 

were raised. The Supervisory Board also approved the auditor’s report 

on the audit of the Remuneration Report. 

For the 2023 financial year, EUROKAI was required to provide a consol-

idated non-financial statement in accordance with Sections 315b, 315c 

in conjunction with Sections 289c to 289e of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB). This requirement was met through the preparation of a 

separate non-financial Group report, which is published on the EU-

ROKAI website. The Supervisory Board commissioned FIDES to per-

form an assurance engagement on the non-financial Group report to 

obtain limited assurance in accordance with ISAE (International 

Standards on Assurance Engagements) 3000 (revised). The separate 

non-financial Group report of EUROKAI covers the CONTSHIP Italia 

and EUROGATE segments. All members of the Supervisory Board re-

ceived in a timely manner the separate non-financial Group report and 

the independent auditor’s report of FIDES on the assurance engage-

ment to obtain limited assurance. The responsible auditor also at-

tended the meeting of the Supervisory Board and presented the audit 

findings. Due time and attention was devoted to the discussion of the 

separate non-financial Group report. No objections were raised on the 

basis of the Supervisory Board’s own review and the separate non -fi-

nancial Group report was approved.  
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“In our opinion, based on our audit and the conclusions reached 

therein, we confirm that 
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of the Personally Liable General Partner reviewed the single-entity fi-

nancial statements of the parent and the consolidated financial state-

ments of the Group as at 31 December 2023, as well as the combined 

management report for the parent and for the Group, the proposal on 

the appropriation of net profit, the report on relationships with affili-

ated companies for the financial year 2023 and the findings of the au-

ditor’s audits of the above-mentioned financial statements as well as 

the combined management report for the parent and for the Group and 

the report on relationships with affiliated companies. At this meeting, 

the above documents were discussed in detail with the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner in the presence of the 

auditor. Prior to the meeting, the Supervisory Board had resolved that 

the Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner 

should attend the meeting in the presence of the auditor, as the Super-

visory Board deemed their attendance necessary for reasons of effi-

ciency and to answer questions. 

FIDES reported to the Supervisory Board on the course of its audits and 

on the main findings, with a particular focus on the key audit matters 

and the performed audit activities. Following this report, all the Super-

visory Board’s questions were answered in  full by the Management 

Board of the Personally Liable General Partner and the auditor. 

Based on the final results of the comprehensive reviews by the Audit 

Committee and the Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board con-

curred with the single-entity financial statements of the parent, the 

consolidated financial statements, the combined management report 

for the parent and for the Group, the proposal on the appropriation of 

net profit, the report on relationships with affiliated companies, includ-

ing the closing remarks of the Management Board of the Personally 

Liable General Partner contained therein, as well as the auditor’s find-

ings and reports. It approved the financial statements of EUROKAI and 

of the Group drawn up by the Management Board as at 31 December 

2023. The Supervisory Board approved the proposal on the appropria-

tion of net profit.  

In line with the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Supervi-

sory Board resolved to propose to the General Meeting that FIDES 

Treuhand GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen, be granted the audit mandate for 

the 2024 financial year and as a precautionary measure also be ap-

pointed to review the half-yearly financial report for the 2024 financial 

year. For this purpose, a statement of independence was obtained 

from the auditor. 

The Supervisory Board, jointly with the Management Board of the Per-

sonally Liable General Partner, resolved upon the wording and submis-

sion of the Corporate Governance Statement required under Sections 

289f and 315d of the German Commercial Code (HGB), including the 

Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Section 161 of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG), for the 2023 financial year. 

The Remuneration Report in accordance with Section 162 AktG was 

reviewed and approved by the Supervisory Board and no objections 

were raised. The Supervisory Board also approved the auditor’s report 

on the audit of the Remuneration Report. 

For the 2023 financial year, EUROKAI was required to provide a consol-

idated non-financial statement in accordance with Sections 315b, 315c 

in conjunction with Sections 289c to 289e of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB). This requirement was met through the preparation of a 

separate non-financial Group report, which is published on the EU-

ROKAI website. The Supervisory Board commissioned FIDES to per-

form an assurance engagement on the non-financial Group report to 

obtain limited assurance in accordance with ISAE (International 

Standards on Assurance Engagements) 3000 (revised). The separate 

non-financial Group report of EUROKAI covers the CONTSHIP Italia 

and EUROGATE segments. All members of the Supervisory Board re-

ceived in a timely manner the separate non-financial Group report and 

the independent auditor’s report of FIDES on the assurance engage-

ment to obtain limited assurance. The responsible auditor also at-

tended the meeting of the Supervisory Board and presented the audit 

findings. Due time and attention was devoted to the discussion of the 

separate non-financial Group report. No objections were raised on the 

basis of the Supervisory Board’s own review and the separate non -fi-

nancial Group report was approved.  
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The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management Board of 

the Personally Liable General Partner and all employees in the affili-

ated companies and joint ventures of EUROKAI in Germany and abroad 

for their extraordinary achievements and unswerving commitment 

once again in the 2023 financial year. 

Hamburg, Germany, 4 April 2024 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

 

 

 

Dr. Winfried Steeger 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

The following joint Corporate Governance Statement made by the Per-

sonally Liable General Partner and the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI 

GmbH & Co. KGaA (in the following “EUROKAI”) pursuant to Sections 

289f and 315d of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is the central 

element of corporate governance reporting in accordance with Princi-

ple 23 of the German Corporate Governance Code in the current ver-

sion of 28 April 2022 published by the German Federal Ministry of Jus-

tice in the official section of the Federal Gazette on 27 June 2022 (in 

the following “Code”). It also includes the Declaration of Compliance 

pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) 

and is made publicly accessible on the EUROKAI website at www.eu-

rokai.com/Investor-Relations/Corporate-Governance. The declara-

tions of compliance and the corporate governance statements from 

previous years are also available there. 

As a company listed on the German stock exchange and having its 

head office in Germany, the general corporate governance framework 

for EUROKAI is governed by the applicable laws, the Articles of Associ-

ation and the Code. In the management and supervision of the com-

pany, the Personally Liable General Partner and the Supervisory Board 

not only take the enterprise’s best interests into account, but also and 

in particular factors relating to social responsibility as well as sustain-

ability. Apart from justified exceptions, EUROKAI complies with the rec-

ommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

EUROKAI is a partnership limited by shares and as such is an independ-

ent legal entity pursuant to Section 278 (1) of the German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG), in which at least one partner is generally liable 

with the entirety of its assets vis-à-vis the company’s creditors (Person-

ally Liable General Partner) and the other partners have a stake in the 

authorised capital, which is divided into shares, without being person-

ally liable for the company’s liabilities (limited partners).  

While the personally liable managing partner of a KGaA (partnership 

limited by shares) can in many respects be compared to the manage-

ment board of a stock corporation and Section 283 AktG therefore rules 

that a number of provisions governing the management board of a 

stock corporation shall apply mutatis mutandis to the personally liable 

general partner of a KGaA, there is, however, one significant difference. 

The personally liable general partner of a KGaA – contrary to the man-

agement board of an AG pursuant to Section 84 AktG – is not appointed 

and dismissed by its supervisory board; rather, it is a shareholder. Thus 

the supervisory board of a KGaA does not have the power to make per-

sonnel appointments or dismissals. 

Furthermore, special provisions apply if the personally liable general 

partner is not a natural person but an enterprise, such as in the case of 

EUROKAI a private limited company (GmbH). In this case, the internal 

regulations of the GmbH apply with respect to the appointment and 

dismissal of the managing directors of the GmbH and to the terms of 

their employment contracts. 

Personally Liable General Partner of EUROKAI is Kurt F.W.A. Eckel-

mann GmbH, Hamburg. Its Managing Directors are appointed and dis-

missed by its Administrative Board. The latter also concludes the sen-

ior executive agreements with the Managing Directors. Currently ap-

pointed as Managing Directors are Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann (Chair-

man) and Mr Tom H. Eckelmann. Until her passing on 6 March 2024, 

Ms Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello was also a Managing Director of Kurt 

F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH. 

Furthermore, the duty of the supervisory boards of listed companies to 

set target quotas for the proportion of women on their executive board, 

as required under Section 111 (5) AktG therefore cannot apply to the 

appointment of the Management Board of Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann 

GmbH, because this responsibility does not lie with the Supervisory 

Board. If, regarding the composition of the governing body entitled to 

represent the company – pertaining here to Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann 

GmbH – Section 289f (2) no. 6 HGB requires a description of the pur-

sued diversity concept, this is not possible for the same reasons; this 

is a decision taken not by the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI, but au-

tonomously by the Administrative Board of Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann 

GmbH. For the same reasons, long-term succession planning as rec-

ommended in B.2 of the Code cannot be carried out by the Supervisory 

Board, nor can the other recommendations set out in Section B of the 

Code regarding Appointments to the Management Board. 

EUROKAI has no employees of its own. Accordingly, the obligation to 

define target values for the percentage of women at the top tiers of 

management is also not applicable at the EUROKAI level. Tasks not 

related to the management structure of EUROKAI, such as finances, 

management accounting and financial accounting/reporting are han-

dled within the scope of a service agreement by EUROGATE GmbH & 

Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen (in the following “EUROGATE”), see below.  

EUROKAI is a financial holding company. Its principal ownership inter-

ests are the 66.6% holding in Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, 

as well as the 50% interest in EUROGATE, the holding company of the 

EUROGATE Group, in which BLG Logistics Group AG & Co. KG, Bremen, 

a company owned by the Free Hanseatic City of Bremen (municipality), 

also holds 50%. The EUROGATE Group, in turn, has a 33.4% stake in 

Contship Italia S.p.A. Thus in substance EUROKAI holds a total 83.3% 

interest in the CONTSHIP Italia Group. Until her passing on 6 March 

2024, Ms Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello was Chair of Contship Italia 

S.p.A. Until 30 June 2023, Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann was a member of 

the Group Management Board of EUROGATE and its co-Chairman. This 

function was assumed by his son, Tom H. Eckelmann, with effect from 

1 July 2023. Both gentlemen are members of the Board of Directors of 

Contship Italia S.p.A. 
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rokai.com/Investor-Relations/Corporate-Governance. The declara-

tions of compliance and the corporate governance statements from 

previous years are also available there. 
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head office in Germany, the general corporate governance framework 

for EUROKAI is governed by the applicable laws, the Articles of Associ-

ation and the Code. In the management and supervision of the com-

pany, the Personally Liable General Partner and the Supervisory Board 

not only take the enterprise’s best interests into account, but also and 

in particular factors relating to social responsibility as well as sustain-

ability. Apart from justified exceptions, EUROKAI complies with the rec-

ommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. 

EUROKAI is a partnership limited by shares and as such is an independ-

ent legal entity pursuant to Section 278 (1) of the German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG), in which at least one partner is generally liable 

with the entirety of its assets vis-à-vis the company’s creditors (Person-

ally Liable General Partner) and the other partners have a stake in the 

authorised capital, which is divided into shares, without being person-

ally liable for the company’s liabilities (limited partners).  

While the personally liable managing partner of a KGaA (partnership 

limited by shares) can in many respects be compared to the manage-

ment board of a stock corporation and Section 283 AktG therefore rules 

that a number of provisions governing the management board of a 

stock corporation shall apply mutatis mutandis to the personally liable 

general partner of a KGaA, there is, however, one significant difference. 

The personally liable general partner of a KGaA – contrary to the man-

agement board of an AG pursuant to Section 84 AktG – is not appointed 

and dismissed by its supervisory board; rather, it is a shareholder. Thus 
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man) and Mr Tom H. Eckelmann. Until her passing on 6 March 2024, 

Ms Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello was also a Managing Director of Kurt 

F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH. 

Furthermore, the duty of the supervisory boards of listed companies to 

set target quotas for the proportion of women on their executive board, 

as required under Section 111 (5) AktG therefore cannot apply to the 

appointment of the Management Board of Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann 

GmbH, because this responsibility does not lie with the Supervisory 

Board. If, regarding the composition of the governing body entitled to 

represent the company – pertaining here to Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann 

GmbH – Section 289f (2) no. 6 HGB requires a description of the pur-
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tonomously by the Administrative Board of Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann 
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management is also not applicable at the EUROKAI level. Tasks not 

related to the management structure of EUROKAI, such as finances, 

management accounting and financial accounting/reporting are han-

dled within the scope of a service agreement by EUROGATE GmbH & 

Co. KGaA, KG, Bremen (in the following “EUROGATE”), see below.  

EUROKAI is a financial holding company. Its principal ownership inter-

ests are the 66.6% holding in Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, 

as well as the 50% interest in EUROGATE, the holding company of the 

EUROGATE Group, in which BLG Logistics Group AG & Co. KG, Bremen, 
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SHAREHOLDERS AND GENERAL MEETING 

The shareholders of EUROKAI exercise their rights at the General Meet-

ing. The ordinary General Meeting held once a year decides on all mat-

ters determined by law and the Articles of Association. Contrary to a 

stock corporation, in which pursuant to Section 172 German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG) the supervisory board is generally responsible for 

adopting the annual financial statements (for exceptions see Section 

173 AktG), in a KGaA, pursuant to Section 286 (1) AktG, the General 

Meeting resolves upon the adoption of the annual financial state-

ments. This ruling requires the consent of the Personally Liable Gen-

eral Partner. Under the provisions of Section 285 (2) AktG, resolutions 

of the General Meeting also require the consent of the Personally Lia-

ble General Partner. 

A nominal value of EUR 1.00 for each voting share entitles its holder to 

one vote. 

All shareholders who have registered in due time and who duly prove 

their entitlement to participate in the General Meeting are entitled to 

participate in the General Meeting, irrespective of whether this is held 

in person or virtually. Shareholders entitled to vote may exercise their 

voting rights in person at the General Meeting or assign their voting 

rights by proxy to a chosen representative (for example a bank, a share-

holders’ association or a proxy appointed by the company acting on 

their instructions) to vote on their behalf. Voting instructions may be 

given to the respective proxy before and during the General Meeting 

up until the end of the general debate. Following the years 2020 to 

2022, when the General Meeting was held as a virtual General Meeting 

due to the special circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic 

and on the basis of the legal framework created specifically for this 

purpose, in the past financial year 2023 it was once again held as an 

in-person event. By resolution of the General Meeting held on 7 June 

2023, which amended the Articles of Association to include Section 14 

no. 9, the Personally Liable General Partner is authorised, with the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board, to make arrangements for the General 

Meeting to be held without the physical presence of its shareholders 

or their authorised representatives at the venue of the General Meeting 

in compliance with the applicable statutory provisions, i.e. as a virtual 

event, within a period of three years after registration of the amend-

ment to the Articles of Association. 

 

The convening of the General Meeting, as well as the reports and in-

formation required for the passing of resolutions and any shareholder 

countermotions or candidate nominations that the company is obliged 

to make accessible are published in compliance with the require-

ments under stock corporation law and made available on the EU-

ROKAI website at www.eurokai.com/Investor-Relations/General-

Meeting. Shareholders can also find further documents and reports for 

their information on the company website (www.eurokai.com) in the 

course of the year. 

PERSONALLY LIABLE GENERAL PARTNER 

Procedures and composition of the Management Board of the 

Personally Liable General Partner 

From 1 July 2023 until 6 March 2024, the Management Board of the 

Personally Liable General Partner was composed of three Managing 

Directors, Ms Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello, Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann 

and his son Tom H. Eckelmann. With the passing of Ms Cecilia Eckel-

mann-Battistello on 6 March 2024, the Management Board now has 

two Managing Directors. Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann is Chairman of the 

Management Board. Under the rules of procedure for the Management 

Board, he is responsible for coordinating the activities of the Manage-

ment Board, representing the company in the public domain, conduct-

ing business dealings with the Administrative Board constituted in this 

company and with the shareholders. Notwithstanding the fact that the 

Managing Directors are jointly responsible for the management, they 

carry out independently the duties assigned to them in the schedule of 

responsibilities. As successor to Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann with effect 

from 1 July 2023, Mr Tom H. Eckelmann is specifically responsible for 

EUROGATE, of which he is Chairman of the Group Management Board, 

and Ms Cecilia Eckelmann-Battistello was specifically responsible for 

the CONTSHIP Italia Group, of which she was Chair. Under the rules of 

procedure, the authorisation to independently conduct the tasks as-

signed to them reaches its limits where, for example, both areas of re-

sponsibility or transactions of material importance are affected, or in 

the case of measures requiring the consent of the Administrative 

Board. These and other cases set forth in the rules of procedure require 

a joint resolution to be adopted by all Managing Directors. Under the 

provisions set out in the rules of procedure, the Managing Directors 

reach their decisions in meetings that – based on the needs of this pure 

financial holding company – are held regularly at least twice per month 

and additionally on a case-by-case basis as required. These are 

chaired by the Chairman of the Management Board. Use is made of the 

possibilities to adopt resolutions outside meetings in written or elec-

tronic form. Should the Managing Directors not be able to come to an 

agreement, the Chairman of the Administrative Board shall be respon-

sible for arbitration. 

REMUNERATION OF THE PERSONALLY LIABLE GENERAL PART-

NER, REMUNERATION REPORT 

The Remuneration Report on the compensation of the Managing Di-

rectors of the Personally Liable General Partner, including the opinion 

of the independent auditor are available at www.eurokai.com/Inves-

tor-Relations/Corporate-Governance. Section 87a AktG provides that 

the supervisory board shall determine a system for the remuneration 

of the members of the management board. With reference to this, Sec-

tion 120a AktG stipulates that the general meeting shall resolve on the 

approval of this remuneration system. Due to the fact that the Manag-

ing Directors of the Personally Liable General Partner of EUROKAI re-

ceive no remuneration either from EUROKAI itself or from Kurt F.W.A. 

Eckelmann GmbH, no remuneration system has been determined for 
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EUROKAI. Therefore, the General Meeting is not required to pass a res-

olution on this matter. It can therefore be left open to interpretation 

whether the regulations relating to the remuneration system for the 

management board of an AG pursuant to Sections 87a, 120a (1–3) AktG 

indeed apply to enterprises such as EUROKAI with the legal form of a 

GmbH & Co. KGaA. While the legal literature affirms that this is some-

times the case, the prevailing view is that they do not. 

SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Composition, objectives, diversity concept and profile of skills 

and expertise 

The members of the Supervisory Board are elected by the sharehold-

ers. Until the registration of the amendment to Section 11 of the Arti-

cles of Association resolved at the General Meeting on 7 June 2023, the 

Supervisory Board of EUROKAI consisted of six members. To take ac-

count of the increased demands on the members of the Supervisory 

Board in terms of time, responsibility and expertise, the General Meet-

ing on 7 June 2023 resolved to expand the Supervisory Board by two 

new members. It was also agreed to determine the terms of office of 

the members to be elected to the Supervisory Board flexibly up to the 

statutory maximum term of five years in practice. In compliance with 

the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, Su-

pervisory Board members are elected individually. 

Giving consideration to the fact that EUROKAI is a pure financial hold-

ing company whose investment holdings operate nationally and inter-

nationally almost exclusively in the field of port handling, as well as 

indirectly in related upstream and downstream areas of activity in the 

transport sector, the Supervisory Board has specified concrete objec-

tives regarding its composition. These objectives are intended on the 

one hand to ensure that the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI GmbH & 

Co KGaA in its entirety is familiar with the sector in which the company 

operates within the meaning of Section 100 (5) of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG), and at the same time they define a profile of 

skills and expertise that its members as a group should possess in ac-

cordance with Recommendation C.1 of the Code and describe the di-

versity concept pursued within the meaning of Section 289f (2) no. 6 of 

the German Commercial Code (HGB). These objectives do not, how-

ever, constitute binding requirements to be heeded by shareholders 

eligible to elect members, who remain completely free in making their 

decisions. Rather, election nominations made by the Supervisory 

Board to the General Meeting should take these objectives into ac-

count as a basis for implementation by corresponding resolution of the 

General Meeting. The current composition of the Supervisory Board 

can be found at www.eurokai.com/The-Company/Supervisory-board. 

The diversity concept aims to comply with the recommendation of the 

Code under Principle 11, namely that the composition of the Supervi-

sory Board has to ensure “that its members collectively possess the 

knowledge, skills and professional expertise required to properly per-

form their duties; furthermore, the legal gender quota must be consid-

ered”.  

The Supervisory Board has specified the following concrete objectives: 

1. The most important prerequisites for appointments to seats on 

the Supervisory Board, irrespective of the gender of the respec-

tive person concerned, are professional qualifications and per-

sonal independence and expertise as well as discretion, integrity 

and sufficient time available to discharge their duties. When pro-

posing Supervisory Board candidates for election, irrespective of 

their gender, the Supervisory Board will always give top priority 

to these prerequisites, which are essential for fulfilling its legal 

duties. 

2. Overall, the Supervisory Board’s objective is to be able to opti-

mally meet its oversight and advisory duties by having a diversity 

of members. Diversity covers many aspects, which may be 

weighted differently from time to time. This may, for example, be 

the case if the profile of EUROKAI, the CONTSHIP Italia and/or 

the EUROGATE Group or that of the respective markets changes, 

making it necessary to evaluate these aspects at regular inter-

vals. Obviously, not all Supervisory Board members need to sat-

isfy all of these aspects; however, the board as a whole should 

do so as far as possible. Given the specific circumstances of EU-

ROKAI, these aspects shall reflect in particular internationality, 

knowledge of the respective product and geographical markets, 

basic financial expertise (particularly in the areas of financial ac-

counting/reporting and auditing as well as relating to sustaina-

bility reporting), expertise concerning the sustainability issues 

relevant to EUROKAI and regarding the transformation process, 

knowledge in the field of law and digitalisation, capability to un-

derstand and critically scrutinise business decisions and practi-

cal experience in commercial law. To ensure the composition of 

the Supervisory Board fulfils the overall profile of required skills 

and expertise, consideration shall be given generally to age, gen-

der, general educational and professional background, leader-

ship experience as well as the ability to work in a team, integrity, 

professionalism and motivation. It goes without saying that each 

Supervisory Board member must ensure that they have sufficient 

time available to discharge their duties. Lastly, care shall be 

taken to ensure that there are no potential conflicts of interest 

and that the Supervisory Board includes an appropriate number 

of independent members within the meaning of C II of the Code. 

In the following, a number of concrete objectives are identified. 

3. At least two members of the Supervisory Board shall have inter-

national business experience; they do not necessarily have to 

be foreigners themselves and do not necessarily need to have 

acquired the relevant experience abroad. 

4. At least one Supervisory Board member shall have experience 

and expertise in the business segments that are significant for 

the company. 
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skills and expertise that its members as a group should possess in ac-

cordance with Recommendation C.1 of the Code and describe the di-

versity concept pursued within the meaning of Section 289f (2) no. 6 of 

the German Commercial Code (HGB). These objectives do not, how-

ever, constitute binding requirements to be heeded by shareholders 

eligible to elect members, who remain completely free in making their 

decisions. Rather, election nominations made by the Supervisory 

Board to the General Meeting should take these objectives into ac-

count as a basis for implementation by corresponding resolution of the 

General Meeting. The current composition of the Supervisory Board 

can be found at www.eurokai.com/The-Company/Supervisory-board. 

The diversity concept aims to comply with the recommendation of the 

Code under Principle 11, namely that the composition of the Supervi-

sory Board has to ensure “that its members collectively possess the 

knowledge, skills and professional expertise required to properly per-

form their duties; furthermore, the legal gender quota must be consid-

ered”.  

The Supervisory Board has specified the following concrete objectives: 

1. The most important prerequisites for appointments to seats on 

the Supervisory Board, irrespective of the gender of the respec-

tive person concerned, are professional qualifications and per-

sonal independence and expertise as well as discretion, integrity 

and sufficient time available to discharge their duties. When pro-

posing Supervisory Board candidates for election, irrespective of 

their gender, the Supervisory Board will always give top priority 

to these prerequisites, which are essential for fulfilling its legal 

duties. 

2. Overall, the Supervisory Board’s objective is to be able to opti-

mally meet its oversight and advisory duties by having a diversity 

of members. Diversity covers many aspects, which may be 

weighted differently from time to time. This may, for example, be 

the case if the profile of EUROKAI, the CONTSHIP Italia and/or 

the EUROGATE Group or that of the respective markets changes, 

making it necessary to evaluate these aspects at regular inter-

vals. Obviously, not all Supervisory Board members need to sat-

isfy all of these aspects; however, the board as a whole should 

do so as far as possible. Given the specific circumstances of EU-

ROKAI, these aspects shall reflect in particular internationality, 

knowledge of the respective product and geographical markets, 

basic financial expertise (particularly in the areas of financial ac-

counting/reporting and auditing as well as relating to sustaina-

bility reporting), expertise concerning the sustainability issues 

relevant to EUROKAI and regarding the transformation process, 

knowledge in the field of law and digitalisation, capability to un-

derstand and critically scrutinise business decisions and practi-

cal experience in commercial law. To ensure the composition of 

the Supervisory Board fulfils the overall profile of required skills 

and expertise, consideration shall be given generally to age, gen-

der, general educational and professional background, leader-

ship experience as well as the ability to work in a team, integrity, 

professionalism and motivation. It goes without saying that each 

Supervisory Board member must ensure that they have sufficient 

time available to discharge their duties. Lastly, care shall be 

taken to ensure that there are no potential conflicts of interest 

and that the Supervisory Board includes an appropriate number 

of independent members within the meaning of C II of the Code. 

In the following, a number of concrete objectives are identified. 

3. At least two members of the Supervisory Board shall have inter-

national business experience; they do not necessarily have to 

be foreigners themselves and do not necessarily need to have 

acquired the relevant experience abroad. 

4. At least one Supervisory Board member shall have experience 

and expertise in the business segments that are significant for 

the company. 
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5. The Supervisory Board shall have at least one member with ex-

pertise in the field of financial accounting and reporting and 

one member with expertise in the field of auditing, also includ-

ing sustainability reporting and its audit. This shall also apply to 

the Audit Committee with the proviso that its chair shall also 

have appropriate expertise in one of the two areas mentioned 

in accordance with recommendation D.3 of the Code. 

6. The Supervisory Board shall include at least one legal expert 

with experience in commercial law gained through practice. 

7. The members as a group shall be familiar with the business 

sector in which the company operates. 

8. As long as EUROKAI by virtue of its shareholder structure – as is 

currently the case – can be considered to be a family-owned 

company, the Supervisory Board shall have at least (i) one fam-

ily member and (ii) one member who has experience in manag-

ing a medium-sized or large family-owned company. The family 

member shall, if possible, be a member of the Audit Commit-

tee. 

9. The Supervisory Board shall include what it considers an ade-

quate number of independent members, as defined by C II of 

the Code. This recommendation further implies that any other 

activities and functions exercised by the members of the Super-

visory Board shall be such that they are not likely to cause a 

substantial – and not merely temporary – conflict of interest. 

Given that by virtue of its shareholder structure the enterprise 

can currently be considered to be a family-owned company, the 

Supervisory Board considers it desirable that at least two of its 

members are independent, whereby these members shall be 

independent from both EUROKAI and the family. 

10. Supervisory Board members shall not be members of governing 

bodies of, or exercise advisory functions at, significant competi-

tors of the enterprise. 

11. The Supervisory Board shall include at least one member with 

appropriate expertise in the field of digitalisation/IT. 

12. The Supervisory Board shall have at least one member with ex-

pertise in the field of portfolio management and at least one 

other member with experience in the fields of capital market 

law and corporate governance. 

13. At least one Supervisory Board member shall have expertise in 

the sustainability issues that are significant for EUROKAI. 

14. The Supervisory Board considers it generally desirable to inte-

grate women into the work of the company, as is currently and 

has for many years been the case regarding the work of the 

Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner, 

and consequently also into the tasks of the Supervisory Board. 

The Supervisory Board has determined a target of having at 

least two women on the Board. 

15. As a general rule, only persons who are not older than 75 years 

of age should be proposed for election as members of the Su-

pervisory Board. Exceptions are permitted in isolated cases, in 

the knowledge that age in itself is not a criterion for qualifica-

tions and expertise and that the many years of experience ac-

cumulated by members of the Supervisory Board constitute a 

valuable asset to the company. 

16. The Supervisory Board reviews these objectives on a regular 

basis. It publishes its objectives and the status of their imple-

mentation annually in the Corporate Governance Statement.  

 

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that all of the above objectives 

were satisfied in the 2023 financial year. 

The following details the extent to which the individual objectives have 

been achieved: 

• No. 3 (international business experience and no. 4 (experience 

in the business fields that are significant for the company) apply 

in full at least to Dr Winfried Steeger, Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler, and 

Messrs Jochen Döhle, Kristian Ludwig and Max Warburg; with 

respect to international business experience to Prof. Dr Kerstin 

Lopatta and Mr Christian Kleinfeldt and with respect to experi-

ence and expertise in the business segments that are significant 

for EUROKAI to Ms Katja Both. 

• No. 5 (expertise in financial accounting/reporting and auditing): 

Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler, Mr Christian 

Kleinfeldt and Mr Kristian Ludwig are experts in the fields of both 

accounting and auditing. They acquired their expertise through 

many years of professional experience. The curriculum vitae of 

these Supervisory Board members including more details of 

their respective expertise in these fields are published on the EU-

ROKAI website at www.eurokai.com/The-Company/Supervi-

sory-Board. Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Messrs Christian Klein-

feldt and Kristian Ludwig are also members of the Audit Commit-

tee and thus meet the requirements of Section 107 (4) AktG, 

which states that the Audit Committee should also include one 

member who has expertise in the field of financial accounting 

and one member who has expertise in the field of auditing, while 

D.3 of the Code additionally stipulates that the Chair of the Audit 

Committee shall be one of the financial experts. As Chair of the 

Audit Committee, Mr Christian Kleinfeldt fulfils these require-

ments.  

• No. 6 (legal expert with experience in commercial law): Dr Win-

fried Steeger and Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler are both legal experts 

with experience in commercial law. Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and 

Messrs Christian Kleinfeldt, Kristian Ludwig and Max Warburg 

also have experience in commercial law. 

• No. 7 (familiarity with the business sector in which the company 

operates) is met. 

• No. 8 (family member and experience in managing a family-

owned company): Ms Katja Both is the daughter of the Chairman 

of the Management Board of the Personally Liable General Part-

ner, Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann, and additionally a co-partner in 

the Eckelmann family holding company, which indirectly holds 

a majority interest in EUROKAI. She has been a member of the 

Supervisory Board since 10 June 2015 and a member of the Audit 
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Committee since 4 April 2018. Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr 

Jochen Döhle, Mr Christian Kleinfeldt, Mr Kristian Ludwig, Dr 

Winfried Steeger and Mr Max Warburg have extensive experi-

ence regarding the exigencies of running a family-owned com-

pany. Moreover, Dr Winfried Steeger and Mr Christian Kleinfeldt 

have many years of experience in the operational management 

of family-owned companies. 

• No. 9 (independence): Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta, Dr Klaus-Peter 

Röhler and Mssrs Christian Kleinfeldt and Kristian Ludwig are in-

dependent by their own assessment and that of the Supervisory 

Board, as are Dr Winfried Steeger, Jochen Döhle and Max War-

burg, who although members of the Supervisory Board for 

longer than 12 years are nevertheless to be regarded as com-

pletely independent. This is borne out by the discussions at the 

meetings and telephone/video conferences of the Supervisory 

Board, in which these gentlemen have repeatedly demonstrated 

their independence through objective criticism and questions. 

• No. 10 (not members of governing bodies of, or exercise advisory 

functions at, significant competitors of the enterprise) is met.  

• No. 11 (digitalisation/IT): Ms Katja Both, Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta 

and Dr Klaus-Peter Röhler have relevant knowledge. 

• No. 12 (portfolio management, capital market law and corporate 

governance): Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta, Dr Winfried Steeger, Dr 

Klaus-Peter Röhler, Mr Christian Kleinfeldt, and Mr Kristian Lud-

wig at least have expertise in the field of portfolio management, 

while Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta, Dr Winfried Steeger, Dr Klaus-Pe-

ter Röhler, Mr Kristian Ludwig and Mr Max Warburg cover the 

fields of capital market law and corporate governance. 

• No. 13 (sustainability issues): Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta is an inter-

nationally recognised expert in this field. Dr Winfried Steeger 

and Christian Kleinfeldt have recently focused intensively on 

sustainability issues. 

• No. 14 (two women on the Supervisory Board) is met. 

• The age limit defined in no. 15 was not exceeded by any member 

of the Supervisory Board. 

 

Former Managing Directors of the Personally Liable General Partner of 

EUROKAI whose appointed term ended less than two years ago are not 

represented on the Supervisory Board.  

The objectives defined by the Supervisory Board for its composition 

are also published on the website at www.eurokai.com/Investor-Rela-

tions/Corporate-Governance, as amended. 
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The areas of expertise of the individual members of the Supervisory 

Board are also detailed below in the form of a qualification matrix: 

 

 

Dr. 
Winfried 
Steeger 

 Dr. Klaus-
Peter 
Röhler 

 Katja Both  Jochen 
Döhle 

 Christian 
Kleinfeldt 

 Prof. Dr. 
Kerstin 
Lopatta 

 Kristian 
Ludwig 

 Max M. 
Warburg 

Membership Member since 2011  2019  2015  1999  2021  2023  2023  2000 

 Elected until 2024  2027  2025  2027  2024  2027  2027  2024 

Diversity Year of birth 1949  1964  1985  1955  1967  1969  1961  1948 

 Gender m  m  w  m  m  w  m  m 

 Nationality German  German  German  German  German  German  German  German 

Personal suitabi-
lity 

Personally independent ✓  ✓    ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Independent from both EUROKAI and 
of the family (no conflicts of interest) ✓  ✓    ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 No overboarding ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Is not a member of governing bodies 
of, or does not exercise advisory func-
tions at, significant competitors of the 
enterprise 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Family member (to the extent that EU-
ROKAI can be considered a family-
owned enterprise) 

    ✓           

Professional 
suitability 

Experience and expertise in the busi-
ness segments that are significant for 
EUROKAI 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓      ✓  ✓ 

 Familiarity with the business sector in 
which the company operates ✓    ✓  ✓    ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 International business experience ✓  ✓    ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Experience in managing a medium-
sized or large family-owned company ✓    ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Experience in commercial law ✓  ✓      ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Experience in the sustainability issues 
relevant for EUROKAI ✓        ✓  ✓     

 Expertise in the field of financial ac-
counting   ✓      ✓  ✓  ✓   

 Expertise in the field of auditing of fi-
nancial statements   ✓      ✓  ✓  ✓   

 Expertise in the field of portfolio man-
agement, M & A ✓  ✓      ✓  ✓  ✓   

 Experience in the fields of capital mar-
ket law and corporate governance ✓  ✓        ✓  ✓  ✓ 

 Expertise in the field of digitalisa-
tion/IT   ✓  ✓      ✓     
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Committees of the Supervisory Board – composition and work-

ing procedures 

The Supervisory Board of EUROKAI has set up an Audit Committee, 

which is composed of members of the Supervisory Board. To reflect 

the significantly wider scope of tasks and responsibilities as well as 

the recent appointment of two new members with in-depth expert 

knowledge to the Supervisory Board, the Audit Committee was ex-

panded from three to five members in September 2023. Where appro-

priate, the Audit Committee prepares resolutions that are deliberated 

at the meetings of the Supervisory Board and supplements the work of 

the Supervisory Board. Further details regarding the activities and 

working procedures of the Audit Committee can be found in the Report 

of the Supervisory Board. 

Under the rules of procedure, the Chair of the Supervisory Board, Dr 

Winfried Steeger, is an “automatic” member of the Audit Committee; 

however, in line with the recommendation under No. D.3 of the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code, he does not chair the Audit Commit-

tee. The Chair of the Audit Committee since 2021, Mr Christian Klein-

feldt, is independent and has gained extensive professional expertise 

and experience in the application of accounting principles, internal 

control procedures and the audit of financial statements, as well as 

sustainability reporting and its audit. The other members of the Audit 

Committee are Ms Katja Both, Prof. Dr Kerstin Lopatta and Mr Kristian 

Ludwig. 

The Audit Committee usually convenes twice a year.  

In as far as the law and the Articles of Association permit, the Supervi-

sory Board may form additional advisory and decision-making commit-

tees as and where necessary. This was not the case in the reporting 

year. In particular, the Supervisory Board did not form a Human Re-

sources Committee since, due to its function as a pure holding com-

pany, EUROKAI has no employees of its own and the appointment and 

dismissal of the Managing Directors of the Personally Liable General 

Partner are the responsibility of its Administrative Board. The formation 

of a Nomination Committee which names suitable candidates for the 

election of Supervisory Board members as provided for under No. D.4 

of the Code was also dispensed with, as the Personally Liable General 

Partner and the Supervisory Board are of the opinion that such a nom-

ination committee is not required since the Supervisory Board is com-

posed of only eight shareholder representatives and is therefore in a 

position to directly and efficiently make election recommendations to 

the General Meeting. 

Working procedures of the Supervisory Board 

The working procedures of the Supervisory Board, which since mid-

2023 has consisted of eight members, are based on the Supervisory 

Board’s rules of procedure. These can be found on the EUROKAI web-

site at www.eurokai.com/The-Company/Supervisory-Board under the 

menu point Downloads. The Supervisory Board usually convenes four 

ordinary meetings during the year, the dates of which are determined 

annually in advance. These meetings are regularly also attended by the 

Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner; however, 

where required or in cases where the auditor is called in as an expert 

(Section 109 (1) sentence 3 AktG), the Management Board does not 

participate in these meetings, unless the Supervisory Board deems the 

participation of the Management Board to be necessary. The same 

shall apply to meetings of the Audit Committee. In addition, the Super-

visory Board where necessary adopts resolutions outside meetings us-

ing modern means of communication, so that resolutions in written or 

electronic form are sufficient. The Supervisory Board has a Chairman, 

currently Dr Winfried Steeger, who convenes the meetings, chairs 

meetings and is responsible for adoption of the resolutions passed. As 

provided for by law, resolutions require a simple majority and may only 

be passed on items of the agenda announced beforehand in due form 

in the invitation, unless all members of the Supervisory Board consent 

to the passing of a resolution. The work of the Supervisory Board in the 

meetings is intensive and is characterised by the specialist expertise 

of its members. 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board maintains regular contact with 

the Management Board in order to be informed on an ongoing basis 

about the course of business. The Supervisory Board is also kept reg-

ularly informed by the Management Board about the development of 

the company through legally stipulated reports and special reports, as 

and when required. 

As a rule, the Supervisory Board conducts an efficiency audit of its own 

work and that of its Audit Committee every two years. The next review 

is planned for autumn 2024. 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

The presently valid remuneration of the Supervisory Board is specified 

in Section 13 (1) of the Articles of Association. The General Meeting 

confirmed the remuneration system for the members of the Supervi-

sory Board by resolution of 9 June 2021. The remuneration of the Su-

pervisory Board was newly resolved at the General Meeting on 7 June 

2023. The Remuneration Report, including the independent auditor’s 

report, the description of the remuneration system for the Supervisory 

Board as well as the corresponding remuneration resolution for the 

members of the Supervisory Board are publicly available at www.eu-

rokai.com/Investor-Relations/Corporate-Governance. 

Cooperation between Personally Liable General Partner and Su-

pervisory Board  

The Personally Liable General Partner and the Supervisory Board of 

EUROKAI give high priority to responsible and transparent manage-

ment committed to corporate responsibility and geared towards long-

term success, taking into account social responsibility and sustaina-

bility factors, as well as to the appropriate management of risks. The 

Personally Liable General Partner informs the Supervisory Board in a 
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regular, timely and comprehensive manner on all matters relevant to 

the parent and the Group as well as the entities and joint ventures in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements, relating to the corpo-

rate strategy, business policy, corporate planning (in particular finan-

cial, investment and personnel planning including liquidity and refi-

nancing planning). It also reports on the development of business, es-

pecially the shipment handling and revenue trend, the position of the 

company, the cash flows and financial performance, as well as profit-

ability. Other important information includes any deviations – stating 

reasons – from projections, risk exposure, especially transactions hav-

ing a possible material impact on the company’s profitability or liquid-

ity, as well as risk management, the internal control system and audit-

ing practices, including compliance. Furthermore, the Management 

Board reports on the environmental, social and organisational aspects 

of corporate governance (ESG) in accordance with the requirements 

of sustainability reporting under the CSRD (Corporate Sustainability 

Reporting Directive) and ensures compliance with statutory provi-

sions, in particular the measures stipulated in Section 91 (2) and (3) of 

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), and uses its influence to en-

sure they are complied with across the Group companies. 

The Supervisory Board advises and oversees the Personally Liable 

General Partner in the running of the company. In the case of excep-

tional business transactions, the Personally Liable General Partner 

must obtain the prior approval of the Supervisory Board pursuant to 

Section 7 of the Articles of Association. Furthermore, it must prepare 

and present a budgeted income statement as well as an annual invest-

ment and financial plan for approval by the Supervisory Board and re-

port on their implementation on a quarterly basis. The Supervisory 

Board reviews and approves the single-entity financial statements and 

the management report of the company as well as the consolidated 

financial statements and Group management commentary, the report 

on relations with affiliated companies, the non-financial statement 

and consolidated non-financial statement, and the management’s pro-

posal on the appropriation of net retained profit. The Supervisory 

Board, together with the Management Board of the Personally Liable 

General Partner, is responsible for the preparation of the Remunera-

tion Report. 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board coordinates work performed 

by the Board, chairs its meetings and represents the Board’s interests 

vis-à-vis third parties. Between meetings, he regularly consults with 

the Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner. 

The Supervisory Board has more precisely defined the reporting and 

information requirements of the Personally Liable General Partner and 
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lations/Corporate-Governance. 

Directors’ dealings 

Pursuant to Article 19 of the Market Abuse Regulation (EU) No. 

596/2014 in conjunction with the general ruling of the German Federal 

Financial Services Supervisory Authority (BaFin) of 24 October 2019, 

the members of the Management Board of the Personally Liable Gen-

eral Partner and of the Supervisory Board, as well as parties closely 

related to them, are obliged to disclose proprietary trades with shares 

of EUROKAI where their value reaches or exceeds the sum of EUR 

20,000 in the respective calendar year. The transactions reported to EU-

ROKAI were duly disclosed and are accessible on the website at 

www.eurokai.com/Investor-Relations/Corporate-Governance. 

INFORMATION ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES  

Corporate principles 

Excellent service and quality, coupled with values such as a high level 

of trust and reliability on the part of customers, business partners and 

shareholders, characterise the companies in the EUROKAI Group. 

CONTSHIP Italia has adopted a code of conduct and a code of ethics 

that pursue the same objectives and have been published on the web-

site of the CONTSHIP Italia Group at www.contshipitalia.com/down-

load-area/cs-code-conduct-compliance. EUROGATE has implemented 

a code of conduct for all employees, management staff and the Man-

agement Board in this regard, which defines the principles and rules 

of conduct towards business partners, competitors and authorities. 

This contains guidelines for avoiding conflicts of interest and protect-

ing corporate values aimed on the one hand at establishing and mak-

ing transparent the values that the company stands for while providing 

recommended best practices, and on the other hand at securing the 

company’s long-term economic success and maintaining its strong 

reputation on the market. In addition, the Management Board has also 

issued a policy statement in respect of its human rights and environ-

mental due diligence obligations, which foresees a regular review of 

these standards and guidelines. Both are available on the EUROGATE 

website at www1.eurogate.de/en/about-us/#compliance. 

Transparency 

EUROKAI informs the general public in a regular and timely manner on 

the economic position of the EUROKAI Group. The Annual Report and 

the half-yearly financial report are published within the statutory peri-

ods (www.eurokai.com/Investor-Relations/Financial-Reports). First- 

and third-quarterly interim statements are also published on a volun-

tary basis. Newsworthy events and new developments are reported in 

press releases and, where necessary, ad-hoc announcements, which 

are subsequently published on the EUROKAI website (www.eu-

rokai.com/Investor-Relations under ad-hoc-announcement and fur-

ther-publications). The legally stipulated reports, documents and infor-

mation required for the General Meeting are available on the website 

together with the agenda of the General Meeting and any countermo-

tions or nominations on the part of the shareholders that the company 

is obliged to make accessible to the public. 

The planned dates for the main recurring events and publications – 

such as General Meeting, Annual Report, half-yearly financial report 
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and interim statements – are listed in a financial calendar which is pub-

lished sufficiently in advance and made permanently available on the 

EUROKAI website (www.eurokai.com/Investor-Relations/Financial-

calendar). 

Risk management  

EUROKAI regards the responsible management of business risks as an 

important principle of good and sustainable corporate governance. 

Early identification of risks and minimisation of risk positions form an 

integral part of this. EUROKAI employs an internal control and risk 

management system, including the compliance management system 

(further details below) and an internal auditing system, which identify, 

assess and control risks. Continuous adaptation of the systems – in 

particular of the manuals pertaining to the early risk identification sys-

tem of the CONTSHIP Italia and the EUROGATE Group – to changed 

general conditions, as well as monitoring their effectiveness, is a per-

manent task for the Personally Liable General Partner and the Super-

visory Board, with the support of the auditor. 

The Personally Liable General Partner informs the Supervisory Board 

regularly and promptly of existing risks and their development. 

For further details, we refer to the Report on expected developments, 

opportunities and risks in the Group management commentary and to 

the Report on post-balance sheet date events. 

Compliance-Management-System 

Within EUROKAI, the umbrella term “compliance” relates to the adher-

ence to legal standards and internal guidelines and working towards 

their observance in the EUROKAI Group companies. 

This goal is pursued through the establishment, coordination and on-

going development of a Group-wide compliance management system 

designed as far as possible to prevent compliance violations and avoid 

damage to EUROKAI’s good reputation, liability claims or other legal 

prejudice to the EUROKAI Group, its employees and governing bodies. 

A further objective and at the same time a central task of the compli-

ance management system is to identify and continuously assess sig-

nificant compliance risks, while implementing appropriate measures 

and processes to minimise such risks. 

Moreover, the compliance management system seeks to raise aware-

ness amongst the employees of the EUROKAI Group of the need to ob-

serve the relevant legal regulations and internal guidelines which ap-

ply to their field of work and thus create awareness amongst the work-

force of possible compliance risks and strategies for managing such 

risks. 

 

For the EUROKAI Group entities, the following applies: 

Since EUROKAI is a pure financial holding company with, in terms of 

personnel, currently only two Managing Directors of the Personally Li-

able General Partner and one authorised representative, it has not 

been deemed necessary to set up a specific compliance management 

system at EUROKAI, taking into account the specific systems in place 

at the CONTSHIP Italia Group and the EUROGATE Group. 

The CONTSHIP Italia Group established a code of conduct in 2012, 

which was further developed as part of a Group-wide revision of the 

regulatory system in 2021, and states that all activities of the 

CONTSHIP Italia Group shall be in compliance with the legislative 

framework, the principles of fair competition, honesty, integrity, fair-

ness, good faith, and respect the legitimate interests of its customers, 

staff, shareholders, business and financial partners. Principles are also 

established in particular in respect of compliance-relevant issues such 

as conflicts of interest, money laundering and the giving or accepting 

of undue advantage. The code of ethics and code of conduct have been 

published on the website of the CONTSHIP Italia Group at 

www.contshipitalia.com/download-area/cs-code-conduct-compli-

ance. Internal company policies define additional principles for deal-

ing with compliance issues. The CONTSHIP Italia Group has imple-

mented an anonymous whistleblower system, which is supervised by 

an external ombudsman. No cases of corruption were reported 

through the whistleblower system in 2023. 

Responsibility for compliance with compliance-relevant issues rests 

with the Management Board of Contship Italia S.p.A., the holding com-

pany of the CONTSHIP Italia Group, and the management boards of 

the respective entities within the CONTSHIP Italia Group. Internal au-

dits support the identification of potential improvements with regard 

to compliance with the Group’s guidelines. Should the audit findings 

identify significant discrepancies, the respective company draws up an 

action plan to address them. The compliance supervisory bodies are 

responsible for monitoring compliance with the guidelines. 

The compliance management system for the EUROGATE Group com-

panies is laid down in a compliance policy, which is permanently avail-

able to employees of the EUROGATE Group for download on the intra-

net. EUROGATE has also implemented an anti-corruption policy and a 

code of conduct and supplemented these in December 2022 with rules 

of procedure in accordance with the German Supply Chain Due Dili-

gence Act (Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz). These describe the 

system for reporting grievances along the supply chain. In addition, the 

Group Management Board has also issued a policy statement in re-

spect of its human rights and environmental due diligence obligations. 

These documents are accessible on the intranet as well as on the EU-

ROGATE website at www1.eurogate.de/en/About-us/#Compliance. 

They also contain the contact details of the compliance officer and the 

external ombudsman to whom employees and third parties can turn, 

anonymously if they so wish (whistleblower hotline). The compliance 

policy describes in detail the relevant duties and responsibilities within 
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the EUROGATE Group. The duties are performed on an interdisciplinary 

basis by various responsible bodies, with the compliance officer being 

involved in each case. It further defines the responsibilities incumbent 

on the governing bodies, in particular on the Supervisory Board and 

the Group Management Board of EUROGATE, within each of which a 

central contact person has been appointed, and on the compliance of-

ficer. In order to guarantee the independence and objectivity of the 

compliance officer, their appointment may only be countermanded for 

cause through application of Section 626 of the German Civil Code 

(BGB). Once a year, the compliance officer submits an internal report 

to the Group Management Board and the supervisory bodies, which 

the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI also receives. This contains, among 

other things, an inventory of the main compliance risks as well as pro-

posals for new measures or amendments. 

Technical responsibility for the compliance management system lies 

with the EUROGATE legal department in Hamburg. In the 2023 report-

ing year, there were no cases of compliance breaches. 

Financial accounting and reporting and audit of the annual and 

consolidated financial statements  

EUROKAI prepares its consolidated financial statements in accord-

ance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the EU. The single-entity annual financial statements are 

prepared according to the requirements of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB). They are audited by the auditor as well as by the Audit 

Committee and the Supervisory Board. The half-yearly financial report 

is reviewed by the Audit Committee together with the Personally Liable 

General Partner prior to being published. 

The consolidated financial statements and single entity financial state-

ments of EUROKAI were audited and each issued an unconditional au-

dit certificate by the auditor FIDES Treuhand GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen, 

(“FIDES“) which was appointed by the 2023 General Meeting. At the 

General Meeting 2024, in line with the recommendation of the Audit 

Committee, the Supervisory Board will propose that FIDES Treuhand 

GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen, be granted the audit mandate for the single-

entity financial statements and the consolidated financial statements 

for the 2024 financial year and, as a precautionary measure, also be 

appointed to review the half-yearly financial report for the 2024 finan-

cial year. FIDES has been auditor of the single-entity and consolidated 

financial statements of EUROKAI since the 2021 financial year. 

DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE OF EUROKAI GMBH & CO. 

KGAA WITH THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 161 OF THE GERMAN STOCK 

CORPORATION ACT (AKTG)

 

Pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), 

the Management Board of Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, as 

Personally Liable General Partner, and the Supervisory Board of EU-

ROKAI GmbH & Co. KGaA, Hamburg (hereinafter “EUROKAI”), taking 

into account the specific organisational distinctions of the legal form 

of a partnership limited by shares (KGaA) as set out in the following (cf. 

Section I), and the structuring of this legal form through EUROKAI’s Ar-

ticles of Association, declare that, with the exception of the deviations 

set out in the following (cf. Section II), in the period since the last Dec-

laration of Compliance of March 2023, EUROKAI has complied with and 

will continue to comply with the recommendations of the “Govern-

ment Commission German Corporate Governance Code” in the version 

dated 28 April 2022 and published in the Federal Gazette on 27 June 

2022 (hereinafter the “Code”). 

I. SPECIFIC ORGANISATIONAL DISTINCTIONS OF THE LEGAL 

FORM OF A PARTNERSHIP LIMITED BY SHARES (KGAA)  

• EUROKAI is a Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien – (“KGaA” – part-

nership limited by shares). In a KGaA, the duties of the manage-

ment board of a stock corporation (“AG”) are the responsibility 

of the personally liable general partner. The sole Personally Lia-

ble General Partner of EUROKAI is Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, 

Hamburg, whose Management Board is thus responsible for 

conducting the business of EUROKAI. EUROKAI does not hold an 

interest in the Personally Liable General Partner. The sole share-

holder of the Personally Liable General Partner is Familie 

Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, which is con-

trolled entirely by the family of Mr Thomas H. Eckelmann. 

• In comparison with the supervisory board of a German stock cor-

poration, the role of a supervisory board of a KGaA is limited. In 

particular, the Supervisory Board of EUROKAI is not responsible 

for appointing or dismissing general partners or for regulating 

the terms and conditions of their contracts. For this reason, the 

Supervisory Board is not able to fulfil the recommendations in 

Sections B and G.I of the Code regarding Appointments to the 

Management Board and Remuneration of the Management 

Board. Similarly it is not within the competence of the Supervi-

sory Board to issue rules of procedure for the Management 

Board or determine business transactions requiring approval. 

For this reason, Section 7 of EUROKAI’s Articles of Association 

requires that the Personally Liable General Partner obtain the 

prior consent of the Supervisory Board for all extraordinary trans-

actions. To this end, Section 7 of the Articles of Association con-

tains a catalogue of business transactions requiring consent. 

The duty of the management board of a stock corporation to re-

port to and inform the supervisory board, as governed by Section 

90 AktG, applies analogously to EUROKAI as a KGaA. EUROKAI 

has also separately regulated the information and reporting du-

ties of the Personally Liable General Partner. These can be found 

on the company’s website at www.eurokai.com/Investor-Rela-

tions/Corporate-Governance. 

• The general meeting of a KGaA fundamentally has the same 

rights as the general meeting of an AG; it additionally resolves on 
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the adoption of EUROKAI’s annual financial statements. How-

ever, many of the resolutions made by the General Meeting re-

quire the consent of the Personally Liable General Partner; par-

ticularly the adoption of EUROKAI’s annual financial statements.  

• Although the concrete wording of the recommendations of the 

Code does not in all instances take into account the specific or-

ganisational distinctions of the legal form of a KGaA, the Person-

ally Liable General Partner, Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, and 

the Supervisory Board have agreed to currently and in future 

comply with the recommendations of the Code as far as possi-

ble. The deviations from the recommendations of the Code are 

presented in Section II below. 

 

II. DEVIATIONS FROM THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE CODE 

The following are the only provisions of the Code that were not applied 

and will not be applied in the future: 

II. 1 No. C.2 – Specification of an age limit for Supervisory Board 

members  

Both the Personally Liable General Partner and the Supervisory Board 

believe that setting a fixed age limit is detrimental due to its lack of 

flexibility. They consider a standard limit to be sufficient. 

II. 2 No. D.4 – Nomination Committee 

Pursuant to Recommendation D.4 of the Code, the Supervisory Board 

shall form a Nomination Committee, composed exclusively of share-

holder representatives, which names suitable candidates to the Super-

visory Board for its proposals to the General Meeting. 

The Personally Liable General Partner and the Supervisory Board are 

of the opinion that a Nomination Committee is not required since the 

Supervisory Board is composed of only eight shareholder representa-

tives and is therefore in a position to directly and efficiently make elec-

tion recommendations to the General Meeting. 

II. 3 No. D.6 – The Supervisory Board shall also meet on a regular 

basis without the Management Board 

Where required or in cases where the auditor is called in as an expert 

(Section 109 (1) sentence 3 AktG), the Supervisory Board shall decide 

whether it deems the participation of the Management Board at its 

meetings to be necessary. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that 

a fixed number of regular meetings without the participation of the 

Management Board is not required. 

II. 4 No. F.2 – Financial Reporting 

Pursuant to Recommendation F.2 of the Code, the consolidated finan-

cial statements and the group management commentary shall be 

made publicly accessible within 90 days from the end of the financial 

year, while mandatory interim financial information shall be made 

publicly accessible within 45 days from the end of the reporting period. 

EUROKAI does not apply this recommendation, and practically is not 

in a position to do so. EUROKAI is a pure financial holding company 

and therefore relies on the figures provided by its investment holdings, 

which it regularly does not receive in time to comply with the recom-

mendation. The consolidated financial statements are published pur-

suant to the requirements of Section 325 (4) of the German Commer-

cial Code (HGB) and the half-yearly report pursuant to the require-

ments under Section 115 of the German Securities Trading Act 

(WpHG). 

Hamburg, 20 March 2024 

Personally Liable General Partner 

Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg  

Thomas H. Eckelmann 

Tom H. Eckelmann 

Supervisory Board  

Dr. Winfried Steeger 
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La Spezia Container Terminal
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd                                                                                            
IInnccoommee  SSttaatteemmeenntt  

 

 2023  2022 

 EUR '000  EUR '000 

Revenue 219,089 247,605 

Other operating income 26,290 12,598 

Cost of materials -87,011 -88,242 

Personnel expenses -64,087 -64,398 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -22,166 -19,411 

Other operating expenses -34,261 -26,625 

Profit before income from investments, interest and taxes (EBIT) 37,854 61,527 

Interest and similar income 12,188 5,904 

Finance costs -14,030 -9,933 

Profit/loss from equity investments accounted for using the equity method 22,402 80,320 

Other finance costs (income) 307 203 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 58,721 138,021 

Income tax expense -6,551 -24,484 

Consolidated profit of the year 52,170 113,537 

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent -39,552 -90,480 

Non-controlling interests 12,618 23,057 

52,170 113,537 

Diluted and basic earnings per share (in EUR) 2.33 6.49 
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff                                        
CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee  IInnccoommee  

 

2023  2022 

EUR '000  EUR '000 

Consolidated profit for the year 52,170 113,537 

   

   

Other comprehensive income   

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   

Remeasurement of financial instruments -602 300 

Deferred taxes on remeasurement of financial instruments 167 -83 

Actuarial gains/losses from defined benefit pension plans from joint ventures -5,408 31,140 

Actuarial gains/losses from defined benefit pension plans -278 1,006 

Deferred taxes on actuarial gains/losses 1,799 -10,326 

-4,322 22,037 

  

  

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   

Remeasurement of financial instruments -2,664 1,559 

Deferred taxes on remeasurement of financial instruments 639 -374 

Remeasurement of financial instruments from joint ventures -386 693 

Deferred taxes on remeasurement of financial instruments from joint ventures 185 -224 

Exchange differences arising on translation of joint ventures 161 -800 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 220 -1,655 

-1,845 -801 

  

  

Other comprehensive income (after tax) -6,167 21,236 

Total comprehensive income 46,003 134,773 

  

  

Attributable to:   

Equity holders of the parent 34,386 110,976 

Non-controlling interests 11,617 23,797 

46,003 134,773 
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Maiden call of OOCL GDYNIA at EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven on December 7, 2023.
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd                                                                    
BBaallaannccee  SShheeeett  

Assets  2023  2022 

 EUR '000  EUR '000 

Non-current assets   

Intangible assets   

Goodwill 2,055 2,055 

Other intangible assets 69,383 71,053 

71,438 73,108 

  

Property, plant and equipment   

Land, land rights and buildings including buildings on third-party land 52,485 55,363 

Plant and machinery 51,194 54,782 

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 6,786 5,416 

Prepayments and assets under construction 11,681 10,486 

122,146 126,047 

  

Financial assets   

Equity investments accounted for using the equity method 227,557 243,952 

Other equity investments 1,076 1,517 

228,633 245,469 

  

Deferred tax assets 17,440 14,044 

Other non-current financial assets 133,489 138,343 

Other non-current non-financial assets 524 351 

Total non-current assets 573,670 597,362 

  

Current assets   

Inventories 6,352 5,833 

Trade receivables 48,819 47,403 

Other current financial assets 70,399 46,963 

Other current non-financial assets 16,537 16,858 

Current tax receivables 12,605 7,224 

Cash and cash equivalents 180,866 189,795 

Total current assets 335,578 314,076 

  

Total assets 909,248 911,438 
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Equity and liabilities  2023  2022 

 EUR '000  EUR '000 

Equity and reserves   

Issued capital 13,468 13,468 

Equity attributable to Personally Liable General Partner 294 294 

Capital reserves 1,801 1,801 

Reserve from the fair value measurement of financial derivatives -419 593 

Reserve from other changes in equity of associates -9,813 -6,341 

Foreign currency reserves 0 0 

Retained earnings 153,130 145,992 

Net retained profit 331,291 319,825 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 489,752 475,632 

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 105,725 103,989 

Total equity and reserves 595,477 579,621 

  

Liabilities and provisions   

Non-current liabilities and provisions   

Non-current financial liabilities, net of current portion 8,874 13,058 

Government grants 4,498 4,095 

Other non-current financial liabilities 191,180 202,895 

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 0 1,776 

Deferred tax liabilities 7,863 13,034 

Provisions   

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 5,880 5,835 

Other non-current provisions 21,370 14,813 

239,665 255,506 

  

Current liabilities and provisions   

Current portion of non-current financial liabilities 3,651 4,718 

Trade payables 34,460 36,490 

Government grants 1104 929 

Other current financial liabilities 24,353 19,884 

Other current non-financial liabilities 8,962 6,618 

Current tax payables 814 6,480 

Provisions   

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 682 746 

Other current provisions 80 446 

74,106 76,311 

Total liabilities and provisions 313,771 331,817 

Total equity and liabilities 909,248 911,438 
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd                                                                                    
CCaasshh  FFllooww  SSttaatteemmeenntt  

 2023  2022 

 EUR '000  EUR '000 

1. Cashflow from operating activities 

Earnings before income tax 58,721  138,021 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-current assets 22,166  19,411 

Gain (-) /loss (+) on disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -216  -564 

Foreign exchange losses (+) /gains (-) -28  -23 

Non-cash change in investments in entities accounted for using the equity method -9,702  -80,320 

Gain (-) / loss (+) from equity investments and other financial assets -165  -180 

Interest income/loss 1,842  4,029 

Operating profit before changes in net working capital 72,618  80,374 

Change in trade receivables -1,416  7,241 

Net change in other financial and non financial assets -5,663  -19,799 

Change in inventories -519  -494 

Income from the release of government grants -4,307  -4,436 

Change in provisions (excluding accrued interest and additions from capitalised demolition costs) 
recognised in profit or loss 5,662  2,627 

Non-cash change of derivatives in the equity 1,012  -593 

Change in trade payables including other financial and non-financial liabilities -18,259  22,907 

Cash inflows from change in net working capital -23,490  7,453 

Interest received 10,749  5,441 

Interest paid -12,498  -7,453 

Cash receipts from repayments of finance lease receivables 4,968  5,733 

Cash receips from income tax refunds 137  1,169 

Taxes on income and earnings paid -13,908  -18,402 

Interest and income taxes paid -10,552  -13,512 

Net cash inflow from operating activities 38,576  74,315 
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2023  2022 

EUR '000  EUR '000 

2. Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1,656  1,367 

Cash payments to acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -10,450  -19,189 

Proceeds from disposal of equity investments and other long-term financial assets 0  0 

Cash payments for investments in fixed deposits -15,000  -10,000 

Cash receipts from the repayment of loans granted 2,230  0 

Cash receipts from sales of shares of consolidated entities 0  1,150 

Cash payments related to business combinations 0  -1,596 

Cash payments for capital contributions to entities accounted for using the equity method -8,991  0 

Dividends received 34,714  2,920 

Cash inflows from investing activities 4,159  -25,348 

   

3. Cash flows from financing activities    

Dividends paid to equity holders -20,587  -15,303 

Proceeds from borrowings 0  1,400 

Repayment of borrowings -5,251  -6,203 

Repayment of finance lease liabilities -16,282  -14,646 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest -9,544  -8,016 

Net cash used in financing activities -51,664  -42,768 

   

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (subtotal of 1 to 3) -8,929  6,199 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 189,795  183,596 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 180,866  189,795 

   

Composition of cash and cash equivalents    

Cash and cash equivalents 180,866  189,795 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 180,866  189,795 
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SSeeggmmeenntt  RReeppoorrttiinngg  

For purposes of corporate management, the Group continues to be or-

ganised into business units according to services and geographical 

segments and has the following three business segments that are sub-

ject to segment reporting: 

• The „EUROKAI“ Segment includes the EUROKAI business entity, 

whose focus is on the leasing of operating areas and quay 

walls in Germany. 

• The „CONTSHIP Italia“ Segment comprises the business enti-

ties of the Italian CONTSHIP Italia Group. 

• The „EUROGATE“ Segment comprises the proportionate share-

holding (50%) in the EUROGATE-Group, which generates its rev-

enue in Germany. 

 

The operating result of the business units is monitored separately by 

the management to enable it to take decisions relating to the distribu-

tion of resources and determine the profitability of the units. Profitabil-

ity of the segments is assessed on the basis of the operating result. 

Inter-segment transfers are accounted for on an arm’s length basis.  

Segment assets and liabilities include all operating assets and liabili-

ties that are used by or result from a segment’s operating activities and 

whose positive or negative balance determines the operating profit or 

loss, respectively. Segment assets include principally intangible as-

sets, property, plant and equipment and investments in companies ac-

counted for using the equity method, as well as trade and other receiv-

ables and inventories. Segment liabilities principally consist of liabili-

ties to banks, government grants, trade and other payables as well as 

provisions. Segment capital expenditure comprises additions to intan-

gible assets and property, plant and equipment. 

Inter-segment transactions are eliminated in the Consolidation/recon-

ciliation column. 

Inter-segment revenues are recognised at prices corresponding to fair 

market prices. 

In segment reporting, the EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG joint ven-

ture is proportionately consolidated as the EUROGATE Segment in line 

with the 50% equity interest held, and not included using the equity 

method of accounting as in the consolidated financial statements. 
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  At 31 December 2023 the segments were broken down as follows: 

31 December 2023 EUROKAI 
CONTHSIP 

Italia EUROGATE Subtotal 

Consolida-
tion and rec-

onciliation to 
IFRS 11 Total 

EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 

Revenue 0 219,089 301,914 521,003 -301,914 219,089 

of which external revenue 0 219,089 301,914 521,003 -301,914 219,089 

Interest revenue 10,617 1,571 4,804 16,992 -4,804 12,188 

Interest expense -7,994 -6,035 -13,820 -27,849 13,819 -14,030 

Profit/loss of entities accounted for using the eq-
uity method 

11,088 8,014 -4,646 14,456 7,946 22,402 

Dividends from other segments 15,584 0 0 15,584 -15,584 0 

EBT 26,990 44,015 14,173 85,178 -26,457 58,721 

Segment assets 212,492 301,790 531,417 1,045,699 -365,499 680,200 

Segment liabilities 144,704 159,288 528,285 832,277 -528,287 303,990 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses -23 -22,143 -32,783 -54,949 32,783 -22,166 

Capital expenditure 17 10,450 38,410 48,877 -38,410 10,467 

 

 

At 31 December 2022 the segments were broken down as follows: 

31 December 2022 EUROKAI 
CONTHSIP 

Italia EUROGATE Subtotal 

Consolida-
tion and rec-

onciliation to 
IFRS 11 Total 

EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 EUR '000 

Revenue 0 247,605 345,098 592,703 -345,098 247,605 

of which external revenue 0 247,605 345,098 592,703 -345,098 247,605 

Interest revenue 5,844 60 972 6,876 -972 5,904 

Interest expense -5,619 -4,314 -11,190 -21,123 11,190 -9,933 

Profit/loss of entities accounted for using the eq-
uity method 

2,206 7,547 19,603 29,356 50,964 80,320 

Dividends from other segments 0 0 0 0 0 0 

EBT 971 66,483 74,289 141,743 -3,722 138,021 

Segment assets 191,425 296,407 528,469 1,016,301 -336,212 680,089 

Segment liabilities 145,272 167,031 538,823 851,126 -538,823 312,303 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses -16 -19,395 -38,641 -58,052 38,641 -19,411 

Capital expenditure 15 19,189 33,874 53,078 -33,874 19,204 
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 TEUR  TEUR  TEUR  TEUR 

Balance at 1 Januar 2022 13,468 294 1,801 0 

Changes in 2022 financial year     

Remeasurement of derivative financial instruments 0 0 0 711 

Remeasurement of equity investments to fair value 0 0 0 0 

Remeasurement of pension obligations 0 0 0 0 

Currency translation 0 0 0 0 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 711 

Consolidated profit for the year 0 0 0 0 

Net profit for the period 0 0 0 711 

Dividends paid to equity holders 0 0 0 0 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 

Appropriations to retained earnings 0 0 0 0 

Capital share of non-controlling interests 0 0 0 -118 

Other 0 0 0 0 

Accounting for an option to acquire additional shares of driveMybox S.r.l. 0 0 0 0 

Additions of shares of non-controlling interests due to changes in the basis of consolidation 0 0 0 0 

Balance at 31 December 2022 13,468 294 1,801 593 
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0  -25,726  142,022  252,148  384,007  87,842  471,849 

             

             

             

0  469  0  0  1,180  474  1,654 

0  0  130  0  130  87  217 

0  21,259  382  0  21,641  179  21,820 

0  -2,455  0  0  -2,455  0  -2,455 

0  19,273  512  0  20,496  740  21,236 

0  0  0  90,480  90,480  23,057  113,537 

0  19,273  512  90,480  110,976  23,797  134,773 

0  0  0  -15,303  -15,303  0  -15,303 

0  0  0  0  0  -8,016  -8,016 

0  0  7,500  -7,500  0  0  0 

0  112  -106  0  -112  112  0 

0  0  86  0  86  0  86 

0  0  -4,918  0  -4,918  0  -4,918 

0  0  896  0  896  254  1,150 

0  -6,341  145,992  319,825  475,632  103,989  579,621 
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Balance at 1 Januar 2023 13,468 294 1,801 593 

Changes in 2022 financial year     

Remeasurement of derivative financial instruments 0 0 0 -1,215 

Remeasurement of equity investments to fair value 0 0 0 0 

Remeasurement of pension obligations 0 0 0 0 

Currency translation 0 0 0 0 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 -1,215 

Consolidated profit/loss for the year 0 0 0 0 

Net profit/loss for the period 0 0 0 -1,215 

Dividends paid to equity holders 0 0 0 0 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 

Appropriations to retained earnings 0 0 0 0 

Capital share of non-controlling interests 0 0 0 203 

Other 0 0 0 0 

Balance at 31 December 2023 13,468 294 1,801 -419 
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Capital share of non-controlling interests 0 0 0 203 
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Balance at 31 December 2023 13,468 294 1,801 -419 
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0  -6,341  145,992  319,825  475,632  103,989  579,621 

             

             

             

0  -201  0  0  -1,416  -810  -2,226 

0  0  -261  0  -261  -174  -435 

0  -3,727  -143  0  -3,870  -17  -3,887 

0  381  0  0  381  0  381 

0  -3,547  -404  0  -5,166  -1,001  -6,167 

0  0  0  39,552  39,552  12,618  52,170 

0  -3,547  -404  39,552  34,386  11,617  46,003 

0  0  0  -20,586  -20,586  0  -20,586 

0  0  0  0  0  -9,544  -9,544 

0  0  7,500  -7,500  0  0  0 

0  83  51  0  337  -337  0 

0  -8  -9  0  -17  0  -17 

0  -9,813  153,130  331,291  489,752  105,725  595,477 
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The expansion of the Damietta Alliance Container Terminal is making progress
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  SSttaatteemmeenntt                                    
ooff  CChhaannggeess  iinn  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss  

Historical cost 

Intangible assets  1.1.2023  Additions  
Modifica-

tions  Disposals  

Change in 
reporting 

entitiy  
Reclassifi-

cations  

Other 
changes in 

investments 
in associates  31.12.2023 

  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000 

Intangible assets                 

Goodwill  2,055  0  0  0  0  0  0  2,055 

Concessions, software, rights and 
prepayments (own) 

 114,226  502  0  0  0  27  0  114,755 

Concessions, software, rights and 
prepayments (leased) 

 41,988  0  0  0  0  0  0  41,988 

  158,269  502  0  0  0  27  0  158,798 

Property, plant and equiptment                 

Land, land rights and buildings 
(own) 

 
120,253  0  0  -40  0  1,094  0  121,307 

Land, land rights and buildings 
(leased) 

 
20,143  433  0  -378  0  0  0  20,198 

Machinery (own)  177,711  0  0  -4,129  0  4,839  0  178,421 

Machinery (leased)  22,528  6,820  0  -919  0  0  0  28,429 

Other equipment, furniture and fix-
tures (own) 

 
39,649  19  0  -309  0  2,790  0  42,149 

Other equipment, furniture and fix-
tures (leased) 

 
1,646  795  0  -415  0  0  0  2,026 

Prepayments and assets under con-
struction 

 
10,486  9,945  0  0  0  -8,750  0  11,681 

  392,416  18,012  0  -6,190  0  -27  0  404,211 

Financial assets                 

Investments in associates  244,008  8,991  0  0  0  0  -25,386  227,613 

Equity investments  1,548  0  0  -441  0  0  0  1,107 

Other financial assets  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 

  245,556  8,991  0  -441  0  0  -25,386  228,720 

                

Total non-current assets  796,241  27,505  0  -6,631  0  0  -25,386  791,729 
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Accumulated amortisation/depreciation and impairment losses  Carrying amounts 

1.1.2023  Additions  
Disposals/ Reclas-

sifications  
Change in report-

ing entitiy  31.12.2023  31.12.2023  31.12.2022 

EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000  EUR' 000 

             

0  0  0  0  0  2,055  2,055 

-82,105  -1,286  0  0  -83,391  31,364  32,121 

-3,056  -913  0  0  -3,969  38,019  38,932 

-85,161  -2,199  0  0  -87,360  71,438  73,108 

             

-79,611  -2,945  20  0  -82,536  38,771  40,642 

-5,422  -1,062  0  0  -6,484  13,714  14,721 

-133,027  -7,488  2,809  0  -137,706  40,715  44,684 

-12,430  -6,404  884  0  -17,950  10,479  10,098 

-35,013  -1,601  209  0  -36,405  5,744  4,636 

-866  -467  349  0  -984  1,042  780 

0  0  0  0  0  11,681  10,486 

-266,369  -19,967  4,271  0  -282,065  122,146  126,047 

             

-56  0  0  0  -56  227,557  243,952 

-31  0  0  0  -31  1,076  1,517 

0  0  0  0  0  0  0 

-87  0  0  0  -87  228,633  245,469 

             

-351,617  -22,166  4,271  0  -369,512  422,217  444,624 
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OOtthheerr  DDiisscclloossuurreess  
 
SUPERVISORY BOARD 

The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board during 

the financial year 2023: 

Dr. Winfried Steeger, Hamburg, Germany 
Chairman 
• Lawyer 

 
Dr. Klaus-Peter Röhler, Munich, Germany 
Deputy Chairman 
• Chairman of the Board of Management of Allianz Deutschland 

AG, Munich, Germany 

• Member of the Board of Management of Allianz SE, Munich, 

Germany 
 
Katja Gabriela Both (née Eckelmann), Hamburg, Germany 
• Commercial employee EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG, Bre-

men, Germany 
 
Prof. Dr. Kerstin Lopatta, Springe, Germany (from June 
23th, 2023) 
• Professor for accounting, auditing and sustainability at the uni-

versity of Hamburg, Germany 
 
Jochen Döhle, Hamburg, Germany 
• Personally Liable General Partner Peter Döhle Schiffahrts-KG, 

Hamburg, Germany 
 
Christian Kleinfeldt, Hamburg, Germany 
• CFO of Jahr Holding GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 

 
Kristian Ludwig, Hamburg, Germany (from July 1st, 2023)  
• Auditor and tax consultant, Hamburg, Germany 

 
Max M. Warburg, Hamburg, Germany 
• Banker 
 
The members of the Personally Liable General Partner’s Management 

Board and the Supervisory Board are also members of the following 

governing bodies: 

Thomas H. Eckelmann 
• Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, 

Member of the Board of Directors 

• Sogemar S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

• La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A., La Spezia, Italy, 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

• Tangier Alliance S. A., Tangier, Morocco, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH, 

Bremerhaven, Germany, Member of the Supervisory Board  

(until June 30th, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg GmbH, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Member of the Supervisory Board (until June 30th, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven GmbH & Co. KG, 

Wilhelmshaven, Germany, Member of the Advisory Board  

(until June 30th, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Technical Services GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 

Member of the Supervisory Board (until June 30th, 2023) 

• boxXpress.de GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, Deputy Chairman of 

the Advisory Board (until June 30th, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Tanger S. A., Tangier, Morocco, 

Member of the Supervisory Board (until June 30th, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Limassol Ltd., Limassol, Cyprus, 

Chairman of the Board of Directors (until June 30th, 2023) 

 
Cecilia E. M. Eckelmann-Battistello 
• Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, 

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors (until March 6th, 2024) 

• La Spezia Container Terminal S.p.A., La Spezia, Italy, Deputy 

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors (until March 6th, 2024) 

• Sogemar S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, Deputy Chairwoman of the 

Board of Directors (until March 6th, 2024) 

• CICT Porto Industriale Cagliari S.p.A., Cagliari (in liquidation), It-

aly, Chairwoman of the Board of Directors  

(until March 6th, 2024) 

• Terminal Container Ravenna S.p.A., Ravenna, Italy, Deputy 

Chairwoman of the Board of Directors (until March 6th, 2024) 

• Tangier Alliance S. A., Tangier, Morocco, 

Member of the Supervisory Board (until March 6th, 2024) 

• EUROGATE Tanger S. A., Tangier, Morocco, Deputy Chairwoman 

of the Supervisory Board (until March 6th, 2024) 

 
Tom H. Eckelmann 
• Contship Italia S. p. A., Melzo/Mailand, Italien, 

Member of the Board of Directors (non-executive) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH, 

Bremerhaven, Germany, Member of the Supervisory Board 

(from July 1st, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg GmbH, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Member of the Supervisory Board (from July 1st, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven GmbH & Co. KG, 

Wilhelmshaven, Germany, Member of the Advisory Board (from 

July 1st, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Technical Services GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, 

Member of the Supervisory Board (from July 1st, 2023) 

• boxXpress.de GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 

Deputy Chairman of the Advisory Board (from July 1st, 2023) 
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Tom H. Eckelmann 
• Contship Italia S. p. A., Melzo/Mailand, Italien, 

Member of the Board of Directors (non-executive) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Bremerhaven GmbH, 

Bremerhaven, Germany, Member of the Supervisory Board 

(from July 1st, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Hamburg GmbH, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Member of the Supervisory Board (from July 1st, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven GmbH & Co. KG, 

Wilhelmshaven, Germany, Member of the Advisory Board (from 
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• EUROGATE Technical Services GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, 
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• boxXpress.de GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 
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• DAKOSY Datenkommunikationssystem AG, Hamburg, Germany 

Member of the Supervisory Board 

• EUROGATE Container Terminal Limassol Ltd., Limassol, Zypern, 

Chairman of the Board of Directors (from July 1st, 2023) 

• EUROGATE Tanger S. A., Tanger, Marokko, 

Member of the Supervisory Board (from July 1st, 2023) 

 
Dr. Winfried Steeger 
• Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH (co-determined GmbH of 

the OTTO Group), Hamburg, Germany, Member of the Supervi-

sory Board 

• August Prien Verwaltung GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, 

Germany, Member of the Supervisory Board 

• Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 

Deputy Chairman of the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Deputy Chairman of the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Hamburg, Germany, Deputy Chairman of the Administrative 

Board 
 
Dr. Klaus-Peter Röhler 
• Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, 

Member of the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Hamburg, Germany ,Member of the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Member of the Administrative Board 

• Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart, Germany, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• Allianz Versicherungs-AG, Munich, Germany, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• Allianz Private Krankenversicherungs-AG, Munich, Germany, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• Allianz Beratungs- und Vertriebs-AG, Munich, Germany, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• Allianz Suisse Versicherungs-Gesellschaft AG, Wallisellen, 

Switzerland, Member of the Administrative Board 
• Allianz Suisse Lebensversicherungs-Gesellschaft AG, Wallisel-

len, Switzerland, Member of the Administrative Board 

• Allianz Holding eins GmbH, Vienna, Austria, Member of the Su-

pervisory Board 

• Allianz Kunde und Markt GmbH, Munich, Germany, Chairman of 

the Supervisory Board 
 
Katja Gabriela Both (née. Eckelmann) 
• Contship Italia S.p.A., Melzo/Milan, Italy, 

Member of the Board of Directors (non-executive) 
 
Prof. Dr. Kerstin Lopatta 
• Freenet AG, Hamburg, Germany, Member of the Supervisory 

Board 

• EQS Group AG, Munich, Germany, Member of the Supervisory 

Board 
 
Jochen Döhle 
• Ernst Russ AG, Hamburg, Germany, Member of the Supervisory 

Board 

• EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, 

Germany, Member of the Supervisory Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Hamburg, Germany, Member of the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Member of the Administrative Board 

• Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, 

Member of the Administrative Board 

 
Christian Kleinfeldt 
• Familie Thomas Eckelmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Hamburg, Germany, Member of the Administrative Board 

• Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, Member of 

the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Member of the Administrative Board 

• EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, 

Germany, Member of the Supervisory Board 
 
Kristian Ludwig 
• Hegemann-Reiners-Aktiengesellschaft, Bremen, Germany, 

Member of the Supervisory Board (from July 1st, 2023) 
 
Max M. Warburg 
• EUROGATE Geschäftsführungs-GmbH & Co. KGaA, Bremen, 

Germany, Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Hamburg, Germany, Chairman of the Administrative Board 

• Familie Thomas Eckelmann GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Ger-

many, Chairman of the Administrative Board 

• Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, 

Chairman of the Administrative Board 

 

Supervisory Board remuneration amounted to EUR 251,561 in financial 

year 2023. Dr. Steeger received EUR 73,544.44 thereof, Dr. Röhler EUR 

36,250.00, Ms Both EUR 27,877.78, Prof. Dr. Lopatta EUR 17,233.33, Mr 

Döhle EUR 24,333.33, Mr Kleinfeldt EUR 30,922.22, Mr Ludwig EUR 

17,066.67 and Mr Warburg EUR 24,333.33. 

There were no payments to former members of the Supervisory Board 

or their surviving dependents.  

There were also no termination settlements, share-based payments, 

advances or loans, or other long-term benefits.  
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PERSONALLY LIABLE GENERAL PARTNER 

Personally Liable General Partner of EUROKAI is Kurt F.W.A. Eckel-

mann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, with a share capital of EUR 

100,000.00. Managing Directors of the Personally Liable General Part-

ner are: 

Thomas H. Eckelmann, Hamburg, Germany 
Chairman 

Cecilia E. M. Eckelmann-Battistello, Breganze, Italy  
(until March 6th, 2024) 

Tom H. Eckelmann, Hamburg, Germany  
(from July 1st, 2024) 
 

The Management Board of the Personally Liable General Partner re-

ceives no remuneration for its services, either from EUROKAI of from 

the Personally Liable General Partner. 

AUDIT AND CONSULTING FEES 

The Group auditor’s fees, which are recognised as an expense, 

amounted to EUR 106,000 (2022: EUR 73,000), for other assurance ser-

vices EUR 33,000 (2022: EUR 29,000), EUR 0 (2022: EUR 0) for tax con-

sulting services and EUR 0 (2022: EUR 0) for other services. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Declaration of Compliance with the recommendations of the 

“Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance 

Code” as required pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Cor-

poration Act (AktG) was issued by the Management Board and the Su-

pervisory Board of the Personally Liable General Partner and made per-

manently accessible to the shareholders in the electronic version of 

the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) and on EUROKAI’s website 

(www.eurokai.com). 

Hamburg, Germany, 20 March 2024 

Personally Liable General Partner  

Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg, Germany 

Thomas H. Eckelmann 

Tom H. Eckelmann 
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Morning atmosphere at EUROGATE Container Terminal Wilhelmshaven
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RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  SSttaatteemmeenntt  ((GGrroouupp))  

 

 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 

reporting principles for financial reporting, the consolidated financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 

position and profit or loss of the Group and the management report of 

the Group includes a fair review of the development and performance 

of the business and the position of the Group, together with a descrip-

tion of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the ex-

pected development of the Group. 

Hamburg, Germany, 20 March 2024 

 

Personally Liable General Partner                                                                                

Kurt F.W.A. Eckelmann GmbH, Hamburg 

 

Thomas H. Eckelmann 

Tom H. Eckelmann 



Contact

EUROKAI GmbH & Co. KGaA

Kurt-Eckelmann-Strasse 1
21129 Hamburg
Germany

Phone +49 40 7405-0
eckelmann@eurokai.de
www.eurokai.de

Contship Italia S. p. A.

Via Primo Maggio, 1
20066 Melzo (MI)
Italy

Phone +39 02 95529611
infocs@contshipitalia.com
www.contshipitalia.com

EUROGATE GmbH & Co. KGaA, KG

Präsident-Kennedy-Platz 1A
28203 Bremen
Germany

Phone +49 421 142502
info@eurogate.eu
www.eurogate.eu

EUROKAI GmbH & Co. KGaA

Investor Relations

Kurt-Eckelmann-Strasse 1
21129 Hamburg
Germany

Phone +49 40 7405-0
eckelmann@eurokai.com
www.eurokai.com

This Annual Report contains a shortened version of the consolidated financial statements.  
All references to the notes to the consolidated financial statements relate to the full version. 
The full version can be obtained – in German – from:
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